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DEFINITIONS
BE

“AFRC"
=gl

“Articles of Association”
[4B4 =240 A1

“Board”
X3

“BVI"
[(REBREZEHS]

“Chairman”
[E£/% ]

“Company”
BN
"Director(s)”
=

"ESG Report”

[IRiE - g kERMmE]
"Group”

[RE&H ]

“Guangjun Holdings”

[ Guangjun Holdings ]

“Guangjun Sun Holdings”

[Guangjun Sun Holdings |
"Hannah Xia Holdings”

[Hannah Xia Holdings |

2 PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council of Hong Kong
BAGH RMBERD

the articles of association of the Company adopted by special resolutions passed
on 4 April 2023 with effect from the Listing Date
RATR2023F4HAB A RPAZEBBMRANABEZRZMAE - B L ABRER

the board of Directors of the Company
ARRAEEE

the British Virgin Islands
RERZHE

the chairman of the Board
EE—E

Plus Group Holdings Inc. (Z4ET&EIEREBMRAR]), an exempted company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 30
September 2021, the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2486)

TEAMEEZERER AR - —KMN202149 A30 R R IEFH £ 5 & A B T Mt B 32 69 %
HBEBMRAF - BERHOPREERZAMTEMR LT (BRMHAIE - 2486)

the director(s) of the Company
RARES

environmental, social and governance report to be issued on the same day as this
annual report
HAFEWMERAEMIIRE e kER/MmE

the Company and its subsidiaries
RAEl REWEB AR

Guangjun Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 13 September 2021 and owned by Summit Plus and Junshu Holdings as to 99%
and 1%, respectively

Guangjun Holdings Limited * —RMR2021F9A13E T RBE LB SHMK LB R
AR 9 B ESummit Plus & Junshu Holdings # 5 99% K 1% % 4

Guangjun Sun Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability on 13 September 2021 and wholly-owned by Junshu Holdings

Guangjun Sun Holdings Limited » —Z 71202149 A13 B E R B R B & T A /9
ABR AT BJunshu Holdingsz2 &% A

Hannah Xia Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited
liability on 13 September 2021 and owned by Jonson Xia Smile Holdings and
Jonson Xia Holdings as to 99% and 1%, respectively

Hannah Xia Holdings Limited © —RRA2021F9A13EERBELHEAMKINE
FRAR] > 9 AlEJonson Xia Smile Holdings & Jonson Xia Holdings # & 99% K. 1% f% ##
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“HK$"

&7t
"HKFRS"
(BB B R E 2R ]

"Hong Kong"
(&%)

“Jonson Xia Holdings”

[Jonson Xia Holdings |

“Jonson Xia Smile Holdings”

[Jonson Xia Smile Holdings |

“Junshu Holdings”

[Junshu Holdings |

“Kuwei Holdings”
[Kuwei Holdings
“Latest Practicable Date”

[Ex &R 1T A H )

“Listing Date”

(E==R:iN
“Listing Rules”
[ =8 A1

“Main Board”

[E1R]

Definitions

B=

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BEETEEET

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards which include standards and
interpretations as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
EAUBRELER  BEESBSHMASRMNERNRZE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
WA SRR R AT I

Jonson Xia Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability
on 3 September 2021 and wholly-owned by Mr. Xia Jingtang

Jonson Xia Holdings Limited * —5RMA2021F9ASHERBE XA S ZMA I NER
NE - BERREETERE

Jonson Xia Smile Family Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on 31
March 2023 and wholly-owned by Mr. Xia's Family Trust

Jonson Xia Smile Family Holdings Limited + —Z&K 3120233 31 B REBE XA S
MR AF AELEERKELZEHRE

Junshu Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on
3 September 2021 and wholly-owned by Mr. Sun Guangjun

Junshu Holdings Limited » —RMR2021F9AHE LB R L HEEIME AR A
Al HEBRELXAEZEHE

Kuwei Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on
3 September 2021
Kuwei Holdings Limited *+ =R M 2021F9A3HE A BE XS HMR LN ER AR
22 April 2025, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing of this annual
report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information contained herein
20254 A28 - IR ERENIR ARES RAEE TERNRENTAR

11 May 2023, being the date on which the Shares are first listed and from which
dealings thereof are permitted to commence on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange

2023%5A118 - IR BR EMBE - BUARRRRGOEEEBRIAERETE

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended
from time to time
BEAXPTRE S MR KARERT

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operating in parallel with GEM of the Stock
Exchange
AEBRFTEENRER S (T EERETS) -

W8 S B RS B GEMIE B H I 1738

LHMEEZERERATY —T-NFEFR
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Definitions

B=

“Mr. Sun’s Family Trust”

[ 155 &£ Rk {5 7

“Mr. Xia's Family Trust”

[BERAEFKKE

"Plus Shanghai”

[

o
M5

4R 8

"PRC" or “China”

[ B

"Prospectus”

[HRER]

"Reporting Period”
[ A

“RMB”
[AR®]

“RSU(S)”
[ 52 BR | i% 15 B0z |

“RSU Scheme”
[ 5 BR Il i% 10 BB 51 &1

"Saas"
[Saas |
"SEQ"

&% R G &P

4 PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

a discretionary family trust established by Mr. Sun Guangjun as settlor for the
benefit of Mr. Sun Guangjun and Junshu Holdings, of which Trident Trust is a
trustee

FREBEXREEBZTAURESE LA KJunshu Holdings &% i AR W2 ER &S
B BHREREFERAXTA

a discretionary family trust established by Mr. Xia lJingtang as settlor for the benefit
of Mr. Xia Jingtang and Jonson Xia Holdings, of which Trident Trust is a trustee

SREAEAEZFEANUESESLA Konson Xia Holdings &5 25 AR 2R
RIERE  EREREFLEAZITA

Plus (Shanghai) Digital Technologies Co., Ltd.* (E2460 ( E/8) BERFEERA
formerly known as Shanghai Mecool Marketing Co., Ltd.* (/8RBT HE %ﬁﬁﬁi‘%ﬁ
[ A &]) and Plus (Shanghai) Digital Technologies Co., Ltd. (%480 ( H)F) SR
AR AR, a limited company established under the laws of the PRC on 6
August 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

TLE (L8 SFRARAR - A LAHMISEEREERA iﬁaﬁﬁﬁi(ﬁ
5)%(?%4&1&1%75@ Al —XRKR2004F8 A6 AR ES ./f@ﬁiﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁ
ARREEZENB R

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report and
unless otherwise indicated, excludes Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative
Region of the PRC and Taiwan

PEAREME  BERAFEREMS BERIESEHME  TRERS - PEIRME
AT R R & &

the prospectus of the Company dated 28 April 2023
ARRARHEA2023F4 A28 A BIRETRE

the year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024F1283MBIEFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
PENEEE®EARE

restricted share unit(s) awarded to a participant under the RSU Scheme
RAE X R BB n BALET 81X T2 BENXRHIRD ERL

the restricted share unit scheme of the Company adopted on 13 January 2022
RRATR2022F1 B 13 HEMBZ R HIA% B EHE]

software as a service, a cloud-based software licensing and delivery model in
which software and associated data are centrally hosted
HHAIRT B REEEBRERTEEN —EEm BT R ERER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended from time to time
BEREEPEBSNEBSH REERD - K& NRIERET

Annual Report 2024



“Share(s)”
[A% 15 |

“Shareholder(s)”
[ A% 2 |

“Share Award Scheme”
[ A% 7 22 B 5T 31

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 Fr |

“Summit Plus”

[ Summit Plus

“Trident Trust”
[1BZ={Z5E]

"Us$”
B

“0/ "
(o]

(%]

Definitions

B=

ordinary share(s) of par value of US$0.0002 each in the issued share capital of the
Company
RAAE B EITRAH &R EE0.0002E 7T /Y & 3 AX

holder(s) of the Share(s) from time to time
SRR N ST RSN

the share award scheme of the Company adopted on 26 June 2023
RRRR2023F 6 A 26 B M HI A% (D SEE) 7+ &

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEBMERIMER AT

Summit Plus International Holding Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on 10
March 2023 and wholly-owned by Mr. Sun’s Family Trust

summit Plus International Holding Limited » —RM2023F3A10BE LB R LA E
MR AR  BREERKETEZERSR

Trident Trust Company (HK) Limited, the trustee of Mr. Sun’s Family Trust and Mr.
Xia's Family Trust

BREFX(BEB)ERAR] BEERREARELSEREEINZTA

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America
ENRERENETEEET

per cent
Bak

LHMEEZERAERATY —T-WFEFH S



CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEER

THE BOARD
Executive Directors

Mr. Sun Guangjun
(Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Yang Hong

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianbo
(resigned on 24 May 2024)
Mr. Zhong Jiesheng
(resigned on 24 May 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau Man Tak
Ms. Li Yingkai

(resigned on 13 September 2024)
Ms. Lin Feng

(appointed on 13 September 2024)
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lau Man Tak (Chairman)
Ms. Li Yingkai

(resigned on 13 September 2024)
Ms. Lin Feng

(@ppointed on 13 September 2024)
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Sun Guangjun (Chairman)
Mr. Lau Man Tak
Ms. Li Yingkai

(resigned on 13 September 2024)
Ms. Lin Feng

(@ppointed on 13 September 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Li Yingkai
(resigned on 13 September 2024)
Ms. Lin Feng (Chairman)
(appointed on 13 September 2024)
Mr. Sun Guangjun
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Chow Kit Ting (CPA)
Ms. Guo Yan
(resigned on 9 January 2025)
Ms. Chen Li
(appointed on 9 January 2025)
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Yang Hong
Mr. Chow Kit Ting

AUDITOR

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
Unit 3203A-5, 32/F

Tower 2, Lippo Centre

89 Queensway

Admiralty

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

71 Fort Street

PO Box 500

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1106
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN PRC

2F-3F, Building 6

No. 652 Changshou Road

Putuo District

Shanghai

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

Room 1202, 12/F

Sun House

90 Connaught Road Central
Sheung Wan

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER

AS to Hong Kong law

Eric Chow & Co. in Association with
Commerce & Finance Law Offices
3401, Alexandra House

18 Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

Corporate Information

REER

RERE
Btk
R E S

B BR A
EREHTERAR
HE BT

B 20 R a5 B R AT
&t

S

& 88895

S E R 2P
32183203A-5%

FERSEMNREE

71 Fort Street

PO Box 500

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1106
Cayman Islands

BBRPEETEEXBE

H

ey

A

RE 65258
bRIE2IE £ 31

ERITEERME

B

FiR

T 7 38 905}
K17
12181202 =

EEEMR

REB%R

A & BT (RN 55

Bk 5T 4 7 2 T 0 B
&t

AR

7B 185

IR E3401=E

LHMEEZERERATY —T-NFEFH 7



Corporate Information

REER

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Guotai Junan Capital Limited

26/F-28/F, Low Block Grand Millennium Plaza
181 Queen’s Road

Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Appleby Global Services (Cayman) Limited
71 Fort Street

PO Box 500

George Town

Grand Cayman KY1-1106

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Merchants Bank Shanghai Caoyang Branch

No0.188 Caoyang Road
Putuo District
Shanghai

PRC

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
Bank of China Tower

1 Garden Road

Central

Hong Kong

CMB Wing Lung Bank

15/F, CMB Wing Lung Bank Building
45 Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.plscn.com

STOCK CODE
2486
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBREEME

RESULTS EE
Year ended 31 December
HBZE12A31HILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NGB AT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue Wz 1,046,361 725,948 618,110 416,289 413,571
Gross profit EH 124,377 94,862 173,567 170,249 163,966
Profit for the year F R 7 13,785 11,502 52,702 59,010 53,897
Profit attributable to owners 72 @A A JE1E % 7
of the Company 13,008 11,502 52,702 58,664 53,874
Non-HKFRS measures: FEBUHBREER
AR
Profit for the year W A 13,785 11,502 52,702 59,010 53,897
Add: o
Listing expenses W% — 10,709 17,853 8,370 —
Adjusted net profit BT (FERE
(non-HKFRS measures) U mELENFTZ) 13,785 22,211 70,555 67,380 53,897
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As of 31 December
BEZ=12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
IN-LETM AREETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
Total assets EERE 800,708 698,291 627,126 630,710 594,359
Total liabilities BERE 321,043 190,109 280,632 305,679 326,922
Total equity R EE 479,665 508,182 346,494 325,031 267,437
Cash and cash equivalents Re&RBELEEY 159,647 190,976 62,704 20,317 9,110
Bank borrowings RITHER 64,148 55,000 61,273 54,800 31,000
EUMERERARAT —S-NEER

9



Financial and Operational Highlights
MBEREBHME

SELECTED FINANCIAL RATIO

Revenue growth' g R

Current ratio (times)? MBI & (£5)2

Gearing ratio® BEAGEL R

Notes:

1. Reyenue growth ratio equals revenue growth divided by revenue for the
prior year.

2. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by

the total current liabilities as at the end of the year end.

3. Calculated by using the net debt divided by total equity as at year end.
Net debt is calculated as total bank borrowings, amount due to a
related party and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents.

10 PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2024

BEMKL =R

As of or As of or

for the for the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

#HZE20245 HZE20234F

12831H 12A31H

HEBE=ZH A =% H

IEFE EEE

(Approximate) (Approximate)

(#2) (BE4Y)

44.1% 17.4%

2.5 3.6

N/A (net cash) N/A (net cash)

TEHA A

(RE&FH) (BR&F5)
1 g REERWEIERE BT FEMNI
2. ML ERIEFRRDEELERURBEE

WEERTE o

3. REBIFERUFREREEGEH

RIRIRITHER

B - e R
BERASIASEEYE -

o BEI5F

PIEREE



Financial and Operational Highlights
MBEREEMRE

OPERATING METRICS EEIEE

Year ended 31 December
HEE12A31ALLFE Year-on-year
2024 2023 change
2024 20234 REE
%

Number of paying customers NEBEFHE 608 238 155.5
Total number of points of sale on R EHE4E B4 8 (#157)

a cumulative basis (Note) 4,452,000 4,431,000 0.5
Total number of touchpoints on a 2515 5 4 8 (47:7)

cumulative basis (Note) 659,000 519,000 27.0
Average monthly active Y BIERE R (M)

touchpoints (Note) 88,000 28,000 214.3
Note: The number showing above is rounded to nearest thousand. Wit - EXFIRBFENEAEAZRERNTA

LZHMEEZERAERATY —T-NFEFHE 11



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEBRESE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Plus Group Holdings Inc., I am
pleased to present the annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Plus” or the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 and would like to
express my sincere gratitude to all Shareholders and express my
appreciation to all employees of the Group for their unremitting
efforts in the past year.

In 2024, the path to global economic recovery became increasingly
difficult under multiple impacts of continuous inflationary pressures,
intensified geopolitical risks and divergent monetary policies among
economies.

Despite the influence of the international situation, coupled with
many internal pressures in China such as the downturn of the
physical industries, operational difficulties encountered by small and
medium-sized enterprises, lack of consumer confidence and
geographic differentiation, China has still maintained a steady
economic growth with the backing of the Chinese government’s
policies and a series of structural reforms, demonstrating exceptional
robustness and resilience.

The further recovery of the consumer market was driven by
moderate economic growth, but we should not fail to mention that
industry changes and market turbulence during the recovery caused
by the industrial restructuring and integrated business models,
especially in the rise of artificial intelligence (Al), accelerated the
fierce and wretched transformation across all sectors.

The continuous downturn of traditional industries, the emergence of
new industries, the rapid iteration of demand and the intensification
of market competition posed great challenges to, but at the same
time, offered opportunities for the Group to seek breakthroughs.

In spite of these challenges, the Group was committed to
maintaining sustainable development with the strategic direction of
consolidating and ambitiously capturing a larger market share on a
profitable basis, boosting the comprehensive localized application of
artificial intelligence (Al) technology as the core of the Group's
development, and forging ahead through the following measures.

1. Adhering to the research and development and investment in
the application of information technology, riding the tide of
global “artificial intelligence” and actively unveiling its “Year of
Al", the Group promoted the comprehensive upgrade and
transformation of its business in the application of artificial
intelligence (Al) technology (hereinafter referred to as "Al").

12  PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2024
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By enhancing independent research and development, and
strengthening and deepening cooperation with the School of
Economics and Management of a well-known university
through the construction of “Al + Digital Marketing Joint
Laboratory”, the Group continuously increased the Al
application and comprehensively promoted its application and
finalized implementation in various business areas so as to
build a core engine of the high-quality development of the
Group driven by Al

With the successful integration of a series of Al application
technologies, the Group not only greatly broadened the
application boundaries of its various business segments but
also further enhanced its operational efficiency and customer
experience.

Adhering to the in-depth cooperation with leading end retailers,
the Group was able to stay at the forefront of the market,
obtain the latest market dynamics and industry insights, and
achieve continuous self-growth.

Through synergistic operation model, and leverage on the
Group's extensive application of the Al technology in retail and
the outstanding performance of the self-built retail marketing
point management model, the Group accompanied and
assisted the leading end retailers in realizing their rapid growth
while staying at the forefront of the market to thoroughly
obtain the latest market dynamics and consumer trends,
developing a data and application foundation for the large
terminal algorithmic models in retail of the Group.

In particular: 1) the Group became the major store marketing
and operation service provider of an international leading chain
retailer with membership in China, obtaining approximately
37% of the offline physical member stores service business
across China. The Group was also the top provider of another
chain retailer under that group, with exclusive distributorship
rights in its end marketing transformation test business; 2) it
entered into a business partnership with new leading retailers
in China which focus on fresh and ready food, accounting for
approximately 25% of its over 420 offline physical stores,
covering a wide range of categories, including fresh food,
aquatic products and bakery products.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
TERES

3. Adhering to the data-driven approach, the Group started to build
its self-developed Al model based on the digital marketing field
while improving its targeted services.

With the strong data support of “market, staff, goods and
people” in the field marketing scenario, the Group firmly seized
the latest dynamics of the offline market by excellent
digitalization and intelligent empowerment to meet the diverse
needs of customers with precise and efficient customized
services and increase customer stickiness.

At the same time, the Group continued to accumulate and
enrich behavioral data and scenario-based materials in the
service process, which would be used to continuously train
and optimize the “digital marketing Al model” of the Group that
has been locally deployed, to form a virtuous cycle integrating
“service-data-technology”, constantly consolidating its
competitive strengths in the industry and injecting strong
impetus into the innovation and growth in the future.

Based on the above, the Group successfully stabilized its
market position and market share, also established a new
trend of digitalization and intelligence-driven business
development.

However, due to the impact of the external and internal
environment in 2024, as well as the fact that the Group put
some extra efforts on unveiling its first year of "Al" and
developing and deploying localized Al models at the beginning
of the period, the Group had a temporary loss of profits in the
first half of 2024.

In the face of this situation, the Group followed its established
development strategy in an orderly manner along with the solid
foundation laid in the first half of the year, particularly the cultivation
in the field of Al application, the Group eventually gained significant
achievements and made successive breakthroughs in the second half
of the year.

1. Breakthroughs in the field of 020 real-time retail service.

Based on our knowledge of and understanding of consumers’
demand for immediacy and convenience in the 020 real-time
retail business scenario, the Group increased its business
development efforts in the field after conducting in-depth
research on consumer behavior and integrating the optimized
and enhanced Al applications in relation to precise consumer
group targeting, analysis of consumer trends, advertising
design and presentation, and other aspects, which ultimately
achieved remarkable results.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group, together
with mainstream 020 platforms, realized online gross
merchandise volume (GMV) of approximately RMBO0.4 billion for
its customers through online marketing promotion service.
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2. Breakthroughs in the new application field of matching service.

By virtue of its in-depth insights into the field of “task and
marketers matching service”, as well as its abundant
accumulation of "Al matching” application technology and its
strong self-developed capability, the Group made explosive
breakthroughs through the high level of integration. It launched
a new integrated intelligent business platform with the
functions of “matching service” such as task distribution,
intelligent matching and connection, and automatic
identification and acceptance to serve a wider range of
application areas, including but not limited to retail and
catering, distribution and many other retail areas.

Since its official launch in November 2024, the new platform
has been highly recognized by various parties in just two
months by the end of the year, and provided “matching
service” to more than 400 new customers in total.

3. Breakthroughs in overseas market development.

In November 2024, the Group officially signed a marketing
service cooperation agreement with a well-known wine
company in Australia, marking an important milestone in the
overseas business development of the Group.

On the grounds of the above, the Group ultimately achieved
operating revenue of approximately RMB1.05 billion for the year
ended 31 December 2024, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 44.1% as compared to that of 2023.

Meanwhile, the Group successfully reversed the loss in the first half
of the year. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
ultimately achieved a net profit of approximately RMB13.8 million,
representing a net increase of approximately RMB17.6 million as
compared to the first half of the year, and an increase of
approximately 19.8% as compared to the same period in 2023.

Looking forward to 2025, the Group will continue to adhere to the
development philosophy of ambitiously capturing more market share
on a profitable basis to significantly increase the investment in
research and development of Al technology and the self-
development of localized application models. It will actively explore
and implement the in-depth application and expansion of Al
technology in various business scenarios to promote the
transformation and upgrade of the industry in the direction of
digitization and intelligence, striving for further success in the new
year and creating greater value for our Shareholders, customers and
partners.

Sun Guangjun
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

31 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EERE WD

BUSINESS REVIEW

The strong rise of artificial intelligence (Al), intensified market
competition, industry and business model transformation, difficulties
in corporate operation and the resulting measures to earn more
income and cut down expense cast a heavy burden on the Group
both externally and internally. However, with its sharp insight,
innovative spirit and determination to promote the artificial
intelligence (Al) application across the board, the Group officially
unveiled its “Year of Al" in 2024 and once again achieved rapid
progress, driving gratifying growth in the Group’s performance.

In 2024, the Group finally achieved a total revenue of approximately
RMB1.0464 billion during the Reporting Period, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately RMB320.5 million or 44.2% as
compared to the same period in 2023.

In 2024, the Group achieved a gross profit of approximately
RMB124.4 million during the Reporting Period, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately RMB29.5 million or 31.1% as
compared to the same period in 2023.

Customised marketing solution

The focus of our service of the customised marketing solution is to
develop and implement customised sales and marketing plans for
customers with a view to raising the awareness for customers’
brand and promoting the merchandise and its sales.

In 2024, the Group continued to apply the all-out digitalization
approach. Particularly through the extensive deployment of artificial
intelligence (Al) applications in customised business and increasingly
precise and efficient service empowerment, we successfully
consolidated and expanded our offline business.

On this basis, the Group efficiently integrated resources and
marched into the field of 020 real-time retailing. By using a
localised “digital sales Al model”, we greatly improved the high
scalability and applicability of our self-developed artificial intelligence
(Al) applications, yielding remarkable results in online marketing, and
making a major breakthrough and transformation in pushing
omni-channel businesses both online and offline. It also gave a fillip
to the Group’s strategic plan to seize market share in the fiercely
competitive industry.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s customised marketing
solution business achieved a revenue of approximately RMB642.1
million, representing a year-on-year increase of approximately
13.1%.

16  PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2024

£ a0

ATEENA)REERE - mHHEFME - 175
SrEmEEAEL  CELERARSE &
imBIRERNR - AR RINBEE D ZT
AEEMR2024%F - BEZHHNAR  BR
BIFTROSHE - 2EEEA TEREA)ERER
BRL - REEEAITTE | IEXFRR - KB
—REERGHE  FTRHEREEEDET A
ERARE -

2024F  AEERBREFRATKERAWA
PAREE10.4641BT0 » B2023FRIHERE R
HANREE32051B7T » RIS R A44.2% -

2024 - AEBERREPARKEREFE
AR 2041870 - B2023F REERER
PARBE02951ETC  RELIBELHA31.1% o
EFIEHBRAR
TFEREEBAFTRUNAR L ST E i E &
HEMEHEAE AREZL  BERESER
MmENZE  #EEEmLBE -

20245 - A BEERE2EE T T
EEATERANEREERCRBNEZE
F - RGEETEHREABELE  BWRENES
T RINZBEERRE TR TR -

RUER F - AEERESMNERES - &
LN A0 T ERYE, - WEREAR (LT
FEHARE NEE - ARRATERATL
BRRANERNSEREMERME - K ER
FEHBHESTORE ABEERTR
FRT2REXHAREENENRKER
B BRERSANBRFHERED - BHRIG
TSR EIEMR - STAT —EI[&OH ] -

RBEMA - NEBTEREHEBERTRER
REBRPWAHDARE6A2MET - RLIER
#913.1% °



Tasks and marketers matching service

The focus of the tasks and marketers matching service is to
formulate and implement standardised sales and comprehensive
service for customers with a view to enhancing customers’ sales
performance and operation efficiency.

In 2024, with the on-going R&D investment of the Group, the core
“Iintelligent matching” capability of our business kept improving.
Especially with the more refined functionality and efficiency of
real-life application, the service barriers were further consolidated,
which laid a solid foundation for the sustainable development of this
business.

In addition, relying on its absolute advantage in intelligent matching
as well as extensive know-how in independently developing artificial
intelligence (Al) application, the Group foreseeing broke out of its
existing business scope and launched a brand-new comprehensive
intelligent business platform based on “matching service” functions,
which integrates task publishing, undertaking of intelligent matching,
automatic identification and acceptance, etc. It will be applied to
more and broader service fields to help us win recognition from
numerous new customers and hence achieve explosive growth in
performance.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s tasks and marketers
matching service business achieved a revenue of approximately
RMB362.2 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 216.9% as compared to 2023.

SaaS+ subscription and other services

SaaS+ subscription and other services focused on providing
customers with customisation (on an as-needed basis) and
subscription for digitalised tools as well as relevant derivative
services to enhance and streamline their sales and marketing works.

In 2024, with the continuous enhancement and maturity of the
Group's systematic platform, localised Al models and artificial
intelligence (Al) applications, the SaaS+ subscription and other
services are available in more fields, thereby ensuring the steady
growth of our business.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s SaaS+ subscription and
other services business achieved a revenue of approximately
RMB15.9 million, representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 34.7%.

Marketers assignment service

Our marketers assignment service aimed for top brand customers to
enable them to experience the digital sales and marketing
advantages with a view to helping us further expand our market and
lay a solid foundation for increasing our market share.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED T

Due to the downturn in the market environment, the brand
customers served by the Group cut down their promotional efforts to
varying degrees. Besides, as the Group's artificial intelligence (Al)
application for this business is still in the exploratory stage, we take
the initiative in slowing down our speed. As a result, there has been
a downsizing in hired marketers assigned by the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s marketers assignment
service business achieved a revenue of approximately RMB26.1
million, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately
18.9%.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately RMB1.0464 billion, representing an
increase of approximately 44.2% as compared to the same period in
2023. The significant increase in revenue was mainly derived from
tasks and marketers matching service and customised marketing
solution.

The revenue breakdown of the four business segments is as follows:

AAEBAREOHMETXMIZRE T
£ ATREEMER T HERRNK - L& &K
SEHHEEBFOATERAVERRNERER
P ER - BUEREX T T B URAVRAER © fEmMmE A
SEEKNZREHABLE TR

R|EMA - NEEEHA BIRERS X
BERBANDARKE261BE T AL TELY
18.9%

Bt % [ B8

WA
REBBRABE2024FE128NBILEEE
WA LA REE10.46418 7T » 502023 4 [F) H 1
R#44.2% - WARERKRIBRA - TE2HR
FAETS EL & $5 A B UC Bt AR 7% B F L& S AR AR

TE e

oK hi R U A BRARZA T ¢

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AREFIT

Revenue from: KB AT TR AU -
Customised marketing solution TE ] & 58 AR R T &R 642,077 567,647
Tasks and marketers matching service 75 Ea % 35 A B IT B R 75 362,240 114,303
Marketers assignment service 238 A BIK B AR 75 26,140 32,173
SaaS+ subscription and other services SaaS+&] B & H th AR 7% 15,904 11,825
1,046,361 725,948

1. Customised marketing solution
Revenue from the business segment of customised marketing
solution amounted to approximately RMB642.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing an increase of
approximately RMB74.5 million or approximately 13.1% as
compared to the same period in 2023.

The increase was mainly due to the Group's involvement in the
field of 020 real-time retailing, which expanded a brand-new
online marketing business. This has effectively continued the
overall upside trend of the business.
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2. Tasks and marketers matching service

Revenue from the business segment of tasks and marketers
matching service amounted to approximately RMB362.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024, representing an
increase of approximately RMB247.9 million or approximately
216.9% as compared to the same period in 2023.

This was mainly due to the rapid business growth of the new
business platform launched through resource integration.
Officially launched in November 2024, it acquired and served
over 400 customers in merely 2 months, with average revenue
per customer of approximately RMBO0.5 million.

3. Marketers assignment service

Revenue from the business segment of marketers assignment
service amounted to approximately RMB26.1 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB6.1 million or 18.9% as compared to the
same period in 2023.

This was mainly because the Group further downsized the
hired marketers assigned to customers’ designated offline retail
stores to perform sales and marketing in 2024, which affected
the revenue of this business.

4.  SaaS+ subscription service and other services

Revenue from the business segment of SaaS+ subscription
service and other services amounted to approximately
RMB15.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately RMB4.1 million or
approximately 34.7% as compared to the same period in
2023.

This was mainly due to the continuous increase in SaaS+
related application services and fields provided by the Group,
which ensured the steady growth of this business.

Cost of services, gross profit and gross profit margin
The total cost of services of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB922.0 million for the vyear ended 31 December 2024,
representing an increase of approximately RMB290.9 million or
approximately 46.1% as compared to 2023.

The increase in cost was generally in line with the increase in
revenue, with labour service fees up by approximately 121.2%. This
was mainly due to the significant increase in revenue from tasks and
marketers matching service business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In 2024, the Group achieved a gross profit of approximately
RMB124.4 million during the Reporting Period, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately RMB29.5 million or 31.1% as
compared to the same period in 2023.

In 2024, the Group achieved a gross profit margin of approximately
11.9% during the Reporting Period, representing a decrease of
approximately 1.2% as compared to 13.1% of the same period in
2023.

This was mainly due to the introduction of new service areas and
the launch of new business platforms by the Group in 2024. In order
to grab more market share and achieve rapid business expansion,
we appropriately lowered our profit expectation while ensuring an
absolute increase in gross profit.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of employee salaries and
benefit expenses, office rent, office expenses, etc. Administrative
expenses decreased by approximately 13.8% from approximately
RMB92.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB79.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, mainly due to the decrease in listing expenses and strict
management of cost control during the Reporting Period, which led
to the decrease in administrative expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses primarily consist of employee
salaries. Selling and marketing expenses increased by approximately
36.5% from approximately RMB21.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB28.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, mainly due to the increase in matching
service and customised marketing business, which led to the
increase in selling and marketing expenses.

Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses primarily consist of labour
costs and other research and development costs. Research and
development expenses decreased by approximately 43.3% from
approximately RMB29.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB16.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, mainly attributable to the increased efforts in
independent development along with the artificial intelligence (Al)
application.
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Other income

Other income decreased by approximately 41.4% from approximately
RMB20.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB11.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, which was mainly due to less government financial support.

Other gains — net

Other gains — net decreased by approximately 71.5% from
approximately RMB45.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB13.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, mainly due to significant decrease in the
reversal of refundable amount from social security payments by the
government in relation to the relief of the impact of COVID-19 as
well as lower exchange gains derived from Hong Kong dollars.

Impairment losses on financial assets

Impairment of financial assets increased by approximately 475.0%
from approximately RMBO0.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately RMB2.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2024, mainly due to the increased expected credit loss
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets as a result of
business expansion.

Finance costs — net

The Group recorded approximately RMBO0.3 million of finance costs
— net for the year ended 31 December 2024 while it was
approximately RMB1.6 million of finance income — net for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in finance income was
mainly due to the decrease in market interest rate, which led to a
decrease in rate of return on assets.

Income tax expense

Income tax increased by approximately 6.7% from approximately
RMB7.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB8.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Profit attributable to equity owners of the Company

Profit attributable to equity owners increased by approximately
13.0% from approximately RMB11.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 to approximately RMB13.0 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by approximately 16.4% from
approximately RMB191.0 million as of 31 December 2023 to
approximately RMB159.6 million as of 31 December 2024, mainly due
to the increase in sales revenue without timely recovery of cash,
which led to an increase in trade receivables and a decrease in
cash.
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Capital expenditure

Capital expenditure decreased by approximately 33.3% from
approximately RMBO0.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately RMBO0.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2024, mainly due to less acquisition of new equipment in 2024.

Material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

As of 31 December 2024, the Company had no material acquisitions,
and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Plans for material investments or acquisition of capital
assets

As of 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in the paragraph headed
"Use of Proceeds from the Listing” in the section headed “Report of
the Directors” in this annual report, the Company had no future
plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets.

Pledge of assets

As of 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
pledge of assets.

Liquidity and capital source

The Group's primary uses of cash are for funding of its working
capital requirements, repayment of loans and related interest
expenses. As of the date of this report, the Group has funded its
operations principally with cash generated from operations,
borrowings and net proceeds from the listing.

In the future, the Group believes that its liquidity requirements will
be satisfied with a combination of cash flows generated from
operating activities, bank loans and other funds raised from the
capital markets from time to time.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately RMB159.6 million. As of 31 December 2024, the
balance of borrowings was approximately RMB64.1 million, all of
which are due within one year.

The unutilised banking facilities as of 31 December 2024 amounted
to RMB3.9 million. The Group has sufficient liquidity to satisfy its
day-to-day management and capital expenditure requirements and is
able to control its internal operating cash flows.
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Foreign exchange risk

The Group's major business operations are located in the PRC, and
thus the principal revenue and costs are denominated in RMB.
Certain monetary funds are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. As a
result, the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk. The Group
currently had no foreign currency hedging plan. However, the
management of the Company monitors the foreign exchange
fluctuation risk and considers hedging significant foreign exchange
fluctuation risk when necessary.

Contingent liabilities

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities, which was the same as of 31 December 2023.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

The Group's employees include its own employees and associates.
Its own employees refer to the employees for the Group’s
operations, including finance and information technology. Associates
refer to those who are assigned to work on client premises. As of
31 December 2024, the Group employed 7,342 employees (2023:
8,137).

Employee remuneration is determined with reference to similar
market rate and the performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employee. In addition to the basic remuneration, year-end
discretionary bonus will be offered to employees with outstanding
performance to attract and retain eligible employees to contribute to
the Group.

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REGARDING THE
QUALIFIED OPINION

As set out in the consolidated financial statements, a qualified
opinion on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (the “Qualified Opinion”) was issued by CL
Partners CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”), in
relation to the Group's investment in two Funds (as defined in the
consolidated financial statements) classified as other financial assets
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position
of the Group for the Reporting Period.
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As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024, in September 2023, the Group
invested HK$30,000,000 (equivalent to RMB27,187,000) and
HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to RMB9,062,000) respectively in two
investments with guaranteed return rates of 5.15% and 5.10%
respectively, which were both private offshore funds (the “Funds”)
newly established in the Cayman Islands. The Funds were classified
as other financial assets at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023. The Group
did not accrue for any guaranteed returns from the Funds for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. In March 2024, the Group
redeemed the Funds and collected the investment principal together
with return amounted to HK$40,330,000 (equivalent to
RMB36,595,000). The Group’s management was not able to obtain
supporting documents about the balance of the Funds, the
underlying assets held by the Funds and the value of the Funds as
at 31 December 2023 and at the date of redemption. The
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor (the
“Predecessor Auditor”) who expressed a qualified opinion due to a
limitation of audit scope concerning the Funds on those financial
statements. The Predecessor Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the
commercial substance of the transactions related to the Funds and
to the accuracy, existence, classification, valuation, and presentation
of the Funds and whether the effects of these transactions related
to the Funds, including the related cashflows, have been properly
accounted for and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In March 2024, the Group redeemed the Funds resulting in a gain on
redemption of other financial assets at amortised cost amounted to
approximately HK$333,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB302,000)
which was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2024. The closing balances of the assets and liabilities of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 were brought forward as the
opening balances as at 1 January 2024 and hence entered into the
determination of the financial performance of the Group for the
current financial year ended 31 December 2024. Any adjustment that
might have been found necessary to the opening balance of the
Funds as at 1 January 2024 might have material effects on the
Group's results and cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024 and related disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the Auditor was
unable to determine whether adjustments might have been
necessary in respect of the performance and cash flows of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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Impact on the Company’s financial position

The total investment amount of the Funds that is subject to the
Qualified Opinion is HK$40,000,000 (equivalent to RMB36,249,000),
and the management of the Company (the “Management”) have
redeemed all principals of the Funds together with portion of return
in aggregate amounted to HK$40,330,000 (equivalent to
RMB36,595,000) in March 2024. In the event the outstanding
guaranteed returns of the Funds could not be collected, such
amount would be less than RMBO0.8 million and is not expected to
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial results
and continuing operations.

Since the Funds have been fully redeemed and collected in March
2024, the carrying amount of the Funds as at 31 December 2023 will
not appear as the opening balance in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2025. The Auditor and
the Audit Committee of the Company are of the view that the
Qualified Opinion will not have carry forward effect on the
consolidated financial statements for the year ending 31 December
2025.

Management’s view on the Qualified Opinion

Based on the discussion with the Auditor, the Management agreed
to the above Qualified Opinion on the following basis:

(1) the Company had redeemed these Funds in March 2024 and
collected the investment principal together with return
amounted to HK$40,330,000 (equivalent to RMB36,595,000), the
amount of the return collected upon the redemption of the
Funds is less than the amount calculated based on the
guaranteed return rate of 5.15% and 5.10% respectively;,

(2) the Funds were not cooperative and did not provide any
statement nor information about the transactions, the balances
and the value of the Funds during the Reporting Period or
provide any explanation of the shortfall in guaranteed return;
and

(3) the Management noted the limitation for the Predecessor
Auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate supporting documents
in relation to the commercial substance as well as the
accuracy, existence, classification, valuation and presentation
of the Funds, and whether the effects of these transactions
related to the Funds, including the related cashflows, have
been properly accounted for and disclosed in the consolidated
financial statements as at and for the year ended 31
December 2023, and the Management also noted the difficulty
of the Auditor in determining whether adjustments might have
been necessary in respect of the performance and cash flows
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

There is no difference in views between the Management and the
Auditor with regard to the Qualified Opinion.

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEERWED T

HAXFAMBRROLE

W RRE B R A FE S R E #8258 /340,000,000
BT (EERARK36,249,0007T) * AR A
ERE(ERE]) ER2024F3 O EE
AR ERE D @A 440,330,000
BT (FHE R ARE36,595,0007T) ° fifl 7K B
Elt FRE S RKMENNREL R (ZEBHIR
ARB0BEETL) HHTSHARRNTTE
RENFBREERERTMNEE -

MR EESER2024F3ABEED & ik
| - Bt E RS R2023F 12 A31 B W REE
& 25 0B E2025612 318 IEFEH)
fRaE M MR IER - AR RRZEA K
BERZEER R REEATSHEZE2025
FR2ANAULFENGEMBRRELEE

By 48R
T

EEBHREERMER
EREREEZEAHOT R B TIRER
BLMRETR

() AARER20024FIAERLEES
I Y ER 3% & A & & 8] #740,330,0007% TT
(FEH AR 36,595,0007T) @ & [ 1
EHSRHRMA B RS ERIZRD B A
5.15% % 5.10% M (R & B B E T HE W &
I

2 WEESITEE AARARHELSFE
ERRERENRS - EHRREENE
MK BER - TRBRE @R E R
IREUEMARE - &

3) EBEEIEIREZSAERSERBRI
LHOWETERLSEE SR ERIE -
FE 2B HEKRIINEDEEE
A HERESZEIRS - BRgeizE R
SESHEBRNR N E (BEMRABR
ERE)EBOR2023F12A31B &
EZHUEFENGAEMBRREZABAR
L#EE BEEEINEE R EAN L
ETERANEYAREEEE2024F12
A3MBEFEMNKRBEEESREELH

B o
=

ERERZHMNAREER T EEH -

LHMEEZERERATY —T-WFEFH 25



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED T

Management’s action plans to address the Qualified
Opinion

To address the Qualified Opinion, the Management has followed the
action plans as disclosed in the annual report for the year ended 31
December 2023 and has taken the following actions till the date of
this annual report:

(1) the Management has repeatedly requested the Funds to repay
the shortfall in guaranteed returns of the Funds;

(2) the Company has followed the internal control measures to
prevent the re-occurrence of similar incidents relating to its
future investment, including but not limited to:

(i) regular meetings held by investment committee of the
Company (the “Investment Committee”) to review
investment decisions and implementation of investment

policy;

(i) regularly reviewed and strengthened treasury and
investment policy to ensure the investment procedures
are in place; and

(i) regular meetings held by the Investment Committee, the
Management and the Audit Committee for the updates of
latest investment overview of the Group.

The Board (including the Audit Committee) is of the view that the
above action plans have been and will be effectively implemented
and since the principals of the Funds have been fully redeemed as
at the date of last year’s annual report, the Qualified Opinion is not
expected to have impact on the next year's financial statements of
the Company.

Audit Committee’s view on the Qualified Opinion

The Audit Committee has held a meeting with the Auditor and the
Management to understand the Qualified Opinion and the judgment
of the Company’s Management. Based on the discussion with the
Auditor and the Management, the Audit Committee agreed with the
Qualified Opinion and concurred with the view of the Management
as set out above. Both the Board and the Audit Committee expect to
remove the Qualified Opinion in the upcoming financial reporting
period.
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MATERIAL EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There was no other significant subsequent event undertaken by the
Group subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

OUTLOOK
In 2025, we will focus on the following key directions:

1.

By keeping abreast of the times, a) we will continuously
strengthen the deployment and iterative training capabilities of
localised Al models, and invest in self-developed artificial
intelligence (Al) application development, so as to adapt to
diversified needs in more scenarios and even new fields of
application, and to establish barriers in the field of intelligence,
thus enhancing our competitive strengths; b) we aim to build
an integrated in-store trial system for intelligent marketing
decision-making and deduction that combines perception,
decision-making and deduction, by collaborating with the
School of Economics and Management at a well-known
university to establish an "Al + Digital Sales Joint Laboratory”.
By doing so, we will redefine the efficiency and scientificity of
marketing under retailing scenario, capture market dynamics
via artificial intelligence (Al) technology, and optimise the
on-site marketing ecosystem.

We will take advantage of our capital to expedite business
expansion. Under the principle of prioritising the acquisition of
more market share, we actively leverage artificial intelligence
(Al) applications to expand into new markets such as
pharmaceuticals, tea beverage chains and centralised
distribution, while continuously expanding our existing market
presence. With a comprehensive development strategy that
combines online and offline efforts, we aim to maintain
sustainable growth and even achieve a further leap in the
Group's performance.

We will deepen cooperation with top retailers, and boost their
rapid growth backed by our superior capabilities of
self-development and deployment in artificial intelligence (Al)
applications. In the mean time, we will focus on the forefront
of the market, proactively promote the real-life application of
artificial intelligence (Al) technology, and keep up with market
trend to seize various business opportunities. Through
continuous practice and accumulation, we aim to provide
important materials for the training of the Group’s Al models
for retailing.
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28

We will pay more attention to businesses related to 020
real-time retailing channel, especially in the application
scenarios of “local life” (in-store pick-up, home delivery) both
online and offline. We will make full use of the Group's widely
distributed touchpoint resources, on-site sales data
accumulation, on-site location management, intelligent
recommendation and matching, and other advantages in
intelligent application, in a bid to contribute to and even
change the online-to-offline reach and application mode.

We will put more efforts in the matching business, with a focus
on further integrating artificial intelligence (Al) applications into
business scenarios, and improving the overall penetration of Al
in our business to meet diverse customer and service needs.
We will continuously diversify the application areas to rapidly
improve the Group's performance and occupy the market.

By persistently seeking high-quality resources at home and
abroad and establishing strategic cooperation, even
investment, acquisition or other capital cooperation, we strive
to optimise and integrate various carrier resources to expand
the Group’s business presence.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Guangjun (FREE), aged 54, is our Chairman, chief
executive officer and executive Director. Mr. Sun is responsible for
overall management of our Group's business operation, making key
operational and business decisions, financial decisions, as well as
formulating business development plans for the Group.

Mr. Sun has over 28 years' experience in marketing and business
development. He held various positions at Procter & Gamble
(Guangzhou) Ltd.* (B2 (EJM) B2 A from September 1993 to
July 1999, including key account manager, unit manager, laundry
project manager of customer marketing (mainly responsible for
customer business development of fabric care products), market
manager and regional sales manager of the South China market.
From August 1999 to August 2001, he worked at Reckitt Benckiser
Household Products (China) Limited* (F;2855R{E (R E) BRRAF) as
a national key account manager, where he was mainly responsible
for international and regional key account business and reporting
directly to national sales director. Prior to joining Unilever Services
(Hefe) Ltd.* (Bt& FZERD () EMR A, Mr. Sun was the
person-in-charge of Shanghai Betterway Market Development Service
Co., Ltd. Guangzhou Branch* (L8 HEBHEMEMRRBEER QA
E M5 A7) until October 2004. From February 2004 to December
2006, Mr. Sun worked as a sales development director, a regional
general manager, a customer market director and a regional
customer development director at Unilever Services (Hefei) Ltd.* (B
AFERS (AE) AR 28], where he was mainly responsible for
developing business strategies and implementation plan. From
February 2007 to January 2009, he served as a general manager of
UPM Raflatac (China) Co., Ltd.* (FBIEHRZH (FE)BRAQF),
formerly known as UPM Raflatac (Changshu) Co., Ltd.* (33X 1%
% (F#) AR A7), where he took charge of the overall business
operation in China. Mr. Sun joined our Group in September 2008 and
principally devoted his time and resources to our Group. Mr. Sun has
held various positions in our Group. From September 2008 to June
2015, Mr. Sun held the position of executive director of Plus
Shanghai. Mr. Sun has been acting as the chairman of the board of
directors of Plus Shanghai since June 2015. Mr. Sun also served as
the general manager of Plus Shanghai from February 2009 to
October 2015, and has been acting as the general manager of the
same since January 2016.
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Mr. Sun obtained a bachelor's degree in polymer physics from
University of Science and Technology of China (FhEIRI 2R 1iTKE) in
July 1993 and an EMBA degree from China Europe International
Business School (/1 BX B FR T i £26%) in September 2008.

Mr. Yang Hong (#3#), aged 58, is our executive Director and vice
president. Mr. Yang is primarily responsible for overall management
and operation of our Group.

Mr. Yang has over 25 years' experience in the marketing and
business development. From July 1999 to May 2006 and from June
2006 to April 2008, Mr. Yang worked successively as a deputy
general manager of Betterway (Shanghai) Marketing Solutions Co.,
Ltd.* (/8BRS HARERE AR A F]) and Betterway Marketing
Solutions Co., Ltd. (E/BEZERELHRBARAET) respectively,
where he was mainly responsible for the business development. He
served as a vice president of Guangzhou Grey Star Echo Marketing
Communications Co., Ltd.* (BMEHRTEFEE LKA ERAA)
from April 2008 to September 2011, where he was mainly
responsible for the functional operation of the company such as
financial work, administration, human resource and IT. Mr. Yang has
held various positions in our Group. From October 2011 to June
2014, Mr. Yang served as the financial controller of Plus Shanghai.
Mr. Yang has been acting as a deputy general manager since
January 2013 and a director since June 2015.

Mr. Yang obtained a bachelor’'s degree of science in physics
education from Suzhou University (&&/NKZ) in June 1989.

Mr. Lau Man Tak (83X ), aged 55, is our independent
non-executive Director and is primarily responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice on the operation and management
of our Group.

Mr. Lau has over 20 years’ of experience in finance and accounting.
Mr. Lau is currently the chairman and a non-executive director of
REF Holdings Limited (stock code: 1631); and an independent
non-executive director of ISP Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340),
which are companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director of
Kingston Financial Group Limited (the shares of which were
withdrawn voluntarily from listing on the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2023) until his resignation on 8 March 2023. Mr. Lau is
also the director, the chairman of the board of directors and the
controlling shareholder of Linkers Industries Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on Nasdag (NASDAQ: LNKS).
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Mr. Lau graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (B/& T 26t) (now
known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University (&% T A£)) with a
bachelor’s degree of arts in accountancy in November 1991. Mr. Lau
is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of each of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in United Kingdom, the Hong
Kong Institute of Directors, and the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.

Ms. Lin Feng (#2), aged 53, is our independent non-executive
Director and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent advice on the operation and management of our
Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Lin served as the product manager of
Shanghai Fule Food Co., Ltd. (E/R&ZERFBEMRAR) from July 1994
to May 1996, where she was mainly responsible for assisting the
marketing supervisor in new product launches and marketing
campaigns. From June 1996 to November 1998, Ms. Lin worked as a
marketing supervisor of Shanghai Pizza Hut Co., Ltd. (B8 % BEE
fRA\]). From December 1998 to July 2004, Ms. Lin held the position
of Pizza Hut marketing manager of Yum! Restaurants Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (B 53538 (1)F) BBRAA]). From August 2004 to
September 2008, Ms. Lin served as the senior brand manager of
Unilever (China) Co., Ltd. (B& M2 (R EI) AR AR, where she
mainly took charge of Pond’s (35£X) brand building. From September
2008 to February 2011, Ms. Lin acted as the senior marketing
manager at The Walt Disney Company (Shanghai) Limited (= 4F:8 1+
B (E/8)ABRAT) (currently known as The Walt Disney Company
(China) Limited (45 +/E (P EI) AR A F]). From February 2011 to
June 2015, Ms. Lin served as the marketing director of Coty
International Trade (SHANGHAI) Co., Ltd. (RIFEEE 5 (E8) BRA
Al). Ms. Lin is the founder and has been acting as the general
manager of Shanghai Hanjun Cosmetics Co., Ltd. (E/8E & {tikRmA
fR/2 7)) since August 2015, where she is fully in charge of company
business.

Ms. Lin obtained a bachelor's degree in food engineering from
Shanghai University (E/8K2) in June 1994. Ms. Lin obtained a
degree of executive master of business administration from China
Europe International Business School (7P EXEIEE TR ER:) in June
2015.
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EENREREEAERERE

Mr. Ngan Wing Ho (B X), aged 50, is our independent
non-executive Director and is primarily responsible for supervising
and providing independent advice on the operation and management
of our Group.

Mr. Ngan has over 24 years’ experience in senior management
positions in investment banking, corporate, and entrepreneurship
areas. In November 1999, Mr. Ngan joined Lehman Brothers Asia
Holdings Limited as an analyst in the equity capital markets
department. In May 2001, Mr. Ngan joined HSBC Markets (Asia)
Limited as an associate in the equity capital markets department.
From July 2004 to August 2008, Mr. Ngan served as the head of
Taiwan equity capital markets at UBS AG. From September 2008 to
December 2010, Mr. Ngan served as the executive director, head of
equity syndicate and block origination, Asia in Global Banking and
Markets, at the Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. (formally known as ABN
AMRO Bank N.V.). From March 2014 to June 2015, Mr. Ngan served
as the managing director, head of equity capital markets at Huatai
Financial Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited. After leaving Huatai Financial
Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited, Mr. Ngan served as a group vice
president mainly responsible for investment and mergers and
acquisitions at Sanpower Group Corporation* (ZfBEBE B R A7) in
China. From December 2016 to June 2017, Mr. Ngan served as an
executive director and the chief financial officer at C.banner
International Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1028.HK). He
was also appointed as a board member of Hamleys Global Holdings
Limited in the United Kingdom from April 2016 to September 2018.
Mr. Ngan then served as a non-executive director at C.banner
International Holdings Limited from June 2017 to April 2018. Since
March 2021, Mr. Ngan has been serving as the chairman and
founder of Nova Vision Acquisition Corp, a company whose shares
are listed on Nasdag (NASDAQ: NOWV). Prior to establishing Nova
Vision Acquisition Corp, Mr. Ngan served as the co-founder and chief
executive officer of QF Global Limited, the co-founder and chief
executive officer of Alchemy Global Payment Solutions Ltd. and the
global chief executive officer of ANA Neo Inc. in Japan. Mr. Ngan is
currently a non-executive director of Real Messenger Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on Nasdag (NASDAQ:
RMSG).

Mr. Ngan obtained a bachelor's degree of arts in accounting and
finance from University of Plymouth in July 1997 and a master’s
degree of science in social science in accounting and finance from
University of Southampton in the United Kingdom in January 1999.
Mr. Ngan participated in the Stanford Ignite Programme of the
Stanford Graduate School of Business from September 2016 to
November 2016.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, as at the date of this annual report, each of the Directors
(i) does not hold any position in the Company; (i) has not held any
directorship in the last three vyears in public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong
or overseas; (iii) does not hold any other major appointments and
professional qualifications; (iv) does not have any relationship with
any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company; and (v) does not have or is not
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance).

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed herein, there
is no matter relating to the Directors that needs to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders, nor is there any information as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)(h) to (v) of the
Listing Rules.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. Sun Guangjun and Mr. Yang Hong,
see the biographies in “Directors” above.

Mr. Bai Fuli (Bf&#%l), aged 55, is our vice president. Mr. Bai is
primarily responsible for developing our go-to-market strategy.

Mr. Bai served as a supervisor of Plus Shanghai from October 2015
to December 2019. From August 2020 to January 2022, he served as
the executive director of Shanghai Chengzhi, and has been serving
as its supervisor since then. Mr. Bai has over 26 years' experience in
marketing and business development. From July 1992 to August
2000, he served at the sales department of Procter & Gamble
(Guangzhou) Ltd. Beijing Branch* (BEMBEZERAFLRED A F).
From February 2002 to June 2004, he served as an associate
regional director of Colgate-Palmolive (China) Co., Ltd.* (=& 2R
(FRE) ABR A R)), formerly known as Colgate-Palmolive (Guangzhou)
Company Limited (B = 58 2 ix 1B AR 2 7). From July 2004 to July
2007, he served as a regional manager of Unilever (China) Co., Ltd.*
(F4& Mz (P E) BRAAF). From August 2007 to September 2009,
he served as a sales controller of Henkel (China) Investment Co., Ltd.
(5 (P E)HREARLQF). From July 2009 to June 2012, he served
as a marketing and sales controller of Cofco Coca-Cola Beverages
Limited* (FF¥& 7] A ] &8O BR A R]). From July 2014 to June 2016,
he served as the general manager of AMER Sports Equipment
Trading Shanghai Trading Ltd.* (ERSEERARES (LB ERA
Al). From July 2016 to December 2019, he served as a vice
president of Shanghai Naivee Fashion Design Co., Ltd.* (/& &%k AR
KRABRAT).
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Mr. Bai obtained a bachelor's degree in law from Peking University
(A K E) in July 1992. He graduated from China Europe
International Business School (FREIEIFR TrgEFt) in September 2009
with an EMBA degree.

Ms. Chen Li (BR), aged 46, is our financial controller and one of
our joint company secretaries. Ms. Chen is primarily responsible for
management of financial affairs.

Ms. Chen served as a senior finance manager from April 2014 to
June 2014. She has been acting as the financial controller of Plus
Shanghai since July 2014 and one of our joint company secretaries
since January 2025. Before joining our Group, Ms. Chen worked as
an assistant to the manager of the financial department of Shanghai
Jlincheng International Shipping Agency Ltd.* (&7 £ 3 B BR M 75 1R
BERAF]) from November 2000 to April 2014, where she was
mainly responsible for assisting financial manager in the
management of the finance department and overall financial work.
From June 2020 to January 2025, Ms. Chen worked as a supervisor
of Etran (Shanghai) New Mechanical and Electrical Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (R¥FBA(L8) B AT AR A R]), where she was mainly
responsible for supervising company’s director and senior
management team, as well as company’s financial affairs.

Ms. Chen obtained a bachelor’'s degree of management in
accounting from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics (&
YEBT R E) in July 2007. Ms. Chen was accredited by the Ministry
of Finance as a medium-level accountant in May 2004 and was
accredited as a non-practising member by the Shanghai Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in March 2014. She was also accredited
by the Institute of Certified Management Accountants as a Certified
Management Accountant (CMA) in January 2019.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Cui Yanan (EIE#8), aged 41, is our technical controller. He is
primarily responsible for overseeing research and development.

Mr. Cui joined Plus Shanghai in October 2020 and has been acting as
the research and development controller since then. Mr. Cui has
over 16 years' experience in technology development. From July
2006 to July 2016, he worked successively as a software engineer, a
research and development team leader, a project manager and a
senior researcher of Dalian Yuan Dong Digital Co., Ltd.* (AiE=RE
AR A A]), where he was mainly responsible for leading the design
and development of various software products of the company. From
August 2016 to September 2020, Mr. Cui worked as a research and
development controller and the person-in-charge of Dalian research
and development centre of Guangzhou Cema Information Technology
Consulting Co., Ltd.* (B/MNKIFE SRMFEABR A R]), where he was
mainly responsible for design and development of various software
products and daily operation of Dalian research and development
centre.

Mr. Cui obtained a bachelor’'s degree of science in information and
computer science from Dalian University of Technology (K T K
E) in July 2006, and an MBA degree from the same university in
December 2012. Mr. Cui passed the National Computer Rank
Examination in C programming language (Grade 2) in September
2003 and network technology (Grade 3) in April 2004. He obtained
the Qualification Certificate of Computer and Software Technology
Proficiency as an Intermediate Software Designer in September
2005.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chow Kit Ting (A#E), aged 40, is one of our joint company
secretaries. He is primarily responsible for the secretarial work of the
Company.

Mr. Chow joined our Group in October 2021 and was appointed as
the company secretary of the Company on 12 July 2022. Mr. Chow
has over 16 years’ experience in the fields of auditing, accounting,
corporate finance, compliance and company secretarial. He worked
for an international accounting firm and various private or listed
companies as financial controller and company secretary. From July
2018 to July 2021, Mr. Chow worked as an independent
non-executive director at Hong Kong Aerospace Technology Group
Limited (FEMABHIEEEBRAR]), formerly known as Eternity
Technology Holdings Limited (BERIXIZRERAA]), a company
whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 1725.HK). He has also been acting as an independent
non-executive director of Star Shine Holdings Group Limited (f2i&1%
f% B BR A Al) (Stock Code: 1440.HK) (formerly known as Deyun
Holding Ltd. (2@ E MR 2 7)) and Confidence Intelligence
Holdings Limited ({S2RE ge1Z AR 2 7)) (Stock Code: 1967.HK) since
December 2020 and December 2024 respectively.

Mr. Chow obtained a bachelor’'s degree of commerce in accounting
from Macquarie University, Australia, in November 2007, and an
EMBA degree from Chinese University of Hong Kong (& # & XX A2
in November 2021. He was accredited as a Certified Public
Accountant in CPA Australia and as a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2011 and May
2015, respectively.

Ms. Chen Li (& J1) is one of our joint company secretaries. For the
biographical details of Ms. Chen Li, see the biographies in “Senior
Management” above.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining sound corporate
governance and had complied with all the code provisions as set out
in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules (the “Corporate Governance Code”) since 1 January
2024 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, save for the deviation as
disclosed below.

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code, the roles of the chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established
and set out in writing. Mr. Sun Guangjun is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He has been primarily involved in
developing overall corporate and business strategies of the Group
and making significant business and operational decisions of the
Group.

The Directors consider that vesting the roles of both the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in Mr. Sun Guangjun
is beneficial to the business prospects of the Group by ensuring
consistent leadership to the Group as well as prompt and effective
decision making and implementation. In addition, the Directors
believe that this structure will not impair the balance of power and
authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) the decision to be made by the Board requires
approval by at least a majority of the Directors; (i) Mr. Sun Guangjun
and other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their
fiduciary duties as Directors, which require, among other things, that
he acts for the benefit and in the best interests of the Company and
will make decisions for the Company accordingly; (iii) the balance of
power and authority is ensured by the operations of the Board,
which consists of two executive Directors (including Mr. Sun
Guangjun) and three independent non-executive Directors, and has a
fairly strong independence element; and (iv) the overall strategic and
other key business, financial, and operational policies of the
Company are made collectively after thorough discussion at both the
Board and senior management levels.

The Board shall review the structure from time to time to ensure
that the structure facilitates the execution of the business strategies
of the Group and maximizes effectiveness of its operation.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) under
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiry by the Company, that they have complied
with the requirements for securities transactions of directors set out
in the Model Code during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for and has the general power over the
management and operation of our business, including determining
our business strategies and investment plans, implementing
resolutions passed at our Shareholders’ general meetings, and
exercising other powers, functions and duties as conferred by the
Articles of Association. The day-to-day operations and management
are delegated by the Board to the management of the Company,
who will implement the strategy and direction as determined by the
Board.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As of 31 December 2024, and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the
Board consists of five Directors including two executive Directors
(Mr. Sun Guangjun as chairman and Mr. Yang Hong) and three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Lau Man Tak, Ms. Lin Feng
and Mr. Ngan Wing Ho). Mr. Sun Guangjun is the Chairman of the
Board. As far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors has a
relationship (including financial, family or other substantial or related
relationships) with each other. The Board has a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company that need to be disclosed in this annual report. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report.

During the period since the Listing Date and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, the Board at all times complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors, representing one-third of the
Board, of whom Mr. Lau Man Tak is the Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

38 PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.  Annual Report 2024

HERHNEESTH

ARB R LR AT ERC3H EMEITA
ERETEFRZNEESTA ([FREFA)
RARBEHARENER 2REEHRR
ERMERNEETRETRMBHESE
HFRHHMRE °

EEENTERE

SR RURAEENEERETN —RE
7 BRER MM ERREE LR EE &
ERRNERRAE ERBAIRER  1THHE
BERMNMTOEMESD  BEMBE - &
EEHRLENEERETARAEEE
EHEEEFTEETNRMEIETR -

EEgWAK
HE2024F12ANBREERE{TAE
EECHNBEFAR  BHEMEBRNTES
(BREERA(EE)RGHREE) R=2BL
SEMITE R (BIELE  MELZEREKE
TE) BEBLXEARESTSTERE - BAQA
s EE=MMERE (BEME  RES
HtERLBEHER EFSMREHEL
B EFTAANFRBEENRNAGEBNEK
AE - EEREFBIANATRIEZTERAR
EIEABRERE| -

RETEHEEERRATARLERE &
E2HETLETRAUEI0AKG IEEE
DERBUNTEST WIEEFE=DZ
— A BERENREERAERABERXE
RA ST XAEMBERERNENES -



Corporate Governance Report
ERERME

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS EEEERERREAE

During the Reporting Period, the Company held 24 Board meetings WRBEHR  RAGFRITTURESECH
and two general meetings. During the Reporting Period, the EMAKREAS -HNBEHRN KREENES
attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings and ©&zNMBREASEEIHRNOT

general meetings is as follows:

Attendance/
Eligible to Attend
HE HEERERE
Board meetings General meetings
EEg2e= BRRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Sun Guangjun FEELRE 22/23 2/2
Mr. Yang Hong ke 24/24 2/2
Non-executive Directors FBITES
Mr. Li Jianbo FEREE 11/12 1/1
(resigned on 24 May 2024) (R20244F 5 24 H §F(TF)
Mr. Zhong lJiesheng EEHERE 10/12 0/1
(resigned on 24 May 2024) (R20244F 5 24 H §F(TF)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Lau Man Tak B @ik 23/24 2/2
Ms. Li Yingkai TRzt 17/19 2/2
(resigned on 13 September 2024) (R20244F 9. A 13 H BFITF)
Ms. Lin Feng WE 2+ 4/4 Not available
(@ppointed on 13 September 2024) (R2024F 97 13HEZAE) TERA
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho BKRESE 23/24 2/2
Note: HtaE -

(1) Mr. Zhong Jiesheng was unable to attend the annual general meeting (1)  $BEEA AR EMER LM AELE TR

held on 24 May 2024 due to his other business arrangement. All the 2024F5 A48 BITHWRRAFAE - 1A
other Directors attended the annual general meeting held on 24 May HEMEEHHGHIUEF AL ER20245F
2024 and the extraordinary general meeting held on 15 July 2024 in SA2ARBTHRRBF KE RN202457 A
person or by electronic means. 1SHEBITHREFR RS -
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TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

The Company is responsible for arranging and funding suitable
training for the Directors. All Directors have been provided with
relevant guideline materials regarding their roles, duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to them, duty of disclosure of interests and business of
the Group. The Board ensures the Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstance, at the Company’s expenses. The Directors confirmed
that they have complied with code provision C.1.4 under Part 2 of
the Corporate Governance Code on directors’ training. During the
Reporting Period, all of the Directors have participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills and provided relevant records of training to the Company.
The training record of each Director for the Reporting Period is set
out below:

EEHEI
ARBABEREZFRHAEEI RS
ER-2RESCRRHAHEESZASG  BEA
REFENBABEESIME - ERRKREREEH
FERNER  AEBENNBEREBRERE
EEZRHAEEXRT EXCRARER
BEBATASKBIEXERER  ERAEAN
NEEYE - EEHR - RECRESEITE
BT EEERTRIE28TRIGXECL - B
BEHARN 2REFC2EBEFEEI N
ERMEAWRSOAMBRE  TERAR
AR AR LR - REFNME MG
AlrCExs s T

Reading materials  Training in
in relation to relation to
corporate corporate
governance and governance and
regulations regulations
METELEEAR ESHABLEER
Name of Directors EEgE S #R AR £ 3R Y 15 5
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Sun Guangjun RETLE Yes e Yes e
Mr. Yang Hong kA Yes e Yes e
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Li Jianbo FRRSTE YessE YessE
(resigned on 24 May 2024) (R2024%F 5 524 H §FT)
Mr. Zhong Jiesheng SEEEESAE Yes e Yes e
(resigned on 24 May 2024) (R2024%F 5 524 H §FT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Lau Man Tak BB, YessE YessE
Ms. Li Yingkai TEMZT Yes e Yes e
(resigned on 13 September 2024) (R2024%F 9.5 13 H BFT)
Ms. Lin Feng & 2+ Yes e Yes e
(@ppointed on 13 September 2024) (R2024F 9 F 13 H#EZ )
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho BEXKREE Yes e Yes e
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee and a nomination committee. Please see below for the
composition and responsibilities of each committee.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules. As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Lau Man
Tak, Ms. Lin Feng and Mr. Ngan Wing Ho). Mr. Lau Man Tak is the
chairman of the Audit Committee. The primary responsibilities of the
Audit Committee are to inspect, review, supervise and provide
independent view of the Company’'s financial information and
reporting procedure for financial information, the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, and perform other duties
and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

During the Reporting Period, eight meetings were held by the Audit
committee. The attendance record of the committee members at the
meetings during the Reporting Period is as follows:
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EEXEE

EFRCRUBREES FHEEGRIE
ZEAE RZEBENAREBEALHT
\Xo

EREEE
ARRIERE EM AR 3215 b A3 AP
BCIEEREABTRAKRYLERZZES I
EHEIABESE - HERKATEY B
ZEEH-RBUIFNTES (BUERE
M+ MERKFEL) K - BIBELEE
TEZZECER FERZEENIERE
EEZ  BRARRNPHER - U AEKE
B TSR R - BB B TR K A BR A o B R
BFREHBYER UNRBTEES MR
IR E MBS M AT -

RBERR - BERZEEBTT/UREH - W
THANZEEXN BN ERLFECENT ¢

Attendance/

Eligible to Attend

HE HEER

Directors S HE
Mr. Lau Man Tak BB 8/8
Ms. Li Yingkai (resigned on 13 September 2024) LB+ (R20244E9 A 13 H B F) 8/8
Ms. Lin Feng (appointed on 13 September 2024) WL L+ (R2024F9H 13 HEZ(F) Not available
T EA

Mr. Ngan Wing Ho BEKZF A& 8/8

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s audited annual
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2024, and
confirms that save for the Qualified Opinion as disclosed in the
section headed “Independent Auditor's Report” of this annual report,
the applicable accounting principles, standards and requirements
have been complied with, and that adequate disclosures have been
made. In relation to the Qualified Opinion, the Audit Committee has
held a meeting with the auditor and the management to understand
the Qualified Opinion and the judgment of the Company’s
management. Based on the discussion with the auditor and the
management, the Audit Committee agreed with the Qualified
Opinion. The annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024
are audited by CL Partners CPA Limited, the independent auditor of
the Company, in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

ERZLZ B BHARAEE2024F12H31
AIFFEMKEEFTFERSEE  UYERRAR
RERIBLAZEENRE | —HHENREE
BoN - BBrEAgE RA - BRIRRE - B
BERFEOHE - BHRRBER  EXZEEE
BEZHEMMAEREERITZHE  UTHBRE
BERRAQREIRE R HE o B 5 % EAED
MERBEN®  BRZEeRBEREER -
HE2024F12A3 1AL FEMNFEXLECH
RABEIAZERN LS ETMITH R A FIR
BEBSSHMASRMMNEBSETERETT
o
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, the Audit Committee has reviewed
the annual result announcement of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024 and believes that the Company has complied
with all applicable accounting standards and regulations and made
sufficient disclosures. The Audit Committee has reviewed all material
internal control rules, including the financial, operational and
compliance controls, as well as risk management of the Group in
2024. The Audit Committee was satisfied with the effectiveness and
sufficiency of the internal control mechanism in its operations. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the remuneration of the auditor for
2024 and recommended the Board to re-appoint CL Partners CPA
Limited as the auditor of the Company for 2025, subject to the
approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Nomination Committee

The Company established the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. As
of the Latest Practicable Date, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, Mr. Sun Guangjun and two independent
non-executive Directors (Mr. Lau Man Tak and Ms. Lin Feng). Mr. Sun
Guangjun is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and
assessing the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and making recommendations
to the Board on appointment and removal of Directors. In
recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity on
the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted by
the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of
services and time to be devoted as a Director.
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The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, information
technology, accounting and financial management. They obtained
degrees in various majors including polymer physics, physics
education, accounting and finance, etc. The Company has three
independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing more than one-third of the Board. As of
the date of this annual report, the Board consists of one female and
four male Directors. The Board is satisfied with its gender diversity
and will continue to maintain a diverse Board. In the future, gender
will continue to be fully considered in the selection and development
of nominees on the basis of maintaining at least one female Board
member.

As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 7,342 employees,
of which the number of male and female employees are 851 and
6,491, respectively (representing approximately 12% and 88%,
respectively), and the overall headcount of the Company remained
stable. The Company plans to offer all-rounded trainings to female
employees whom we consider to have suitable experience, skills and
knowledge of our operation and business, including but not limited
to, business operation, management, accounting and finance, legal
and compliance and R&D. The Nomination Committee will also pay
attention to maintaining and strengthening the concern, selection,
and development of high-potential female talents, and nominate and
recommend competent and qualified candidates to the Board when
necessary. For details on gender diversity of employees, please refer
to ESG Report to be released on the same day as this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, two meetings were held by the
Nomination Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meetings during the Reporting Period is as follows:
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EXBEAHENABNRZEAS  BRER
EERRIBER BMf @t hUMBE
2 RERTREXREEM - B2 TY
2 YEHE - S RERSE - ARBAE=M
EBTRTEESNBUFNTES  HE
EE=HZ UL -HBEAFHRAHY EBEFE
ER-ERMEEIMNEAEUHES -EXE
HEMRZ TBERRERE - Wk E R
—BAEZTNESTE - AR EEEREARK
BRE - MHBEESIEEEE  YAES
ERRELA - RUMUESTEXNE RER -

HZE2024F 128318 AEEH A K7,342%
BB EFREUEERZEEE DR AR K
6,491% + 5 BIME #12% 2. 88% o 78 A & 4] &
RESAHAERET AQFEAREMR
BEBAEEENERLER  FAERAMED
zHhEEBREZEEN  BEETRRER
BB EW - RN EERFER UK
WEEFENEN - REZES NG BTHER
MiaE BEFRBENREATHRT &
TRZER TRNEHREANEBREELE IR
AERMEBERBATESS -BHEEHNZ
AL S - BRMEAFRRE A MR

BonakERRE -

Attendance/

Eligible to Attend

HE BREER

Directors 2= e
Mr. Sun Guangjun RESERE 2/2
Mr. Lau Man Tak 2 imaE A 2/2
Ms. Li Yingkai (resigned on 13 September 2024) BB+ (R20244F 9 5 13 H BE(F) 11
Ms. Lin Feng (appointed on 13 September 2024) ML L+ (R2024F9 8 13 HEZ(T) Not available
k!

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
Please refer to the relevant disclosures under “Report of The
Directors — Confirmation of Independence by Independent
Non-Executive Directors”.

REBEEMA - EREZESEHEBULIENTT
EENEYE - F2HIEFTERE — BY
FERITEFHRBULIE THOMHEBERE -
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. As
of the Latest Practicable Date, the Remuneration Committee
comprises one executive Director, Mr. Sun Guangjun and two
independent non-executive Directors (Ms. Lin Feng and Mr. Ngan
Wing Ho). Ms. Lin Feng is the chairman of the Remuneration
Ccommittee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are
to establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration
for the Directors and senior management and make
recommendations to the Board on employee benefit arrangement.

During the Reporting Period, three meetings were held by the
Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of the committee
members at the meetings during the Reporting Period is as follows:

FMEES
ARRIRRE EWARAE 3255 b - #2 APH
BCIMEMEXREARATAKNITMEZES
(HFHEZEg))  LEEIIRBESRE - #2E
REATAY FHEESR - BRTES
(MEEERE) RMBBILIFATES (BIA
LT REKRTE) AKX - MEBL L BH M
ZEEXIF FMZEENTIEZRASNTE
REREENSREEAENFHMB RS
B UIBEEERMNLHRAESSRLES -

RBEHRR - FTHZEEBITT=ZREHE - W
THANZEEgXRENERLFCENT

Attendance/

Eligible to Attend

HE HEER

Directors EE e

Ms. Li Yingkai (resigned on 13 September 2024) BBt (R20244F 9 H 13 H BE(E) 2/2

Ms. Lin Feng (appointed on 13 September 2024) WL L+ (R2024F9 813 HEZ(T) Not available

38 A

Mr. Sun Guangjun REBLE 2/2

Mr. Ngan Wing Ho BEK R AE 3/3
REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS BE £

The remuneration paid and payable by the Group to CL Partners CPA
Limited in respect of the services provided during the Reporting
Period is as follows:

AEEREREAMITERATNKERA
REMREMEN REMOBMEHT

Fees paid and

payable

eNRESEA

(RMB million)

Service provided = HRE (ANREBERT)
Statutory audit service EERETRE 1.05
Non-audit services* FERET RS 0.2
Total #Et 1.25

“ Including the fees for review of results announcement and interim
financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of annual accounts
in order to give a true and fair view of the financial position,
operating results and cash flow of the Company for the Reporting
Period. For the purpose of the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the Reporting Period, the Directors have
selected appropriate accounting policies, adopted applicable
accounting principles, made judgments and assessments that are
prudent and reasonable and ensured the accounts were prepared on
a going concern basis. The Directors have confirmed that the
Group’s financial statements were prepared in accordance with the
requirements of applicable laws and accounting principles. The
Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast doubt upon the ability of the
Company to operate as a going concern.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chow Kit Ting (B4tZ) (“Mr. Chow") and Ms. Chen Li (FR1)
(“Ms. Chen") are joint company secretaries of the Company.

From the Listing Date to 9 January 2025, Ms. Guo Yan ($B#E) served
as one of the joint company secretaries of the Company. With effect
from 9 January 2025, Ms. Guo Yan resigned as a joint company
secretary of the Company due to her other personal pursuit and the
Company appointed Ms. Chen as the other joint company secretary
of the Company. For details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 9 January 2025.

Ms. Chen currently has not yet possessed the relevant qualifications
as required under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, therefore, the
Company has applied to the Stock Exchange and was granted with a
waiver (the “Waiver”) by the Stock Exchange from strict compliance
with the requirements under Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules
for a period of three years commencing from the date of
appointment of Ms. Chen as a joint company secretary (the “Waiver
Period”). The conditions under which the Stock Exchange granted the
Waiver are: (i) Ms. Chen must be assisted by Mr. Chow during the
Waiver Period; and (i) the Waiver could be revoked if there are
material breaches of the Listing Rules by the Company. Before the
end of the Waiver Period, the Company must demonstrate and seek
the Stock Exchange’s confirmation that Ms. Chen, having had the
benefit of Mr. Chow's assistance during the Waiver Period, has
attained the relevant experience and is capable of discharging the
functions of a company secretary under Rule 3.28 of the Listing
Rules such that a further waiver will not be necessary. The Stock
Exchange may withdraw or change the Waiver if the Company’'s
situation changes.
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During the Reporting Period, Mr. Chow Kit Ting and Ms. Guo Yan
have confirmed that they received no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training respectively in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Directors shall on a Shareholder’s requisition forthwith proceed
to convene an extraordinary general meeting of the Company. A
Shareholder’s requisition is a requisition of one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of
the voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, of the issued
Shares which as of that date carry the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company. The Shareholder’s requisition must state
the objects and the resolutions to be added to the agenda of the
meeting and must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office in the Cayman lIslands, and may consist of several documents
in like form each signed by one or more requisitionists. If there are
no Directors as of the date of the deposit of the Shareholder’s
requisition or if the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
the deposit of the Shareholder’s requisition duly proceed to convene
a general meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the
requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of the requisitionists, may themselves
convene a general meeting, but any meeting so convened shall be
held no later than the day which falls three months after the
expiration of the said 21 day period.

The shareholders may put enquiries to the investor relations working
team of the Company via email (ir@plscn.com) or telephone
(86-021-60321928) as stated in this annual report.

EFFECTIVE COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has adopted the Shareholder Communication Policy.
The purpose of the policy is to ensure that Shareholders and
investors have equal and timely access to the Company's
information, enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an
informed manner, and allow them to participate actively in the
Ccompany'’s affairs.

The Company publishes updated information on its business
operations and development, financial data, corporate governance
practices and other information on its website for public access.
Meanwhile, the Company also receives enquiries from Shareholders
and investors, handling relevant information requests and ensuring
timely and effective communication with Shareholders and investors.
The Group had made effective development in investor relations in
2024 under the leadership and support of the Board and
management.
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The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholder Communication Policy during the Reporting Period, and
believes that the Company’s Shareholder Communication Policy has
been properly implemented and deemed effective during the
Reporting Period.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and risk management
systems on an annual basis so as to ensure that internal control and
risk management systems in place are adequate. The Board has
established a risk management and internal control system in
accordance with the requirements of paragraph D.2 under Part 2 of
the Corporate Governance Code. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Company also
has an internal audit function which primarily carries out the
analysis and independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems, and reports their findings to the Audit Committee
on, at least, an annual basis. In addition to the internal control and
internal audit functions, all employees are liable for risk management
and internal control within their business scope. Each business
department shall actively cooperate with the internal control and
internal review, report to the management on the important
development of the department’s business and the implementation
of policies and strategies established by the Company, and identify,
evaluate and manage major risks in time.

After risk assessment, the Company’s major risks in 2024 mainly
involve business risks, financial risks, compliance risks, inside
information and internal control risks. According to the specific
situation, the Company has formulated following practical and
feasible response plans to each of the risks to effectively manage
these risks:

Business risks: The business risks the Group mainly faces in respect
of its operations in the PRC include macro-environmental risks,
competition risks and sustainability risks. The Board regularly reviews
and identifies potential risks of the Group, and adjusts strategies and
policies on a timely manner, to ensure that the business risks are
controlled and managed.

Corporate Governance Report
ERERME

ExeCEHERRBABRRRBESHANE
EERARERIEE - YHEARFNKRRR
ARKERBREHAGHRERE  AER
RETZAR -

PR B 422 ) Bz [ B o B

EE0AR AR REZMA R A ARZES &R
REEHE  UAREAKSENEERBRFRE
& WEFmE A E AR ES KRR E
I E - REORE R AR R ) K R B E IR
EBRMD EFSCREBEEEEATRE2E
D.2 R HY R E 2 37 [ i T 3 e (Y 4 1 6
ZEIERRE B R R B IR IEHBR R A E B
BERNER MARERTEEEANK
BRI B R IEH AR IEB Y B RAE -
NAMBRAENG BB BT EHARTF
) B i T 3 e PR A I 6 B R 4 TR 10 B RUE
TAMEBILEE IEIBFRAEREZE
SERESOTNBILETNER - A EE
Bk AR ER S 2RE THHEKE
BRmEREERABEHEE - & XBHE
FIEERE S AMEH RN EES  MEE
ERERNBPIXBHEZERIARA QBN
HIERR BB - L& - FHE
REBBARR

R ERFFE% - ARAR2024FH L2
R EZYREGRR  BHRE - & 8RE
% REHERABENER - RRAERE
FEBR - EERR ST ERAITHEY
AHE AR ERNERR -

EBER  AREEENEHRREZER
TEMNEERR  BREBRERR  HFER
aRAFEERAR BFETHRNRE
R AR =B H) B R - 3 K B B AR AR N K
B EREBRRSIENRER -

LHMEEZERERATY —T-NFEFHR 47



Corporate Governance Report

TEERRE

Financial risks: The Group has adopted financial management
policies to control the Group’s financial risk exposure. Also, the
Board monitors the financial results and key operating statistics with
the assistance of the Group's internal finance department on a
regular basis.

Compliance risks: The Group has adopted internal procedures to
monitor the Group’s compliance risks to ensure that the Group has
complied with the applicable laws and regulations. In addition, the
Group engages legal advisers from time to time and compliance
adviser pursuant to Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules to keep the
Group updated with the latest development in the regulatory
environments. It also arranges compliance trainings on relevant laws
and regulations.

Inside information and internal control risks: The Group implements
and strictly enforces procedures relating to inside information in
accordance with the relevant procedures set out in the Information
Disclosure Management System of the Company. Before the
disclosure of relevant information to the public, the Company will
ensure that such information has been properly kept confidential
and will fulfil its obligation to notify and monitor persons aware of
inside information.

During the Reporting Period, the Group continued to improve risk
management policies and procedures, specify the risk management
structure and responsibilities. The Group identified major risks that
hinder the achievement of objectives and controlled them within
acceptable levels to ensure the achievement of business objectives,
the improvement of operational efficiency, the reliability of financial
reports and compliance with applicable laws and regulations and
other compliance requirements. The Board reviewed the risk
management and internal control during the Reporting Period and
concluded that, save for the adoption of more comprehensive
internal control measures to prevent re-occurrence of incidents
relating to the Company’s future investment as disclosed in the
paragraph headed "ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE REGARDING THE
QUALIFIED OPINION" in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this annual report, there had been no material
deficiency nor weakness in risk management and internal control
based on the outcome of the risk management and internal control
work implemented by the Group as of the Latest Practicable Date.
Further, the Board is of the view that the risk management and
internal control system of the Group is effective and sufficient.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

The Group has continuously improved the whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”) and system, publicly released the E-mail
address for whistleblowing, and emphasized the protection of
whistleblowers. It is the Group’s policy to make every effort to treat
all disclosures in a confidential and sensitive manner after receipt of
any relevant report from an employee or a relevant third party.
Upon receipt of any report, the HR department will evaluate the
validity and relevance of the concerns raised in such report, and to
decide if the reported matter falls under the scope of the
Whistleblowing Policy and whether an investigation is necessary.

The Group has always attached great importance to the construction
and implementation of its anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption
Policy”) and system. Directors and senior management of the
Company are responsible for ensuring the effective implementation
and in particular, the monitoring and investigation of any material
corruption committed within the Group. The Anti-Corruption Policy
clearly stipulates the improper payments, kickbacks and other forms
of bribery of its employees. In addition, the Group is committed to
dealing with its customers and suppliers in a fair, honest and
professional manner, and employees must act with due care and
diligence when evaluating prospective contractors and suppliers. The
Group’s policy is not to deal with suppliers and other potential
business partners known to be paying bribes and/or engaging in
corrupt activities.

AMENDMENT OF THE ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

There are no amendments of the Articles of Association that are
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(1) of the Listing Rules
during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

On 24 May 2024, Mr. Li lianbo and Mr. Zhong Jiesheng had resigned
as non-executive Directors with effect after the annual general
meeting due to their other personal commitment which requires
more of their dedications. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 24 May 2024.
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On 13 September 2024, Ms. Li Yingkai had tendered her resignation
as an independent non-executive Director in order to devote more
time to her other business engagements and the Board had
appointed Ms. Lin Feng as an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from the
same day. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 13 September 2024. Pursuant to Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules, Ms. Lin Feng had obtained the legal advice on 9
September 2024 and confirmed that she understood her obligations
as a Director of the Company.

Save as aforesaid, there are no changes in the information of the
Directors and senior management that are required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules during the Reporting
Period.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in the customised marketing solution, task and
marketers matching service, marketers assignment service and
SaaS+ subscription and other services in PRC.

Please refer to the sections headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report” in this annual report
for a review and the analysis using financial key indicators on the
Group’s business, major risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
and the future development of the Group’s business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during Reporting Period could be
found in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this annual report. The review and discussion form part of this
Directors’ report.

RELATIONS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The success of the Group relies on the support of important
relations such as employees, suppliers and customers. The Company
maintains a good relationship with its employees, customers and
suppliers in order to ensure smooth business operation.

RESULTS

The operating results of the Group during the Reporting Period are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 78 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the changes in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company adopted by the Board on
4 April 2023 is set out as follows. The declaration and payment of
dividends shall remain to be determined at the discretion of the
Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including without
limitation, restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Companies Act (Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961) of the Cayman Islands) and
the Articles of Association. The Board shall also take into account
the following factors when considering whether to propose dividends
and determining the dividend amount:

o actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
o shareholders’ interests;
o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

J liguidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

J taxation considerations;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions,

o general business conditions and strategies;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). Dividends of
RMBA4,589,000 during the year ended 31 December 2023 represented
special dividend paid by the Company to its Shareholders (2024: Nil).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group had engaged third-party
human resources agencies to pay social insurance and housing
provident funds for certain employees of the Group from 2020 to
2022. With a view to rectifying such agency arrangement, the
Ccompany plans to set up branch offices in not less than 25 cities in
the PRC (i.e. one branch office for one location) according to the
rectification schedule where the existing employees work and
transfer their social insurance and housing provident fund accounts
from third-party agencies to the newly established branch offices of
the Group.

As of 31 December 2024, the Company has set up over 50
branches, and the transfer of accounts for around 98.6% of the
employees whose social insurance and housing provident funds were
made through third-party human resources agencies has been
completed. The transfer of accounts for the remaining 1.4%, which
represented less than 2.0% of the total number of employees of the
company, is subject to practical difficulties which are beyond the
control of the Company, such as employees who were in medical
period, suffered injure accident, in the application of housing
provident fund loan or would be retired soon.

The Company will closely monitor the situation of the remaining
employees whose social insurance and housing provident funds are
still made through third-party human resources agencies as of
31 December 2024 and arrange to complete the rectification actions
as early as possible. Progress of such rectification actions will be
disclosed in the Company’s future annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as far as the Board is aware, during the
Reporting Period, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in all
material respects.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Directors have been granted a general mandate by the
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
24 May 2024 to repurchase no more than 10% of the total number
of issued Shares as of the date of passing of the relevant resolution,
amounting to 12,070,180 Shares (the “Repurchase Mandate”). From
September to October 2024, the Company had paid an aggregate of
HK$47,914,846 (excluding the transaction costs) to repurchase a total
of 4,891,600 Shares on the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Repurchase Mandate. As of the Latest Practicable Date, 4,891,600
repurchased Shares were held by the Company as treasury Shares.
A monthly breakdown of the purchases of Shares are as follows:

BE - HEIBEEAQF LHES

BEDN2024F5 A24 BEITH A A I I RA
FRELERERET —HRE# TBDT8
BEEEBAARTEBRBEACETROE
F10%HI %D » 112,070,180 % A% 17 ([ B 2] #5%
) o H2024F9AE10A » ARABIE X4
47,914,846 T (FBERSHA) @ LARIE
B o) A A B A2 P _E BB 1Bl & ££4,891,6000% %
BeoBEREATAYH A2 #HE
4,891,600 BRI IERERFK - BHEEER
R in B & B RRAE P a0 ¢

Highest
price paid

Number of (excluding the

Approximate
percentage of

the Shares
Lowest  repurchased
price paid of the total

(excluding the issued Shares

Shares transaction transaction as of the end
repurchased costs) costs) of the Period
BEHR
XATHY XK EEERG
BEER REERE EHEBITRAE
B E /Y (FEFE (TrE#iE HEEW
Period HE vl 4= RH ) REHEAE) BHAEIH
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(7% 7T) (7 7T) (7 JT)
From 1 September 2024 to 2024918 =

30 September 2024 20249 A30H 660,200 9.84 9.78 0.55%

From 1 October 2024 to 202410818 E
31 October 2024 202410 A31H 4,231,400 10.38 9.59 3.50%
Total et 4,891,600 10.38 9.59 4.05%

The repurchases of the Shares were for the purposes of benefiting
Shareholders as a whole in enhancing the return on net assets and
earnings per share of the Company.

Save for the aforesaid, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities (including sale of treasury shares) during the
Reporting Period.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

On 11 May 2023, the Shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. A total of 25,000,000 Shares with
a nominal value of US$0.0002 per share were issued under the initial
public offering. The offer price is HK$10.6 per Share (exclusive of
brokerage of 1.0%, SFC transaction levy of 0.0027%, AFRC
transaction levy of 0.00015% and Stock Exchange trading fee of
0.005%). The gross proceeds from the Listing were HK$265.0 million.
After careful consideration and detailed evaluation of the Group's
operations and business strategy, the Board has resolved to change
the use of the unutilised portion of the net proceeds from the initial
public offering, details of which were set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 22 November 2024. From the Listing Date and
up to 31 December 2024, the Group has progressively utilised the
proceeds from the initial public offering in accordance with the
intended use as set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 22 November 2024.
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The aggregate net proceeds from the initial public offering of the
Company’s Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, after
deduction of underwriting fees and other related expenses,
amounted to approximately HK$206.7 million (approximately
equivalent to RMB190.6 million). As of 31 December 2024, the
Company has utilised approximately HK$88.1 million of the proceeds
in total, representing approximately 42.6% of all raised net proceeds,
in accordance with the intended use set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 22 November 2024, with the unused portion
of the proceeds amounting to approximately HK$118.6 million. The
Company will continue to utilise the balance of the net proceeds
from the initial public offering in accordance with the usages and
proportions as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 22 November 2024. The details are set out as follows:

EMBREEBEANEMEEMAN%E  AAF
AR AD T B <5 BT £ AR & X A B 3 &5 89 P 18 3008
FREE RN AR206.7B8BE T (HERDARE
190.6E B 7T) - & £2024F 128318 * &R
RIEIRB AR A B A2024F 11 A22BH A
SHERTEARFERMEHIES £488185
B (R 2 EBE RS RIEFREL42.6%) » &
REAWSHRIBERI L AB118.6BEBTT ©
KRB EEZRBANT HEA2024%F11 A
2HHMAEMEBEENRARRLEMNERE XA
FE SRS RIEFREMNGREE - FBEROT

Revised net
Total Actual net amount
amount  Amount amount unutilised
before been Revised net utilised as of as of
change  adjusted Revised  proceeds 31 December 31 December
(HK$ (HK$  percentage (HK$ 2024 2024 Expected timeline for utilising the
Use of proceeds million) million) (%) million)  (HK$ million)  (HK$ million) unutilised net amount
BE2045F
BEH  WEN BEBT  ER20MF 12A31H
wE £ BB AERE 12A31BER BT
(B8 (B8 ok BE CEARE AERFE
FrERERS ) E) (%) (BB#R) (ABER) (ABEL) EARKAZENFEEEER
Enhancing the core technology 66.1 —0 32.0% 66.1 7.0 59.1  will be gradually used up to
capabilities and fundamental R&D 31 December 2027
of the Company
WEE DTN RIA N RERT S BESER  EE2027F128318
Pursuing strategic investment, 62.0 -62.0 - - - - -
acquisition and cooperation
EREMRE  WBRAHE
Enhancing the Company’s capabilities 424 +237 32.0% 66.1 249 412 will be gradually used up to
in sales and marketing 31 December 2027
REARANEEREHED BESER - BEZ2027%128318
Repaying the bank borrowings of the 155 - 7.5% 165 165 — fully used as of 30 June 2023
Company
REARANRTHER HZ2023F6A30AE2HEA
Working capital 20.7 +38.3 28.5% 59.0 407 183 will be gradually used up to
31 December 2027
LEES BESER  EE2027F128318
Total 206.7 - 1000% 2067 88.1 1186
5t
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Notes:

(1) The total amount of net proceeds to be used for “Enhancing the core
technology capabilities and fundamental R&D of the Group” would not
be changed whereas the use of such amount would be extended from
the (i) continuous maintaining and upgrading of the FMES platform and
digitalized tools; and (i) the establishment of a cloud-based sales and
marketing platform as a service (PaaS) system, to also include (iii) the
continuous maintaining and upgrading of the existing information
technology systems and to support general R&D needs of the Group.

(2)  The difference between the actual net proceeds from the initial public
offering and the previous estimation mainly represents underwriting
incentive fees, overtime payment to intermediaries and other
disbursements which were determined after the listing.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the names, principal places of business, places of
incorporation and issued share capital of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
Statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movement in the reserves of the Company during the

year ended 31 December 2024 are set out on note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s distributable reserves
amounted to approximately RMB375.2 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED DEBENTURE

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not issue corporate
bonds.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the Reporting Period, the Group's largest customer accounted
for 21.3% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 53.3% of the Group's total revenue. For the
Reporting Period, the Group's largest supplier accounted for 33.3%
of the Group’s total purchase. The Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for 59.8% of the Group’s total purchase.
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of the Directors or
their associates or any Shareholders who is expected to have 5% or
more of the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in
the top five suppliers and top five customers of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of the related party transactions
constitutes a connected transaction or continuing connected
transaction subject to independent Shareholders’ approval, annual
review and all disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) in relation to the
Director’'s and officer’s liability insurance is currently in force and
was in force during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of five Directors, including two
executive Directors (Mr. Sun Guangjun and Mr. Yang Hong) and three
independent non-executive Directors (Mr. Lau Man Tak, Ms. Lin Feng
and Mr. Ngan Wing Ho). Mr. Sun Guangjun is the Chairman of the
Board.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 29 to 36 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director or the
Company. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date or their respective
appointment date (as the case may be), which may be terminated
by not less than three months' notice in writing served by either of
the Director or the Company. Under the respective appointment
letters, each of the independent non-executive Directors is entitled
to a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of
Association.
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None of the Directors has entered a service contract with members
of the Group that cannot be terminated by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

REMUNERATIONS OF DIRECTORS SENIOR
MANAGEMENT AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for formulating,
reviewing and advising the Board on the remuneration policies and
packages for directors and senior management members of the
Company. Remuneration shall include but not limited to all salaries,
bonuses, allowances, benefits (in cash or in kind), pensions,
compensations (including compensation payable in respect of loss or
termination of office or appointment), options and gifting of shares.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the
Group are decided by the Board with reference to the
recommendation given by the Remuneration Committee, having
regard to the Group's operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. Details of emoluments of directors and
chief executive and the five highest paid individuals of the Group in
2024 are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report. Details of the remuneration of the
current senior management of the Company by band for the
Reporting Period are set out as follows:
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director, senior management or any of the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors
has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for the year ended
31 December 2024. Except as disclosed in this annual report, no
other payments have been made or are payable, for the year ended
31 December 2024, by our Group to or on behalf of any of the
Directors.
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EMPLOYEE AND EMOLUMENT POLICY

The remuneration and benefits for employees of the Group are
determined with reference to the market standards as well as
individual qualification and experience, performance bonus, and
other incentive systems established.

In order to improve the Company’s incentive mechanism, retain key
employees and promote sustainable growth of the Company’s
performance, as approved by the Board on 26 June 2023, the
Company has adopted the Share Award Scheme. For details of the
Share Award Scheme, please refer to “Share Award Scheme” in this
report of the Directors below.

During the Reporting Period, the Group sticked to the
people-oriented concept, continuously optimising the business
organisation structure, and improving the efficiency of teamwork. As
of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 7,342 employees (as
of 31 December 2023: 8,137).

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no transaction,
arrangement and contract of significance to which the Company or
its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or its connected entity has or had, in any way, whether
directly or indirectly, a material interest.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the Directors, the
directors of the Company’s subsidiaries or their respective
associates had any interest in a business, which competes or is
likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Company and its subsidiaries which would require disclosure under
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURE

As of 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
of the Directors and chief executive in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of the associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which is
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) or which is required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which is required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest
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Number of
Shares/underlying
shares held®

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding®

BERSG AR E
EEgA 5 RatE HEARDEHE® BOk®
Mr. Sun Guangjun Founder of a discretionary trust® 67,460,000 55.89%
Interest of controlled corporation®
REELE EREFAIMAC
R EE#ERY
Mr. Yang Hong Beneficial interest® 1,620,240 1.34%

Bt EREaY
Notes:

(1) All interest stated are long positions.

2) The calculation is based on the total number of 120,701,800 Shares in
issue as of 31 December 2024.

(3)  As of the Latest Practicable Date, Guangjun Holdings is held as to 99%
by Summit Plus, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Sun’s Family Trust and
as to 1% by Junshu Holdings, which in turn is wholly-owned by
Mr. Sun Guangjun, respectively. Mr. Sun’s Family Trust was established
by Mr. Sun Guangjun as the settlor for the benefit of Mr. Sun
Guangjun and Junshu Holdings with Trident Trust as the trustee. Under
the SFO, Mr. Sun Guangjun is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Guangjun Holdings.
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(2 HRNEZE2024F 1283180 &TRMDEH
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(3 #EZ&%P1THH - Guangjun Holdingses
Summit Plus (RFREERIEETE AR ) ¥
H99% » HJunshu Holdings# &1% - M
Junshu Holdings R EEE L A2 EHE - &
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(4)  As of the Latest Practicable Date, Guangjun Sun Holdings is wholly
owned by Junshu Holdings, which in turn is wholly-owned by Mr. Sun
Guangjun. Under the SFO, Mr. Sun Guangjun is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Guangjun Sun Holdings.

(5)  As of the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Yang Hong is interested in
1,620,240 Shares which underlines his 18.84% equity interests in Kuweli
Holdings.

RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

No arrangements to which the Company, any of its subsidiaries is or
was a party enabling the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisitions of shares or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate subsisted
during the Reporting Period.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of 31 December 2024, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
the following persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares, which would be required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be
recorded in the register of the Company required to be kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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"

Name

=L

Nature of Interest

EEME

Approximate

Percentage of
Shareholding

in the Total

Issued Share

Number of Capital of the

Ms. Tan Hui (E )@
BE40

Summit Plus®
Summit Plus®

Guangjun Sun Holdings®”
Guangjun Sun Holdings®”

Junshu Holdings“
Junshu Holdings“

Guangjun Holdings®
Guangjun Holdings®

Mr. Xia lingtang (B £3)©
SREE

Ms. Yan Xiaohang (&&/J\f1)?
Bz £

Interest of spouse
B B 1 ==

Interest in controlled corporation
AR

Beneficial owner
Em#EA A

Interest in controlled corporation
AR

Beneficial owner
EEEA A

Founder of a discretionary trust
Interest in controlled corporation
RREFTEIMA
I AEER

Interest of spouse
B B 1 ==

Shares held® Company®
RAELQF

E2HE BT

BERSG BRANEN
BEO REBILLO
67,460,000 55.89%
52,460,000 43.46%
15,000,000 12.43%
15,000,000 12.43%
52,460,000 43.46%
10,680,000 8.85%
10,680,000 8.85%
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding
in the Total
Issued Share
Number of Capital of the
Name Nature of Interest Shares held® Company®
RAERQF
2 BT
BFERG BREHEBLD
=L Mt E BEO REBDLLO
Jonson Xia Smile Holdings® Interest in controlled corporation 7,180,000 5.95%
Jonson Xia Smile Holdings® Ry A E R
Hannah Xia Holdings® Beneficial owner 7,180,000 5.95%
Hannah Xia Holdings® EmEAA
Trident Trust®®© Trustee 59,640,000 49.41%
BRIEFEO HFEA
Kuwei Holdings Beneficial owner 8,380,400 6.94%
Kuwei Holdings E=EERAA
CMB Wing Lung (Trustee) Limited® Trustee 6,208,000 5.14%
BREKEETEERAR® HFEA
Plus Group 2023 Limited® Beneficial owner 6,208,000 5.14%
Plus Group 2023 Limited® Em#EA A
Notes: Hat

(M

@

64

All interests stated are long positions.

Ms. Tan Hui is the spouse of Mr. Sun Guangjun. Under the SFO, Ms. Tan
Hui is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Sun
Guangjun.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Summit Plus is wholly-owned by
Mr. Sun’s Family Trust, which in turn is wholly-owned by Mr. Sun
Guangjun.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, Guangjun Sun Holdings is
wholly-owned by Junshu Holdings, which in turn is wholly-owned by
Mr. Sun Guangjun. Under the SFO, Mr. Sun Guangjun is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Guangjun Sun Holdings.
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(5)  As of the Latest Practicable Date, Guangjun Holdings is held as to 99%
by Summit Plus, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Sun’s Family Trust and
as to 1% by Junshu Holdings, which in turn is wholly-owned by
Mr. Sun Guangjun, respectively. Mr. Sun’s Family Trust was established
by Mr. Sun Guangjun as the settlor for the benefit of Mr. Sun
Guangjun and Junshu Holdings with Trident Trust as the trustee. Under
the SFO, Mr. Sun Guangjun is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Guangjun Holdings.

(6) As of the Latest Practicable Date, Hannah Xia Holdings is held as to
99% by Jonson Xia Smile Holdings, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Xia's
Family Trust and as to 1% by Jonson Xia Holdings, which in turn is
wholly-owned by Mr. Xia Jingtang, respectively. Mr. Xia's Family Trust
was established by Mr. Xia lJingtang as the settlor for the benefit of
Mr. Xia Jingtang and Jonson Xia Holdings with Trident Trust as the
trustee. Under the SFO, Mr. Xia Jingtang is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Hannah Xia Holdings.

(7) Ms. Yan Xiaohang is the spouse of Mr. Xia Jingtang. Under the SFO,
Ms. Yan Xiaohang is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Mr. Xia Jingtang.

(8) On 26 June 2023, the Board has resolved to adopt a share award
scheme with CMB Wing Lung (Trustee) Limited as the trustee. As of
the Latest Practicable Date, CMB Wing Lung (Trustee) Limited
wholly-controlled Plus Group 2023 Limited, which held 6,208,000
Shares that were purchased from the open market for the purposes of
the share award scheme.

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (other than the Director or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the
register to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, (i) no contract of significance
was entered into by, and/or subsisted between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the Reporting Period; and (i) there is no contract
of significance in relation to provision of services by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement (as defined in Section 6 of Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation (Cap 622D of the Laws of Hong Kong)).
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management of the Company, the controlling
shareholders or their respective connected persons.

RSU SCHEME

On 13 January 2022, the adoption of the RSU Scheme was approved
by the Board. The purpose of the RSU Scheme is to incentivise
employees, Directors, officers, and consultants for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of the
Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company. Robert Sun Holdings was incorporated in
the BVI for the purpose of holding Shares for grant under the RSU
Scheme. For details, see "Appendix IV — Statutory and General
Information — D. Other Information — 1. RSU Scheme” in the
Prospectus.

Details of the underlying Shares under the RSU Scheme during the
Reporting Period are set out below:

BERERFRR
HE2024F 128318 IEFE » AEBETEY
R AT E AR RFA ©

EXRRER
HE2024F12A3MBLEFE AEBTEER
EXEERARGES  aREERE  ZREK
HEFESENEBALIEREREIRERK
REAEAER -

5 PR %I A% 10 BE v 5T &l

202241 A138 - EF@RERANZREIRK
DENFE c ZRHBRODEMTSEEER
MES - #%  aABRE MERREEEAR
AR ENgE  BERSEARNEBRELER
WS - B RBREREREREENET
BREBRRKERERIERMS 7 - Robert
Sun Holdingsi & & fe 2 F¥ B sk A AL - LAFE
ERBEZBHIRMEMTERENEGD -F
S B2HBRERINEN — A8
—RER — D.EMEM — 1.XBRHKRGE

(v

R B S IR FI A0 B Az Bl ME R (D &
BEINWT :

Outstanding

as of

Outstanding as of 31 December

Name of the grantee Position held Grant date® 1 January 2024  Granted Vested Lapsed  Cancelled® 2024
BE20uF

BE204F 128318

ERAEH AR R AHO 1ATAMRTE BRE E5E B A CRHE ¥ R 1T
Mr. Yang Hong Executive Director 31 March 2023 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 —

and vice president
of the Company
RTEERARA

Bl

BHEE 2023%3A317

Notes:

(1) All interests stated are long positions. The grantee of the RSUs granted
under the RSU Scheme as referred to in the table above was not
required to pay for the grant or exercise of any RSUS.

(2) A total of 1,000,000 Shares granted on 31 March 2023 under the RSU
Scheme to Mr. Yang Hong have been cancelled with nil purchase price
by the Company on 17 May 2024.

As of the Latest Practicable Date, none of the RSUs under the RSU
Scheme are outstanding. The Company will not issue or grant
further RSUs under the RSU Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 26 June 2023, the Board resolved to adopt the Share Award
Scheme to (i) recognise and reward certain eligible participants for
their performance and contribution to the growth and development
of the Group; (ii) to provide such eligible participants with incentives
in order to encourage and retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group; and (iii) to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. Pursuant to the Share Award
Scheme, (i) employees of the Group; and (ii) any persons who have
contributed to the Group in the past and/or are in the interests of
the long-term growth of the Group are eligible to participate in, and
be granted Awards under the Scheme. On the same day, the
Company entered into a trust deed (the “Trust Deed”) with CMB
wing Lung (the “Trustee”) in respect of the appointment of the
trustee for the administration of the Share Award Scheme.

According to the scheme rules (the “Scheme Rules”), the Board may,
either before or after identification of the grantee(s), cause to be
paid to the Trustee or the trust holdco (a company as a company
wholly-owned by the Trustee to act as the Trustee) such amount as
may be required for the purchase of existing Shares from the
market as the awarded shares (the “Awarded Shares”) for the Share
Award Scheme and other purposes set out in the Scheme Rules and
the Trust Deed. The aggregate number of Shares to be awarded by
the Board under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company (i.e. being no more than
6,260,020 Shares) as of the adoption date of the Share Award
scheme (the "Adoption Date") (i.e. 26 June 2023). The number of
Shares awarded to each grantee under the Share Award Scheme
shall not exceed the percentage cap as determined by the Board of
the issued share capital of the Company as of the Adoption Date in
accordance with the Listing Rules and all applicable laws. The Board
may at any time on any business day during the scheme period
grant an award (the "Award”) to any eligible participant, as the Board
may in its absolute discretion select. Subject to and in accordance
with the Scheme Rules, the Listing Rules and all applicable laws, the
Board may, on a case-by-case basis and at its discretion, impose
any conditions, restrictions or limitations before the Award can vest
as it sees fit.

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of (i) the 10th anniversary
of the Adoption Date; (i) the date the last of the Awarded Shares
has been vested and the last of the Awarded Shares transferred to
the relevant Grantee or the last of the Awarded Shares has been
settled, lapsed, forfeited or cancelled (as the case may be) in
accordance with the Scheme Rules;, and (iii) such date as
determined by the Board provided that such termination shall not
affect any subsisting rights of any grantee hereunder.
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Report of the Directors
EXEHRE

For details of the Share Award Scheme, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 26 June 2023 and 28 June
2023.

During the Reporting Period, the Trustee did not purchase any
Shares on the open market for the purpose of the Share Award
Scheme. No Awarded Shares had been granted to any grantees
under the Share Award Scheme as of the Latest Practicable Date.
6,208,000 Shares were available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme as of the Latest Practicable Date, representing
approximately 5.14% of the total Shares of the Company in issue.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules, the total number of
shares that may be issued in respect of the Awarded Shares under
the Share Award Scheme during the Reporting Period divided by the
weighted average number of shares of the relevant class in issue for
the period was 0.73.

Pursuant to Rule 17.09(3) of the Listing Rules, the total number of
Shares of the Company available for issue under the Share Award
Scheme is 52,020 Shares, representing approximately 0.04% of the
120,701,800 Shares of the Company in issue as of the date of this
annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer pre-emptive rights of new shares to existing
Shareholders on their shareholding proportion.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as of the Latest Practicable Date and to the best knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained
the minimum public float required by the Stock Exchange since the
Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters,
no contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or in existence as of the end of the year or at any time
during the Reporting Period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Board reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters
including the review of the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year and has recommended their adoption by the Board.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment
protection and has not noted any material incompliance with all
relevant laws and regulations in relation to its business including
health and safety, workplace conditions, employment and the
environment. The Group has implemented environmental protection
measures and has also encouraged staff to be environmental-
friendly at work by consuming the electricity and paper according to
actual needs, so as to reduce energy consumption and minimise
unnecessary waste. Further details of the Group’s environmental
policies and performance will be disclosed in the environmental,
social and governance report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware that any holders of securities of the
Company are entitled to any tax relief or exemption by reason of
their holding of such securities.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. Based on
their confirmation, the Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent under the Listing Rules.

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE
BEEEH
REFRESORECRI BEFRAR

BEREMFERE RETUXFEEAEH
E2HREMERBONEBEENEERIT
BEH -

EREES

E=eERZ B HEEEEHAKRER
MR EETRAINER - WHLERT - WEHEHI K
MBEREELETIw ETEREHFA
MEEFGAMBRER  LEBEZTE TN

BREBRERR
AEERSEERRRAENEEE - AX T
REBHEBEEMERNERMERBRZERR
ER(BREEEELE  TESMERE  EE
ERF)NBER AEECEERRERER
B YEBETRERERFTECAEILR
MR - AETEEBITIRER - EME A aEIRA
MR TIBENRE - AAASERER
RERBRE—TFHE - BRARAEZE2024
FIR2ANABLEFEMNRE HELRERRE
FE -

BERZR#R
ARRATNEEEMEARNBLEE AR
BAEBWES MARESTAHELRN
#He

BYFYTESHIABLMN

ARRDWE S BUIFATESTNFEE L
HRERE - RERENER - ARAR/RE
EWRA - 2RBYIIFRTEEHR/BEILA
+ o

LHMEEZERERATY —T-NFFHR 69



Report of the Directors
EXEHRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance for enhancing the management of the Company as well
as preserving the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The
Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as its own code to govern its corporate
governance practices. In the opinion of the Directors, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in the Corporate Governance
Code during the Reporting Period. The Board will continue to review
and monitor the practices of the Company with an aim to maintain
a high standard of corporate governance. Information on the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 37 to 50 of this
annual report.

AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2024, CL Partners CPA Limited has
served as the independent external auditor of the Company. The
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual report
have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited.

On 21 May 2024, the Board has received a letter from
PricewaterhouseCoopers in respect of their decision not to stand for
re-appointment as the auditors of the Company upon expiration of
their term of office at conclusion of the annual general meeting held
on 24 May 2024. Subsequently, at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 15 July 2024, CL Partners CPA Limited was
appointed as the auditors of the Company. For details, see
announcements of the Company dated 21 May 2024 and 15 July
2024, respectively.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There was no other significant subseqguent event undertaken by the
Group subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Plus Group Holdings Inc.

Sun Guangjun
Chairman and CEO

Shanghai, the PRC
31 March 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

@L Partners

To the Shareholders of Plus Group Holdings Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Plus Group
Holdings Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 184, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter
described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standard as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024, in September 2023, the Group
invested HK$30,000,000 (equivalent to RMB27,187,000) and
HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to RMB9,062,000) respectively in two
investments with guaranteed return rates of 5.15% and 5.10%
respectively, which were both private offshore funds (the “Funds”)
newly established in the Cayman Islands. The Funds were classified
as other financial assets at amortised cost in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023. The Group
did not accrue for any guaranteed returns from the Funds for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. In March 2024, the Group
redeemed the Funds and collected the investment principal together
with return amounted to HK$40,330,000 (equivalent to
RMB36,595,000). The Group’s management was not able to obtain
supporting documents about the balance of the Funds, the
underlying assets held by the Funds and the value of the Funds as
at 31 December 2023 and at the date of redemption.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor (the
“Predecessor Auditor”) who expressed a qualified opinion due to a
limitation of audit scope concerning the Funds on those financial
statements. The Predecessor Auditor was unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy themselves as to the
commercial substance of the transactions related to the Funds and
to the accuracy, existence, classification, valuation, and presentation
of the Funds and whether the effects of these transactions related
to the Funds, including the related cashflows, have been properly
accounted for and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements
as at and for the year ended 31 December 2023.

In March 2024, the Group redeemed the Funds resulting in a gain on
redemption of other financial assets at amortised cost amounted to
approximately HK$333,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB302,000)
which was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2024. The closing balances of the assets and liabilities of
the Group as at 31 December 2023 were brought forward as the
opening balances as at 1 January 2024 and hence entered into the
determination of the financial performance of the Group for the
current financial year ended 31 December 2024. Any adjustment that
might have been found necessary to the opening balance of the
Funds as at 1 January 2024 might have material effects on the
Group’s results and cash flows for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024 and related disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we were unable to
determine whether adjustments might have been necessary in
respect of the performance and cash flows of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we
have determined the matter described below to be the key audit
matter to be communicated in our report.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

Key Audit Matter
REESAEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RANESA N MEEARENEE

Revenue recognition based on output method.
EREL AN AR -

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised total revenue of approximately
RMB1,046,361,000 over time as the customers
simultaneously receive and consume the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance. Furthermore,
revenue recognition of the Group over time were based
on output method, which were recorded on the basis of
direct measurement of the value of services provided to
the customers to date relative to the remaining services
promised to be completed under the service contracts.
Significant management judgements and estimates were
involved in determination of the value of service
provided and therefore, we considered this was a key
audit matter.
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Rz AR EEERERBHEERPREEEMNEX
B R AT Bt - PR AU HERENEFTSIE -

Refer to notes 4(a) and 5 to the consolidated financial
statements for details.
HERLERE M RERM EL@) &5 °

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023, were audited by another auditor who
expressed a qualified opinion on those statements on 28 March
2024 in respect of a limitation of audit scope concerning the Funds
as described in the Basis of Qualified Opinion section above.
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Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition
included:
BIBEWAEREENREF B :

(@  Understanding the processes and evaluating the key
controls of revenue recognition from service
contracts based on output method;

(@ MWMEELZETHRERGESHKRABRGERTEE

AEH]

(b)  Checking the accuracy of the contract sum to signed
contracts or job orders and/or other relevant

correspondences;
b) BREANBEETEIER SEMABEEALE
BEQHNEREE

(c)  Performing substantive procedures by checking the
underlying supporting documents of services
provided, on a sample basis; and

() BRMEREMERREOMEEZFXGHAITER
Br R

(d) Discussing with management and obtaining
corroborative evidence to consider the revision of
revenue estimation made by management based on
supporting documents, if any.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. Since we were unable to obtain sufficient
appropriate evidence about the commercial substance of the
transactions related to the Funds and the accuracy, existence,
classification, valuation and presentation of the Funds, we were
unable to determine whether the carrying amount of the Funds as at
31 December 2023 were free from material misstatements.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B ZBERE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Ting
Practising Certificate Number: P0O7069

Hong Kong
31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEBEEkEMZEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR¥E TR ARETTT
Revenue & 5 1,046,361 725,948
Cost of services PR 75 A AR 7 (921,984) (631,086)
Gross profit EA 124,377 94,862
Administrative expenses THHRX 7 (79,811) (92,643)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHAX 7 (28,755) (21,072)
Research and development expenses ER T 7 (16,562) (29,284)
Other income H bz A 6 11,941 20,271
Other gains, net b U s 5 BR 6 13,025 45,614
Impairment losses on trade receivables, Z 5 EWHIE - BHEE K
contract assets and other receivables — H b EW K IBERERIE  28.1(b) (2,276) (372)
Operating profit Feg =gl 21,939 17,376
Finance income B T A 10 3,505 4,920
Finance costs B 75 K 2R 10 (3,811) (3,360)
Finance (costs) income, net B s (AR ) WA 5 58 (306) 1,560
Share of results of associates i AN E S 16 119 72
Profit before income tax BR B 15 %4 A1 3 F 21,752 19,008
Income tax expenses FrisHif = 11 (7,967) (7,506)
Profit for the year FRER 13,785 11,502
Profit and total comprehensive income FE{h & REFI & 2 H W &
for the year attributable to: B
Owners of the Company KRABEB A 13,008 11,502
Non-controlling interests FE 12 IR e 2 777 —
13,785 11,502
Earnings per share attributable to the ZAATHEEABEESREF
owners of the Company
Basic and diluted (expressed in RMB per ZE:7K K #5&
share) (AZREAREETR) 12 0.11 0.10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
E MR R R

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARE T AR FIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment B &% 14 1,406 1,363
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 3,192 279
Investments in associates REEE DRI IRE 16 4,666 4,547
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 17 1,259 1,119
10,523 7,308
Current assets REBEE
Trade receivables B 5 EWFKIE 18 329,443 276,346
Deposits, other receivables and e - HitbEUGRIE KRB
prepayments KIA 18 103,920 21,989
Contract assets BHEE 19 197,153 164,442
contract costs B HIBA 5 22 981
Other financial assets at amortised cost & # 845k R 5+ 8 H) H {th
EREE 20 — 36,249
Cash and cash equivalents HekReFEEY 21 159,647 190,976
790,185 690,983
Total assets EE#E 800,708 698,291
EQUITY =
Share capital [N 22 159 165
Share premium & 15 %= B8 193,755 213,645
Other reserves H b & 23 76,638 94,283
Retained earnings IR &BH 207,003 200,089
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEIEB AEG#EZR
Company 477,555 508,182
Non-controlling interests FE 12 I e 2 2,110 —
Total equity ERAER 479,665 508,182
THMEEMERERAT —T-WFEFH 79



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

mEMBM R T
As at 31 December
MW12H31H
2024 2023
2024 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Ff 5 AR®T T AREBFTT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liability FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 5 1,224 5
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables B 5 I H At & {5 5/ I8 25 176,129 126,534
Contract liabilities AHBE 19 38,640 7,259
Amounts due to non-controlling FE AT > B A% A% 2R FRIE
shareholders 27 33,953 —
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 2,346 231
Borrowings EE 26 64,148 55,000
Tax payables FERT IR 4,603 1,080
319,819 190,104
Total liabilities EERE 321,043 190,109
Total equity and liabilities Rk AEARE 800,708 698,291

HRFE7SEEFIMENZERATHRED
R2025F3 A31 B EZE St E RIEEETI

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 184 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31

March 2025 and are signed by: WHIATALERE :
Sun Guangjun Yang Hong
Director Director
EF EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARBAELE

Share Other Non-
capital Share reserves  Retained controlling

(Note 22) ~ Premium  (Note 23)  earnings  Sub-total interests Total Equity
Bx Rttt
(Wit22) BROEE (WHE23) RERA Mt FERER  BRAR
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR%TR AR%TR AR®TR

Balance as at 1 January 2024 R2024%181R 844 165 213,645 94,283 200,089 508,182 — 508,182

Profit and total comprehensive  FEREFIR 2 E KR

income for the year ag — — — 13,008 13,008 777 13,785
Capital contribution from REVEERRFERLE

a non-controlling shareholder — — — — — 1,333 1,333
Share repurchase (note 23) RPBR (Hit23) — — (43,579) — (43,579) — (43,579)
Cancellation of shares repurchased  EHBERRG (47:223)

(note 23) G)  (19,890) 19,839 - (56) - (56)
Cancellation of restricted share  BUE IR #1AR {7 B

unit scheme (note 23) &l (4123 ) - 1 — — — —
Transfer to statutory reserves BREETRE — — 6,094 (6,094) — — —

Balance as at 31 December 2024  #2024%E12 310/
g8 159 193,755 76638 207,003 477,555 2110 479,665

Balance as at 1 January 2023 R2023F1 A1 B &R 130 — 15199 194370 346,494 — 346,49

Profit and total comprehensive FREFRZALR

income for the year ECk — = = 11,502 11,502 = 11,502
Contribution from shareholder RREE = = 1,567 = 1,567 = 1,567
Shares issued pursuant to inial ~ REREARAZ S

public offering on the Main FIBRARERE

Board of The Stock Exchange of  BRARBEX{TNRNL

Hong Kong Limited (the (TEm])

“listing") 35 233,967 — — 234,002 — 234,002
Listing expenses capitalised upon ~ EHEAREA{E L

the Listing % = (15,733) — = (15,733) = (15,733)
Share repurchase (note 23) RinEE (H223) = = (65,061) = (65,061) = (65,061)
Payment of special dividend SRR (Hra13)

(note 13) — (4,589) — — (4,589) — (4,589)
Transfer to statutory reserves EREETRE = = 5,783 (5,783) = = =

Balance as at 31 December 2023 #2023 12 831 B #
& 165 213,645 94,283 200,089 508,182

508,182
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERERER

Year ended 31 December

HZE128318LEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®T T ARETTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHAEBRERE
Net cash (used in) from operations & (FTR) PS8 € %58 29(a) (68,466) 28,699
Income tax paid 21 FTiS R (851) (18,815)
Net cash (used in) from operating LEED) (FTA) TBRE
activities Pkl (69,317) 9,884
Cash flows from investing activities REZBHNRSRE
Redemption of other financial assets at & 2] 3% & §5 X AN 51 & 7Y
amortised cost Hih S pt & E 36,595 —
Interest received 2 FE 3,505 4,920
Proceeds from disposal of plant and & B B & R% 1 1S 3R
equipment 1 20
Purchase of plant and equipment BE WS KR (560) (863)
Subscription of other financial assets at REEIRE K ANt E R E A
amortised cost TREE — (36,249)
Advance to controlling shareholder m) 422 % A 2R A 50 — (2,674)
Repayment from controlling shareholder 2 i% i% 3 22 7% — 2,674
Net cash from (used in) investing WEEHE(FTA)ES
activities R 39,541 (32,172)
Cash flows from financing activities METHNRSRE
Proceeds from bank borrowings SR1T 18 P15 BE 123,198 85,000
Capital contribution from REDVEIEBRBERA L E
a non-controlling shareholders 1,333 —
Advance from non-controlling B Y AR BR EA SR
shareholders 76,453 =
Repayment to non-controlling ) A B4 IR AR 3R 8 5K
shareholders (42,500) =
Repayment to bank borrowings ERIBITER (114,050) (91,273)
Shares repurchase & 15 = (43,579) (65,061)
Interest paid 21 F 2 2,174) (2,003)
Repayment to lease liabilities (including EEHE&E
interest expense) (BHEMNERZ) (2,510) (2,648)
Cancellation of shares repurchased T EHEE B IR 1D (56) —
Payment to listing expenses ST EWRAX — (10,399)
Proceeds from the Listing TS 5IR — 234,002
Dividend paid to shareholders KA T AR R A AR B — (4,589)
Advance from controlling shareholder 7 A% % R AR — 89
Net cash (used in) from financing BEEE (FTH) SR E
activities Pkl (3,885) 143,118
Net (decrease) increase in cash and BERBLEEY D)
cash equivalents HNFE & (33,661) 120,830
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ & &8 R 5 £ 2,332 7,442
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#¥E & RELEEY
of the year 190,976 62,704
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRAESRATEEY
of the year 21 159,647 190,976
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
30 September 2021 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961 as
amended or supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time) of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
May 2023. The address of the Company's registered office is
71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1106, Cayman Islands. The Company’'s principal place of
business in Hong Kong is located at Room 1202, 12/F, Sun
House, 90 Connaught Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the customised
marketing solution, tasks and marketers matching service,
marketers assignment service and SaaS+ subscription and
other services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
The ultimate holding company of the Company is Junshu
Holdings Limited. The ultimate controlling party of the
Company is Mr. Sun Guangjun (“Mr. Sun”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRHE

—RER
KABR2021F9AN0BEHREHEIR
BRSHEAEE2E (1961FF350E
B A BE (BN RS R sk 72 3 A M
FRERFMRIAZREERA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M EmRME

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2 EAMIR ,%jé{l’t‘Té,% Bt 75
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS HEA T ER
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that RAFE R £ A E B IR
are mandatorily effective for the current year EREASTEAEET A

84

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the

$EIF$¢FE§ME%m§%§E
Mrg((BESFMAG])EM B

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the

202441 A1 B rO AN 5 [ 4 2 1 ] o
ERE)A T BB RS ER g5t &R
ERTA - LARR BUR B IS 3R -

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16
TN B BWE LA F 165 (BT 4)

Amendments to HKAS 1

BREGTEANE1H (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1
BB ERE 15 (BT A)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
BErEHENEERE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non current and
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
NEBEARBIIEMBAREEREESHRIEMHE
1&37] (20204 )

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
HEERIEREB AR

Supplier Finance Arrangements

FRERTERE7R LB BN RS LR
EVEACCHENS)

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME
APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2 BRG] REETT & EI R
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS HEASER (&)
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

ERMBREERNER NEB N B ImEER

F75 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

ERMBREERNESRNEB N B ImEER

75 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

ERMBREEE0R KB E S ER

F285% (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards

B BB WA BB 3R] (15T A)

Amendments to HKAS 21
BB G ERE215 (BFTA)

HKFRS 18
BBMBMEERE185R

{ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be {

E 8 18 e AR 4 S0 B9 3R] R A4S
AERMBHREENGER

7% 55 (B 3F 442 78 A LA TS 2 MR 418 14 R
IR AT AR 1S 3T B 8 B 15 R o 2R

TEE LR

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments?
TR T ASERFE (BFTA)3

Contracts Referencing Nature — Dependent Electricity?
W RIEKFEEAREENET S 2643

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’
REEHABEARNEELE L ANEEHES
EET

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 113
BB HmEENSFTERNEELE — £11568

Lack of Exchangeability?
TR = Al a2

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*
B 75 R R 51 3 N 4 R4

R E B Bk 2 & 16 M F R HIR &

determined. R o
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 M2025F1 A1 2 B RIEHIFEH
fA ’EE’)@Z °
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. 3 1202651 A 18 3k 2 1& F 46 H & 5 B
F AR -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. g M2027F1 A1 B2 & FABRKFEH

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

other new and

& EE’;K °

MBEBRRTREATE -

LZHMEEERERAT —T-NFEFR

B T X AT 3] R ERT BB 53R
SRERNEHEAIN  RAREEEHE
FIFrA B ] RGBT BB MBS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

86

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard,
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be disclosed
in the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor
amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33
Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of the
new standard is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange of goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

e M |RME
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M |RME

88

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be used to
measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurements in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

— Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

— Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly;, and

— Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(@) Subsidiaries

(1)

consoliaation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated fully from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of
financial position, respectively.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i) Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's
net assets including goodwill.

(i) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate
reserve within equity attributable to owners of the
Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Changes in ownership interests (Continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss where appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
(Continued)

(b)

()

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This
is generally the case where the Group holds between
15% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.

Equity accounting

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the
Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive
income of the investee in other comprehensive income.
Dividends received or receivable from associates are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the
investment.

When the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of equity accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is

tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in “Impairment of non-financial assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segment is reported in @ manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the chairman of the
Group that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(@) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income within “other gains — net".

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was determined.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial
position;

o income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold
or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss
on sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their costs to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives or, in case of leasehold
improvements, the shorter lease term, as follows:

Leasehold improvement
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adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount in accordance with the
policy described in “impairment of non-financial assets”.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “Other gains — net” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Such determination is made on an evaluation of
the substance of the arrangement, regardless of whether the
arrangements take the legal form of a lease.

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessee with
respect to certain leased offices.

Leases are initially recognised as a right-of-use asset and
corresponding liability at the date of which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
asset’s estimated useful life and the lease term. If the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’'s useful life.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate,

amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option;

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option; and

lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be determined, or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses if any. Cost comprises the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentive received,

o any initial direct costs; and
o restoration costs, if any.

The carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is tested for
impairment in accordance with the policy described in
“impairment of non-financial assets”.

Payments for short-term leases are recognised on a straight-
line basis as an expense. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets

(@)

(b)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

a) Those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income “OCI”
or through profit or loss); and

b) Those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes. If collection of the amounts is expected in one
year or less they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current assets. The
Company’s and the Group’s financial assets comprise
trade receivables, contract assets, deposits and other
receivables, other financial assets at amortised cost, and
cash and cash equivalents.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

(o)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial asset carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit
and loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains
— net together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

o FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
gains — net. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange
gains and losses are presented in other gains — net
and impairment expenses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

o FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net within other gains
— net in the period in which it arises.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
Financial assets (Continued)
(d) Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses (“ECL") associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

ECL provision is a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over
the expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
assets. The provision matrix is determined based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of
the trade receivables and contract assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and is adjusted for
forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date the
historical observed default rate is updated and changes
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment on deposits and other receivables is
measured as either 12-month expected credit losses
("12m ECL") or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then
impairment is measured as lifetime ECL.

For other financial assets at amortised cost and cash and
cash equivalents, management considers that their credit
risks have not increased significantly since initial
recognition with reference to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
where the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.
There was no financial asset and liability offset during the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised at
fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables from certain customers of the Group, whose
contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, were factored to reputable financial institutions
under non-recourse factoring arrangement according to the
Group's daily fund management needs. These trade
receivable’s business model is therefore achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling of these assets
and measures them subsequently at FVTOCI.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and
assumes performance obligations to provide services to the
customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations give rise to a net asset or a net liability depending
on the relationship between the remaining rights and the
performance obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets if the measure of the remaining
rights exceeds the measure of the remaining performance
obligation. Contract assets are recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Conversely, a contract liability represents the Group’s
obligation to transfer the aforesaid services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset becomes a receivable when the entity’s right
to consideration is unconditional, which is the case when only
the passage of time is required before payment of the
consideration is due.

Contract assets are reclassified to receivables when the right
to the consideration has become unconditional.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, cash at bank and other
financial institutions with original maturities of three months or
less.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In
this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To
the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statements of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance
cost.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least 12 months after the period-end date.

Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the year in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax

The income tax expense or credit for the year is the tax
payable on the current year’'s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(@)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Current and deferred tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Employee benefits
(@ Pension obligations

The Group only operate defined contribution pension
plans. In accordance with the rules and regulations in the
PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group participate
in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the
PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries. The municipal and provincial
governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit
obligations of all existing and future retired PRC based
employees’ payable under the plans described above.
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no
further obligation for the payment of retirement and
other post-retirement benefits of its employees. The
assets of these plans are held separately from those of
the Group in independently administrated funds managed
by the governments.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution
retirement scheme are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised housing
funds, medical insurances and other social insurance
plan. The Group contributes on a monthly basis to these
funds based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's liability
in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each year. Contributions to the housing funds,
medical insurances and other social insurances are
expensed as incurred.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or when an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (@) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the
entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets and involves the payment of
terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to
encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits
are measured based on the number of employees
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to present value.

e M |RME

SRBRERNENE
EESREER ()

i
i

kE

EBEER ()

b)) FELAEE BERBRRHEMME
BRE
AEETERBEER2EBNE
ENZREEAES BERERFRR
REMHEERRFTE - NEEE
AZREEHENETADLRA
ZEESHF (ETGRBE—EL
R) AEBEEZEZESNER
NEFERNOHKBIR - HE
FRES BERBREEMUES
R ERRE LR H

(0 PREREFR
REBELFRINE AR #EER
Boi(E 8 B REE BB AR X
ERANEGIREBREN - NEE
RIATEHARTEEBE) HER
BERER : @AKEEZBHMME
ZERAMNELHZA  RO)EE
HRBEAKABE B G EAE
7RG ARBRERIAREE
BEAL S RXNERENZ
B fEiREEBLOATE B BEEER
MR T - BERER RIEES
BEXEHONEBAMGE - R#W
EH A REBIB121E A B8 E
R AIRRRERE -

EHMEEEZERERAT —F-WFFHR 109



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(d)

(e)

®

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary
benefits and accumulating annual leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the
end of the period in which the employees render the
related service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as
current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that
takes into consideration the profit attributable to the
Group's shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

Share based payment

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The difference in between the fair value of the equity
instruments to be transferred at the grant date and the
cash consideration to be received at grant date was
reorganised as “employee benefits”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the goods
or services is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the services may be transferred over time or at a
point in time.

Control of the service is transferred over time if the Group's
performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the asset.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance
obligations. For such arrangements, the Group allocates
revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative
standalone selling price. The Group generally determines
standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to
customers. If the standalone selling price is not directly
observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin
or adjusted market assessment approach, depending on the
availability of observable information. Assumptions and
estimations have been made in estimating the relative selling
price of each distinct performance obligation, and changes in
judgements on these assumptions and estimates may impact
the revenue recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of financial
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending
on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has transferred to a
customer. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an
amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers service to the customer, the Group presents
the contract liability when the payment is made or a
receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability
is the Group's obligation to transfer services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group recognises costs incurred in obtaining contracts
with customers that are directly associated with the contracts
as contract costs if those costs are expected to be
recoverable. The contract costs are amortised on a basis
consistent with the pattern of the transfer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depict the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by the
Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or inputs.

The Group adopted output methods to recognise its revenue
on the basis of direct measurements of the value to the
customer of the services transferred to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract. The Group’'s
service contracts for which internal or customers’ project
managers will certify the work on a specific time interval basis
over the service period.

The payment terms differed for different customers due to the
variety of projects. Tasks and marketers matching service and
marketers assignment service are charged on monthly basis
while customised marketing solution and SaaS+ subscription
and other services are charged on project basis. Most of the
payment is payable with credit term of 30-180 days. The
Group does not intend to give a financing to customers and
the Group make efforts to collect the receivables and timely
monitor the credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

For revenue from customised marketing solution, tasks and
marketers matching service, marketers assignment service and
SaaS+ subscription and other services that contain variable
consideration such as variations in the performance of the
labour and incentive payment, the Group estimates the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled using the most
likely amount. The estimated amount of variable consideration
is included in the transactions price only to the extent that it is
highly probable that such an inclusion will not result in a
significant revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration is
constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances present
at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

(@) Customised marketing solution

Customised marketing solution formulates and
implements customised sales and marketing plans of the
Group’s customers’ merchandise in offline and 020 real-
time retail stores with a view to raising brand awareness,
promoting merchandise and driving sales. In particular,
the Group sets up venues, arranges for marketers and
event consumables and facilitates overall project
management. Typical examples of customised sales and
marketing activities include promotional activities,
marketing events, roadshows, product launch events,
order-placing events and appreciation ceremonies.

The activities from customised marketing solution all
together form a single performance obligation as the
Group provides an integrated service. Revenue is
recognised over time as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the
Group's performance. The Group's performance does not
create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

()

Tasks and marketers matching service

Tasks and marketers matching service offers
standardised sales and marketing activities without set up
of offline venues and event materials. In particular, the
Group helps find suitable marketers to promote
customers’ merchandise and drive sales by publishing
tasks using the intelligent matching recommendations.
The Group offers access to flexible resources deployment
and regularly evaluates the impact of tasks on sales
performance to enable dynamic adjustments of suitable
marketers and targeted offline retail stores from the
nationwide coverage. Typical examples of Tasks and
marketers matching service tasks include in-store
merchandise display and sales and promotion of
customers’ merchandise.

Revenue from tasks and marketers matching service is
recognised over time as the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the
Group'’s performance.

Marketers assignment service

Marketers assignment service offers manpower
assignment and management services. In particular, the
Group enables customers to reduce operating costs
associated with human resources-related administration
matters and converting offline human resources
information into data assets for convenient management.
Benefiting from marketers assignment service, the
customers can focus on and allocate more management
resources towards their core business activities, while
having access to quality and stable workforce.

The marketers assignment service revenue is recorded
over time as the customers simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance of the monthly administration work.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(d) SaaS+ subscription and other services

SaaS+ subscription and other services offers
customisation (on an as-needed basis) and subscription
for the readily-available digitalised tools as well as
relevant derivative services to enhance and streamline
customers’ sales and marketing works.

Revenue from SaaS+ subscription and other services
which includes data subscription is under separate
contracts and they are considered as distinct
performance obligation. The revenue is recognised over
time. Besides, the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of subscription service provided
by the Group as the Group performs. The Group
generally charges its customers with service fee for
system set up and a fixed subscription fee over the
contract period.

(e) Principal versus agent considerations

Determining whether the Group is acting as a principal or
as an agent in the provision of certain services to its
customers requires judgement and consideration of all
relevant facts and circumstances. In evaluation of the
Group's role as a principal or agent, the Group considers,
individually or in combination, whether the Group
controls the specified service before it is transferred to
the customer, is primarily responsible for meeting
customer specifications, is subject to the risk associated
with employment, and has discretion in establishing
prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(e) Principal versus agent considerations (Continued)

(1)

Customised marketing solution

Revenue for provision of customised marketing
solution is recognised on a gross basis over time
while the contract costs to fulfil a contract, such as
labour costs, event consumables and operating
costs are recognised as cost of services. The Group
acts as a principal due to the following reasons:

The Group has control over the selection and
evaluation of service personnel, such as
discretion on salary package and key
performance indicators of the staff employed
and has the primarily responsibility for the
quality and stability of the available staffing
resources.

The Group is subject to the risks associated
with employment of the employees. The
Group has the discretion in managing the
specified implementation of service plans,
such as promotion strategies, personnel
scheduling, and daily management plan.

The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the specified
commodities and services to the customers
and is subject to risk of failure to fulfil the
key performance indicator metrics set by the
customers.

The Group has price discretion on the amount
paid to suppliers and it controls the price
setting to its customers based on the nature
and timing of individual projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(e) Principal versus agent considerations (Continued)

(i) Tasks and marketers matching service

Revenue for tasks and marketers matching service
is recognised on a gross basis over time while the
contract costs to fulfil a contract, such as operating
costs and labour costs are recognised as cost of
services. The Group acts as a principal due to the
following reasons:

o The Group acts as organisers and project
leaders in providing standardised promotion
service implemented, such as budget
management, assisting with sales and
marketing activities, and other day-to-day
operations.

o The Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the specified
commodities and services to the customers.

o The Group has the discretion on the choice of
supplier and resources input in the projects
and is subject to risk of failure to fulfil the
key performance indicator metrics set by the
customers.

o The Group has price discretion on the amount
paid to suppliers and it controls the price
setting to its customers based on the nature
and timing of individual projects.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(e) Principal versus agent considerations (Continued)

Marketers assignment service

Revenue for marketers assignment service is
recognised on a net basis over time which the
labour costs paid to the employees are recorded to
net off revenue. The Group acts as an agent due to
the following reasons:

(ifi)

The Group provides advice to the customers
but lack of control over the services
implementation plan.

The Group has no control over the daily
performance or work schedule of the labour.
For example, the Group has no discretion on
salary level of staff employed.

The Group assists the selection and signs off
the labour contracts with hired personnel
according to the final decision made by the
customers. The Group is lack of the risk on
the recruited employees as they could get full
recovery from its customers on the labour
COStS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
(e) Principal versus agent considerations (Continued)

(i) SaaS+ subscription and other services
Revenue for SaaS+ subscription and other services
is recognised on a gross basis over time while the
contract costs to fulfil a contract, such as operating
costs and labour costs for the set up services are
recognised as cost of services. The Group acts as a
principal due to the following reasons:

o The Group is the organiser of the services and
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise
to provide the specified services to the
customers.

o The Group controls the specified data and the
digitalised products before it is transferred to
the customer.

o The Group has the discretion on the choice of
supplier and resources input in the projects
and is subject to risk it is failure to fulfil the
reguirement from the customers.

o The Group has price discretion on the amount
paid to suppliers and it controls the price
setting to its customers based on the nature
and timing of individual projects.

) Existence of significant financing component
The Group does not expect to have any contracts where
the period between the transfer of the promised goods
or services to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for
the time value of money.

(g) Practical expedient

As a practical expedient, the Group elects not to disclose
the information for remaining performance obligation of
customised marketing solution, tasks and marketers
matching service, marketers assignment service and
SaaS+ subscription and other services as the contract
have an original expected duration of less than one year.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion
of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but
not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

Government grant

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the profit or loss over the period necessary to
match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVTPL is included in
the net fair value gains on these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as “other income”.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is
earned from financial assets that are held for cash
management purpose.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below:

(@) Revenue recognition

The management measures the value of services
provided based on output method, which is to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurement of the value
of services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining services promised to be completed under
the service contracts. The service contracts normally
complete within a year. Management estimates the
revenue at the commencement of the service contracts
and regularly assesses the progress of projects as well as
the financial impact of cost incurred, scope changes,
claims and disputes. The management’'s estimation on
the value of services provided requires significant
judgement and has a significant impact on the amount
and timing of revenue recognised. There are internal
project managers to measure the value of the services
provided for each project periodically. The Group
regularly reviews and revises the revenue estimation
based on supporting documents and communication with
customers’ project managers.

4

e M |RME

ARG HE R ERMET TR
EREE

fil st B BT R (T ARG - SRR
EBRRAMARMEY  SEERRE
FHEHRAERBIER TBA RN -

AREBEREIEL B RRR - BEE

CBRHEFHERRO S EABERS
R—B - BERRAREZAE T EE K
FEMNEERABENREEFEHERS
B b RERRN XM -

(@) WHEBER
EREHAEL T EMREHR
BHERE BEREEBSEFR
25 B IFER R RS EEERBE
& A9 R SE R B R 87 AR 7S EL B
STEMEREE - REE L —K
R—FRAREK - BEEEERBESE
LR IR B T I E - I E B AT AR
HBEEUANKEEKAE  &GE
BE RERAUGNTEZE -
EREHMRERRENEBEN G
S EEH ERAE - I E
BRHNSHENEEREEATE -
A CEeFHFESEE
Frictt R HEER - AEB SR
BEERAXHRERFIER BN
VA E BT MBS R Rl AT ©

LHMEEEZERERAT —F-WFFH 123



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

(b) Principal versus agent considerations

The Group follows the accounting guidance for principal
and agent considerations to assess whether the Group
controls the specified service before it is transferred to
the customer and also the indicators of which including
but not limited to: (a) whether the entity is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the
specified service including whether the entity has
discretion in selecting suppliers; (b) whether the entity
has inventory risk before the specified service has been
transferred to a customer; (c) whether the entity has
discretion in establishing the prices for the specified
service. The directors of the Company consider the
above factors in totality, as none of the factors
individually are considered presumptive or determinative
and applies judgement when assessing the indicators
depending on different circumstances.

(c) Impairment loss of trade receivables and
contract assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to determine
whether trade receivables and contract assets are
impaired. Significant judgement is exercised on the
assessment of the risk of default and ECL from each
customer. In making the judgement, management
considers a wide range of factors such as results of
follow-up procedures, customer payment trends including
payments schedule, customers’ financial positions and
expected future change of credit risks, including
consideration of factors such as general economy
measure, changes in macro-economic indicators, etc.
Details of assumptions and inputs used are discussed in
Note 28.1(b)(iii).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4
KEY ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

(d) Current and deferred taxes

The Group is principally subject to income taxes in the
PRC. Judgement is required in determining the provision
for income taxes. There are some transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and provisions in
the period in which such determination is made.
Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers to be probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of
their actual utilisation may be different.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5

The chairman of the Company has been identified as the chief
operating decision maker of the Group who review the Group'’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The chairman of the Company regards the Group's
business as a single operating segment and review the
consolidated financial statements accordingly.

(@) Disaggregation of revenue

e M |RME

REstH B R EE A AR

(d) BEDHIRIEZERIH
AEEETZ2AMATREMREH -
BEMBHRBEE AL L -
EREXBBET AETRS
Rt EORERBIRE R TH
- AREFRNRERRBEER
HERESNERITR - AIZF
ERBFERLZREHRA R
BUkEE RETEREEE
EHEEREBANEERREE
REEER BRI ER RKER
Mo oas M) A 3 55 T B 1 2 R kAR S
BREER HERERERA
EEB TR °

= & 7 #E R
AARERKREAFEEEIBELR
BE - ABRBRAEEABESE T
BRRARER - ARREHISEAEE
EHRRE—EEHH - LHELEN
RAMBRE -

(@ W=BE4H

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

024 2023
024 4 20234
B’000 RMB'000
=1 AREETF T
Revenue from: KRENA T EEHWE
Customised marketing solution 7E il 2 SH B R 5 & 642,077 567,647
Tasks and marketers matching 75 B & 85 A B UT it AR 75
service 362,240 114,303
Marketers assignment service & 58 A Bk AR % 26,140 32,173
SaaS+ subscription and other SaaS+z&] B & £ th AR 7%
services 15,904 11,825
1,046,361 725,948

All revenue of the Group is recognised over time during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

EH ZE 20244 K 2023F12A31H 1k
F[E - ANE BT A UL = BE b R

7
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MBERHE
5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(CONTINUED)

126

(b) Geographical information

All the revenue and non-current assets are based in the
PRC during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

(c) Revenue from major customers

Revenue from each major customer which accounted for
10% or more of the Group's revenue for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 are set out below:

customer A ZEEA
Ccustomer B =FB

Wik 7 AR E ()

(b)

(9]

HEE R
FrBRSELERDEENEE
20244 2023412 A318 It £ &
BRRHE -

REFEEFHIKE

2R B 15 AN & B & 22024 F 22023
F12A31H 1k F E W 2510%3K A
NS EFEREMRESETIT

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt AR®ET T
222,253 283,346
132,931 124,890

(d) Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities
The following table shows the revenue recognised during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 related to
carried-forward contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was FIAFETIENBEESRNE
included in the contract liability TR =
balance at the beginning of the
year

Marketers assignment service &35 A Bk BT AR 75

(d)

RENE BRIV RS

TR R E 2024 F [ 2023F 12
A3NEIEFER AR R
s -

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

024 2023

024 £ 20234
B’000 RMB'000

S ARBET T

6,728 4,487
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5
(CONTINUED)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

The Group elects not to disclose the information for
remaining performance obligation of customised
marketing solution, tasks and marketers matching
service, marketers assignment service and SaaS+
subscription and other services as the contracts have an
original expected duration of less than one year as a

(e)

)

practical expedient.

Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract

Asset recognised from costs

incurred to fulfil a contract as at

31 December

M12A318 BB AR AHE
RONEE

e B RRME
Wik 7 RR & ()
() RERENERE

)

ERERTITHRENE  AK
BEEIRETEHEHERT
R EHEZHABCRRS R
&35 A BUREE AR5 K SaaS+5] B &
HA RIS Rer B OB TR E
B EARZEAONREHHR

DR—F o
BAREABRANEE
As at 31 December
MW12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt ARET T
22 981

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR AR T T
Amortisation recognised as cost of 4F R FER AR AR A A HY
providing services during the # 5K
year 981 480
SHMEEZRERAT —T-HWFEFH 127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M |RME

6 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6

Hitb Wy A K Wa 22 7% 28

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE

024 2023
024 4 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBF T
Other income Hi A
Government grants (Note) BT B (4 3E) 11,880 18,977
Gain on additional deduction of value- AR ANET R &9 W &=
added tax 61 1,294
11,941 20,271
Other gains, net Hitb 25 73 88
Reversal of payables on pension return to [[% P iR &4 SRR FE
customers (note 25) SKIBREEE (H7:2£25) 9,466 38,549
Net foreign exchange gain SN U 55 F R 3,266 7,069
Gain on redemption of other financial B [ R SE A AR ST 2 R H A
assets at amortised cost (note 20) TREENWKE (H7F20) 302 =
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment &M E K & i #) E5 18 (1) (4)
Others H b 8 —
13,025 45,614

Note: The government grants mainly consisted of job-subsidy
programme and companies registration subsidies for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attaching to these grants. The
Group did not benefit directly from any other forms of material

government assistance.
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

7

e M |RME

BUHEE DX

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

024 2023
024 4 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
R ARBFIT
Employee benefit expenses (including EERAAZ (BIEES
directors’ emoluments) (Note 8) B2 ) (f7:£8) 408,444 486,999
Labour service fees BisE 430,292 194,544
Research, development and technical T 5% R B 1T AR 75 7 =2
service expenses 9,668 24,286
Office expenses FiNEN 53 16,930 15,619
Event consumables EEINEE =T 34,898 15,167
Promotion expenses to online platform  # FF & #HER X 92,436 —
Travel and transportation expenses ERRRBAKL 38,057 13,377
Listing expenses EmRZ — 10,709
Other taxes and levies HAbFiIE R E 6,442 5,495
Depreciation of plant and equipment =R EEITE 515 460
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 2,341 2,675
Auditor’s remuneration 1% £ R 357 B
— Audit services — EFT R 1,050 1,580
— Non-audit services — FEEFRT 200 620
Other expenses HF 5,839 2,554
1,047,112 774,085
Representing: Rk :
Cost of services Bk 7% B < 921,984 631,086
Administrative expenses THRAX 79,811 92,643
Research and development expenses 35 > 16,562 29,284
Selling and marketing expenses SHE REIHAZ 28,755 21,072
1,047,112 774,085
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M |RME

8

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

BERANFEX

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBF T
Wages and salaries TERS® 280,843 354,490
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 10,136 4,979
contributions to pension plans (Note (b)) RIR& 5Bt (F1:£ (b)) 82,852 85,538
Housing benefits and other expenses FEREMNREMAS 34,613 41,992
408,444 486,999

Representing: Rk :
Cost of services Bk 7% B S 337,317 427,203
Administrative expenses THRAX 37,309 31,380
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RE A 27,010 18,703
Research and development expenses HERX 6,808 9,713
408,444 486,999

Notes:

@) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group include one director and two directors for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively. Their
emoluments were reflected in Note 9(a). The emoluments paid
to the remaining four non-director individuals are as follows:

Wt -

@ ITERESFMAL
B 220244 2023124318 1L F
B -AEEREAEEHFMALERE -
REEPMAES - WENHESHE
RHTFES@) « B FERIUEIEEEA
THBEST

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BILEE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T AR F T

Wages and salaries TERF© 3,150 2,193
Discretionary bonuses BIBTEAL 2,080 3,459
Contributions to pension plans BRIREFTEIHE R 427 324
Housing benefits and other expenses  {FE &M & & 15 5% 100 85
5,757 6,061

130 PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Annual Report 2024



8

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 8

Notes. (Continued)

@) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

e M |RME

& & &R < (&)
Wizt - ()

(@ TEBEEHFMAL(E)
e &BELMT :

Number of individuals
Year ended 31 December
A
BZ12A31HLLFEE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Emolument band < & E (BT)
(in Hong Kong dollars)
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 (equivalent 500,001/ 7t 2= 1,000,0007% 7T
to approximately RMB453,000 to (FEE R4 A R ¥ 453,0007T
RMB906,000) = AR #906,0007T) 2 —
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000 7T
(equivalent to approximately (FEE R H A R¥906,0007T
RMB906,000 to RMB1,359,000) = AR #1,359,0007T) — 1
Over HK$1,500,001 1,500,001 7T (FHE R4
(equivalent to approximately AR #1,359,0007T) A £
over RMB1,359,000) 2 2
4 3

(b) Contributions to pension plans
Employees in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
administrated and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are
calculated on certain percentage of the employee salary to the
scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
forfeited contributions were utilised by the Group to reduce its
contributions, and no forfeited contribution was available as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 to reduce future contributions.

(b) BIREFEHK

AEETHMBEARNEERZEHR
b 75 T BT B R i E ) E R A FUR
REHE - REE e B E A FIZE
BHFEMETAD tbﬁ Jrzﬂji\?k V=l

EBEMERAKEANEHRE

H £20244 K%2023F12 8318 IE &
&+ RS E I =) 2 UL TR AR
fﬁ\'f/\/A B 120244 % 2023412 A 31

+ 3 £ AR AR A AR SR A R D DR UL
f A o
LHMEEZERERAT —SSHIEFE 131



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M |RME

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EEEMNRER

(@) Directors’ emoluments @ EEMe
The remuneration of each director paid/payable for each B = 2024 K 2023%F 124318 1
of the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 were FEEN BN SESHFHMER
set out below: T -

Allowances
Contributions  and benefits

Discretionary  to pension in kind

Name of directors Salaries bonuses plans (note (i)
BER
RBASHE ENEAN
EEpA e e EERA HEd (Bt i) @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETn AR¥Tr AR%Tn AR¥Tr AR%Tn AR%Tn

For the year ended BZ2024F12831
31 December 2024 ALEFE

Executive director and chief — $TEEFR{THER
executive officer:

Mr. Sun BEE — 1,785 4,618 114 31 6,548
Executive director: HITES:

Mr. Yang Hong e e — 585 — 114 31 730
Non-executive directors: EHITES:

Mr. Li Jianbo (note (v)) TRWEE WA W) 51 - — - — 51
Mr. Zhong liesheng (note (v)  SBHE4 SL4& (1) 51 — — — — 51

Independent non-executive  BUIFEHTES :

directors:
Ms. Li Yingkai (note (iij) L (H() 157 — - — - 157
Mr. Lau Man Tak BN ERE 222 — — — — 222
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho BXREE 222 — — — — 222
Ms. Lin Feng (note (iv)) W&zt (Hiz#(y) 65 — - — - 65
Total @ 768 2,370 4,618 228 62 8,046
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

9 EEEAE#EZ(A)
@ EEM= (&

Allowances
Contributions  and benefits
Discretionary ~ to pension in kind
Name of directors Fees Salaries bonuses plans (note (i) Total
AR
RIKEEE EMEF
EEpg e e WETEA R (Frit(i) Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETR
For the year ended HZ2023F12831
31 December 2023 HILFE
Executive director and chief — H{TEEF{TRAEE :
executive officer:
Mr. Sun Brik — 998 900 114 30 2,042
Executive director; HTES:
Mr. Yang Hong Iy yitd = 585 900 114 30 1,629
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Li Jianbo (note (v)) BRR KL (W) 80 = = = = 80
Mr. Zhong Jiesheng (note (v) SR E 4 (FT7E() 80 = = = = 80
Independent non-executve B IEHTEE :
directors:
Ms. Li Yingkai (note (i) Rt (fai) 146 = = = = 146
Mr. Lau Man Tak kst 146 = = = = 146
Mr. Ngan Wing Ho BXREE 146 = = = = 146
Total Fohy 598 1,583 1,800 228 60 4,269
SHMEEZRERAT —T-WNFEFH 133
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9

BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(@)

(b)

0]

(ii)

(iv)

The remunerations of executive directors represent
remunerations received from the PRC Operating
Companies by these directors in their capacity as
employees to the PRC Operating Companies.

Allowances and benefits in kind mainly represent
the Housing Provident Fund regulated by Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC.

Ms. Li Yingkai resigned as the Company's
independent non-executive director on 13
September 2024.

Ms. Lin Feng was appointed as the Company’s
independent non-executive director on 13
September 2024.

Mr. Li Jianbo and Mr. Zhong Jiesheng resigned as
the Company’s non-executive directors on 24 May
2024.

During the period from the date of respective
appointment to 31 December 2023, the
non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors did not receive any
remuneration from the Group.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in
favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 9 EFEENKEZRS(E)
(CONTINUED)

(c) Directors’ material interests in transactions, (c) EERRS ZHHELW
arrangements or contracts EXER
Other than those disclosed in Notes 9 and 32, no BRETEED R 32 AT FRE N + BEAEAR
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in NCIE TS NI VSR Fobaiil
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company KRR EEEEIRERNESRE
or PRC Operating Companies were a party and in which BEARNmBHEAREEXEEH
directors of the Company had a material interest, MEARS ZTHREHEZE
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of 2024 K 2023F 12 A318 L F[E
each of the two years or at any time during the years B F 2 %% G F [ ok B AR A (AT B
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. MFE -

10 FINANCE (COSTS) INCOME, NET 10 B3 (R A) WA FEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR FIT
Finance income RN
— Bank interest income — RITF B A 3,505 4,813
— Interest income from a related party — kB —ZE#HHTHF S
WA — 107
3,505 4,920
Finance costs B 75 B AR
— Interest expenses for bank borrowings — $R17& A B 5 X (1,678) (2,003)
— Interest for trade receivables factoring — & 5 & WA IE (R IE F B (1,047) (1,292)
— Interest expenses on lease liabilittes — FHEAEF EFH% (590) (65)
— Interest expenses on amounts due to — & A Bz iR AR 3R FA
non-controlling shareholders " A B 2 (496) —
3,811) (3,360)
(306) 1,560

LZRMEEZERERAT —T-WEFHK 135
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(@)

(b)

(0

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Cayman Islands and BVI Income Tax

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and British Virgin Islands, members of the Group
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and British Virgin
Islands are not subject to any income tax.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is 16.5%. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax was provided as the Group did not
have assessable profits in Hong Kong during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The PRC withholding tax

According to the applicable PRC tax regulations,
dividends distributed by a company established in the
PRC to a foreign investor with respect to profits derived
after 1 January 2008 are generally subject to a 10%
withholding tax. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong
Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the
double taxation treaty arrangement entered into between
the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate
will be reduced from 10% to 5%. The applicable
withholding tax rates of the group company in Hong Kong
is 10%.

Annual Report 2024
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(@)

(b)

(c)

BB <
BENERREELZHSM

BB

AEBEARELASRAAEE
KB AR R R AR T IE RIS |
FEERNEFIREEEESR
Fiief - REHASHERERE
LBEMBARER  AHSH
EREBE LS TMASHAR
£ Bk 8D A BAMMTARE
B o
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&= B A E, £20244F % 2023F 12 A
NBLFEERBTERERT G
F o B EB BB AR AT IR
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 11 FiEHBEX (E)
(d) PRC Enterprise Income Tax d TELTCEMEH

PRC corporate income tax has been provided at the rate
of 25% on the taxable profits of the Group’s PRC
significant subsidiaries during the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Shanghai Retail Winner Digital Technologies Co., Ltd.
(“Shanghai Retail Winner”), a subsidiary of the Company,
had applied to the relevant tax bureau and was granted
the qualification as High and New Technology Enterprise
("HNTE") in 2022, which will expire in November 2025. It
is subject to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
Based on management's assessment, it is highly
probable that Shanghai Retail Winner will continue to
meet the requirements of HNTE.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC were
qualified as “Small Low-Profit Enterprise” since 2019.
“Small Low-Profit Enterprise” was entitled to a
preferential income tax rate that was calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime.
From 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024, the first
RMB1,000,000 of the taxation amount for qualified
entities are taxed at 20%, and the taxable income above
RMB1,000,000 are taxed at 25%.

EHMEEEZERARAT

RELE2024F & 2023F 12 A31H
IEE ERASEEFRRHEZH
B2 AR FE SR B s F) #2 25% RO B R
SRR B EMS TR o

ZAN/NSTE: O Y N i o= b
EERMARAR ([ LEEBXK
o0 1) 2 e A8 BE A 15 M BE B A = T
e E(TEHRMERDOHE
% AEERERN2022F K
I K H2025F 11 A B H - %12 A
2 15% BB FT1S B A R o
RIEEEENNE - EBEBX
PR T R BT & S ET T b
HZ K -

AEERFENETHEBRRA
20195 A BARA A [/NELIRF B
Rl [EBMNEE|BEZER
BENESHMEGTENBERE
M & o 5202241 H 1H £2024
FI2ANH - AEREBHNEA
& %1,000,0007T #t & #220%H) 5%
TR - A B A K %1,000,000
T B & BR A I A $2 25% B B¢ K 4K
i o
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PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 1
(d) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (Continued)

—

FriEHiF < (M)

d) HEETEMREHR (E)

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR FIT

current income tax BN ERFT1S %
— The PRC current tax — R B ENEAR 18 8,107 7,949
Deferred tax (Note 17) EIERIE (M a£17) (140) (443)
Income tax expenses FrEHiA = 7,967 7,506

Reconciliation between income tax expenses and profit
before income tax at applicable tax rate:

PREmMx BIRER R ETEDN
P15 35 1k ) RO 1 B

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

2024 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Profit before income tax BR BT 15 %4 Al A 21,752 19,008
Tax calculated at the statutory PRC 2/ BISK E £ R 25% =1 & HY

tax rate of 25% HiIE 5,438 4,752

Tax effect of expenses not DA HFL B S TR 7S o &

deductible for tax purposes 687 665
Tax effect of additional deductible — AJ BESNOFL [ 2 B 575 52 28

expenses for tax purposes (180) (180)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERRIEBENRIE T E

recognised 3,612 2,382
The impact of differences in tax HARMBARMNTEER

rates applicable to subsidiaries A (1,590) (113)

7,967 7,506

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately RMB15,720,000 (2023:
RMB10,800,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately RMB1,272,000 (2023: RMB1,272,000) of
such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining approximately RMB14,448,000
(2023: RMB9,528,000) due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams.
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e M |RME

FARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BREF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit B E2024F &2023F12H31H IE&F
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted B BREXNRFIRAQRES ARML
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years i MR DA B BT BRI A AT E -
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
Year ended 31 December
BZ12831HILEE
024 2023
0244 20234
Profit attributable to owners of the RRABHEB AEMLEF
Company (RMB'000) (ANREFTT) 13,008 11,502
Weighted average number of ordinary BTSRRI T8
shares in issue 120,030,562 112,574,824
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRERREERT
(in RMB) (ARE) 0.11 0.10

Diluted earnings per shares for the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 were the same as the basic earnings per share
as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding
during the two years.

DIVIDENDS

Dividends of RMB4,589,000 during the year ended
31 December 2023 represented special dividend paid by the
Company to its shareholders (during the year ended
31 December 2024: Nil). No final dividend in respect of the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 was proposed by the
Board.

13

#H =20244F & 2023F12 4318 1E 4
E -SRESRNEGRERNZFE
[ RE AR/ EEE I EEITEING
BBEEER RN T @A -

B

REZE2023F 12831 B ILFEERNRE A
AR #4,589,0007T © BIAAQR]E MEHAK
FOR A AR R AR B (B 22024 F 12 A 31
HIEFE  \) - ET2TEHERE L
20244 K 2023F12 A31H It F & 5k
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e M EmRME
14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 BMERSE
Leasehold Office
improvement equipment  Motor vehicles Total
HEWEEE BORE AE @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R AR®T R
At 1 January 2024 R2024F181RH
Cost B AR 1,545 3,311 937 5,793
Accumulated depreciation 2t e (1,545) (2,490) (395) (4,430)
Net book amount BREFE — 821 542 1,363

Year ended 31 December 2024 #HZE2024F12H31BLLEE

Opening net book amount FHEREFE — 821 542 1,363
Additions NE — 560 — 560
Disposals HE - ¥3) - )
Depreciation charge HERZ — (370) (145) (515)
Closing net book amount FRIE@FE — 1,009 397 1,406
At 31 December 2024 ®2024%12831H

Cost B AR 1,545 3,778 936 6,259
Accumulated depreciation ZEHiE (1,545) (2,769) (539) (4,853)
Net book amount REFE — 1,009 397 1,406
At 1 January 2023 20231811

Cost % 1,545 3,085 780 5,410
Accumulated depreciation ZEtE (1,545) 2,411 (470) (4,426)
Net book amount REFE = 674 310 984

Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ2023F12H31HLEE

Opening net book amount FNREFE = 674 310 984
Additions NE — 484 379 863
Disposals HE — (13) () (24)
Depreciation charge FERS — (324) (136) (460)
Closing net book amount FERE@FE = 821 542 1,363
At 31 December 2023 72023512A31A0

Cost B AR 1,545 3,311 937 5,793
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (1,545) (2,490) (395) (4,430)
Net book amount BREFHE = 821 542 1,363
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

14 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation expenses were charged to the following
categories in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income:

14 BEKRRZE (&)

FERXERGEER REMEE KR

RAB A NERIHE

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE

2024 2023

20244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T AREBFTT

Administrative expenses THRAX 515 436
Selling and marketing expenses HERZHEAY — 24
515 460

LZHMEEERERAT —T-NFEFR
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RE M |RME

15 LEASES

142

Right-of-use assets

15 HE

@ FEREEE

Leased premises

HESFT
RMB’000
AR®T R
At 1 January 2024 R2024F1818
Cost B AR 19,709
Accumulated depreciation REriTE (19,430)
Net book amount BREFE 279
Year ended 31 December 2024 BZE2024F12831HILEE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 279
Additions for the year FRARE 5,254
Depreciation charge e (2,341)
Closing net book amount FREHEFE 3,192
At 31 December 2024 12024%12H831H
Cost BN 24,963
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (21,771)
Net book amount BREDVEE 3,192
At 1 January 2023 720231 81H
Cost BN 19,264
Accumulated depreciation R2ErITE (16,755)
Net book amount BREFE 2,509
Year ended 31 December 2023 HE2023512A831HILEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 2,509
Additions for the year FRRE 445
Depreciation charge WERX (2,675)
Closing net book amount FRRHEFE 279
At 31 December 2023 72023512831 H
Cost B AR 19,709
Accumulated depreciation RErITE (19,430)
Net book amount BREFE 279
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15 LEASES (CONTINUED)

(@)

(b)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The right-of-use assets represent the Group's rights to
use underlying offices under lease arrangements over the
lease terms from 1 to 2 years. They are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation.

No contract terms specifically arranged for variable
payment, residual value guarantees, extension and
termination options were embedded in the lease
arrangements.

Depreciation charges were included in administrative
expenses for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

Lease liabilities

e M |RME

15 & (&)
(@ FHEESE (&)
FRESERAEERERER
HETE — 25 W 4F 69 78 B 9 1 R AR
WATHER - R AR BT
EDIER -

MERTENR RREEE

KRR IR ERE 2B
M A KRR ATEEZHE -

H = 20245 K 2023F12 8318 1k
FE HERIBERTHEAS
B o

by HEEE

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARET T
Lease liabilities HERE 3,570 236
Less: Non-current W : FEBNHR (1,224) (5)
Current portion BN EREE 5 2,346 231
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBFIT
Interest expenses on lease liabilittes AR E & EH S5
for the year 590 65
Expenses relating to short-term BEAHEEEMNMAX
leases (included in administrative  (FFAfTEFSZ)
expenses) 4,447 4,869

The total cash outflows for leases including payments of
short-term leases, principal and interest payments of
lease liabilities for the years ended 31 December 2024
and 2023 were approximately RMB6,957,000 and
RMB7,517,000, respectively.

H 220244 22023512 A31H 1k
FE HEReRLAE(BER
HEENR HEABNAEL K
MEMT)DRHAEARE
6,957,0007t & A R #7,517,000
=y
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M |RME

16 REEQTNRE

31 December

12H31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE T ARBFIT

As at 1 January M1A1H 4,547 4,475
Share of results of FE{REE L N R 4R

associates — net — FE 119 72

As at 31 December M12H31H 4,666 4,547

The details of the associates of the Group are as follows:

BREAREEBERARNFHBOT

% of ownership interest
As at 31 December

EFREEBE DL
M12A318
Name Nature of business Place of operations 2024 2023
=L XM E =3k 2024 20234F
Beijing Aikaka Digital marketing The PRC 19% 19%
Information system
Technology Ltd. development
(“Beijing Aikaka")
IRERKEERN HFEHRAGHE [
BEREERA
(THEREMRAR])
Guangzhou Cema Digital marketing The PRC 15% 15%
Information system
Technology development
Consulting Co., Ltd.
("Guangzhou
Cema”)
&M RS A5 BB LER A SES 1 [
AR AR

(MRS ])
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Through the agreements, the Group is respectively guaranteed
one out of three seats on the board of Beijing Aikaka and one
out of three seats on the board of Guangzhou Cema to
participate in all significant financial and operating decisions.
The Group has therefore determined that it has significant
influence over Beijing Aikaka and Guangzhou Cema, even
though it only holds 19% and 15% of the voting rights
respectively. Both of the associates are accounted for using
the equity method.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no material commitments
and contingent liabilities were imposed in the associates and
there is no unrecognised share of losses for the Group.

e M |RME

16 REELNTNKRE (8)

BEWE  AREDRRBIERE R
EEe-REE7 WRELMENES
EEg-REE 2 NFEM - ARER
BEAMBRELERR - Bt - @EX
EB D RIER B 19% & 15%H) 1 Z 7% -
BEREHIERERKREMNKBLE
ERFES - ZMEKE R RIGRAE
TR °

PR20244F 2023 12H318 » B & R
RV EEMmINEREERSARAE A
NEE W EAREREMLEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N EXE:

17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 17 EEBEEE
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities for the B E2024F 202312 A31H I F &
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, without taking into MECHREEERAEEE (TZEHE
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax EF B ANEAE SR AR EREHE) 0T

jurisdiction, are as follows:

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets liabilities
EEBE
EEREEE a8
ECL Lease Right-of-use Deferred tax
Tax losses provision liabilities Sub-Total assets assets — net
BHEE BEH®E
BHEGR BERE HEAE Mt BREEE BE — 2E
RMB000  RMB/000  RMB'000  RMB/000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®TRE AR%TR AR%¥Tr AR¥TR AR¥Tx AR¥ET=:
At 1 January 2024 20241818 316 814 57 1,187 (68) 1,119
Credit (charged) to the STACNRE) GaBRE
consolidated statement of REMEEKER
profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (8) 82 580 654 (514) 140
At 31 December 2024 72024128318 308 896 637 1,841 (582) 1,259
At 1 January 2023 20231818 — 710 592 1,302 (626) 676
Credit (charged) to the FAGNRE) KA ER
consolidated statement of profit kEMEAKER
or loss and other
comprehensive income 316 104 (535) (115) 558 443
At 31 December 2023 720235128318 316 814 57 1,187 68) 1,119
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had unrecognised R2024F 128318 - NEEH RERIE
deferred tax liabilities of RMB25,429,000 (2023: RMB22,817,000) IE T TE B & A R #25,429,0007T (2023
that would otherwise be payable as withholding income tax in F: AR¥22817,0007T) @ Z&EIRE
respect of the undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries. A B AR R D IR R HHEATE
Unremitted earnings in this respect amounted to approximately TSR - 2024F12A318 * B#EX
RMB254,290,000 (2023: RMB228,173,000) as at 31 December BE H & A A A R ¥254,290,0007T
2024. Deferred tax liability is not recognised where the timing (20234 : AR#228,173,00070) ° 4%
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the FrERBEDNNRERASEES RES
Group and the directors have confirmed that such earnings will BREBEBNNRAIERERRKETEEFR
not be distributed out of the PRC in the foreseeable future. BI3EIND K » B FRERIRLER B A (E -
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18 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, OTHER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

(@)

e M |RME

18 ESRWHNIE - BE « HiE

W R IE R TR A RO

Trade receivables @ EBEZREWFEE
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBF T
Trade receivables B 5 WA 331,229 278,257
Less: allowance for impairment of & : & 5 W FIBRE R E
trade receivables (1,786) (1,911)
Trade receivables — net B S RWRIE — F5E 329,443 276,346

The ageing analysis of the gross trade receivables based
on invoice date is as follows:

B RN RIEEREENEZ A
RBRE DT ¢

As at 31 December

MW12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
1-60 days 1£260H 218,551 188,884
61-120 days 61£2120H 100,222 74,919
121-180 days 121£180H 11,955 11,547
Over 180 days 180H LA E 501 2,907
331,229 278,257

The standard payment terms are generally from 30 days
to 180 days.

The ageing of trade receivables is mainly within 180 days
after invoicing depending on the nature of services. The
Group’s trade receivables are denominated in RMB and
initially recognised at transaction price on gross amount.

RN FRE — &R T F30H =180
H e

B 5 R IR R E 2 RN
H#FR1808 (RFRBIEE M
E)A e ARENE 5 RUGRIAIA
ARBEHERNT AR 5 ERR
RAFERD
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RE M |RME

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, OTHER 18
RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)
(b) Deposits, other receivables and prepayments

148

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Z W FRE
RIERER

As at 31 December

MW12H31H
2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETIT
Value-added tax receivables from & B & F K & WIS E
customers 9,707 9,437
Deposits to external labour service 37 {5 F 40 B &5 7 (1 FE 75 19
provider e 42,457 —
Other deposits — third parties Hiize — F=74 1,868 1,693
Other receivables — staff HihfelismE — BT 379 161
Other receivables — others H b1 — EAfb 10 =
54,421 11,291
Less: allowance for impairment of & : £ fib & Uk ZIB R B B &
other receivables (1,419) (92)
Other receivables — net Hib U RIE — F5E 53,002 11,199
Prepaid income taxes ERMNAER 2,564 6,298
Prepayment to online platforms in  $t020 % B Z & & $5 AR 7%
relation to 020 real-time retail AT 4R EF A RIA
marketing services 16,221 =
Other prepayments to suppliers Hh T8 5L 8 7 SR8 32,133 4,492
Total Bt 103,920 21,989

The Group's deposits, other receivables and prepayments

are mainly denominated in RMB.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME
19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19 EHREEREGHAER
LIABILITIES
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related AEBERRUATRHEEEBNENE

contract assets and liabilities. EXBE-

As at 31 December

M12A31H

024 2023

0244 20234

RMB’000 RMB'000

& AREETF T

Customised marketing solution TE il = SH B R 5 & 125,762 86,236

Tasks and marketers matching service 7B & 85 A B IT it AR 75 6,235 11,648

Marketers assignment service & 58 A Bk AR % 63,147 64,749

SaaS+ subscription and other services SaaS+7] B & H b i 7 4,346 3,072
Contract assets — gross carrying AREE — RHEMBHE

amount 199,490 165,705
Less: allowance for impairment of W AREERBERE

contract assets (2,337) (1,263)

Contract assets — net BHEE — T8 197,153 164,442

Customised marketing solution JE il & $H AR R 5 2 1,034 —

Tasks and marketers matching service 7S B & 85 A B U B AR 75 30,069 —

Marketers assignment service =35 A BREE IR 75 7,537 7,259

Contract liabilities AHBE 38,640 7,259

As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to

RMB6,858,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
an increase in contract liabilities as a result of cash received,
excluding amounts recognised during the year amounted to

RMB38,109,000 (2023: RMB4,888,000).

The Group’s contract assets are denominated in RMB and
initially recognised at transaction price on gross amount.

M2023F1A1H - e HNEBEER/RARY
6,858,0007T °

HZE2024F12A31BILFE  AEBE
SEYEERE WEE S MEN - T
FEFERNE R EEARSS,109,0007T
(20234 : AR#4,888,0007T) °

AEENANEENARBTERTZS
AR 5 BI% B ERFER
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mE KRR
19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 19 EHNEERGHNAE (E)

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Note: Movement for the gross carrying amount of contract assets Kt - REE20244F [ 2023F 12 A31H LEF
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as B aREEMNREREZEMTEA
follows: X
(i) Customised marketing solution (i) EH &R R

31 December

128318

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARETT
As at 1 January M1B1H 86,236 123,054
Contract assets recognised BEERENEE 119,186 567,647
Transferred to trade receivables & A & 5 & W 58 (79,660) (604,465)
As at 31 December M12H31H 125,762 86,236
(i)  Tasks and marketers matching service (i) FHESHAETERS

31 December

12A31H

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTT
As at 1 January M1A1H 11,648 14,451
Contract assets recognised EHRENEE 10,566 114,303
Transferred to trade receivables & A& 5 & Uk FIA (15,979) (117,106)
As at 31 December M12A31H 6,235 11,648
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

(iiii)

(iv)

Marketers assignment service

19

e M |RME

BREEREGHNEE (B)

Hrat - (%)
(i) &6 A BIKEE RIS

31 December

12A31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AREBTT
As at 1 January M®1A1H 64,749 52,439
Contract assets recognised BERERENEE 61,499 437,070
Transferred to trade receivables A Z 5 & W E (63,101) (424,760)
As at 31 December MW12H31H 63,147 64,749

SaaS+ subscription and other services

(iv) SaaS+=TBIR HARS

31 December

12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREF T
As at 1 January M1A1H 3,072 2,247
Contract assets recognised ERRENEE 3,796 11,825
Transferred to trade receivables A Z 5 & W A (2,522) (11,000)
As at 31 December M12A31H 4,346 3,072
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BAMBRRNE
20 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 20 R#E#ERAFTENHMBERME
COST 3
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Investment in private funds (Note) KWEREEES (Kat)
— Wealth management product A — EBEHEMA — 27,187
— Wealth management product B — By EMB — 9,062
— 36,249

152

Note: In September 2023, the Group invested HK$30,000,000 (equivalent

to RMB27,187,000) and HK$10,000,000 (equivalent to
RMB9,062,000) respectively in two investments with guaranteed
return rates at 5.15% and 5.10% respectively, which were both
private offshore funds (the “Funds”) newly established in the
Cayman Islands. The investment objectives of the Funds were to
invest in bank deposit, bonds, notes, national debt, banker's
acceptance draft, and other similar financial instruments. The
Funds were classified as other financial assets measured at
amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023. In March 2024, the Group
redeemed the Funds and collected the investment principal
together with return amounted to HK$40,330,000 (equivalent to
RMB36,595,000).
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30,000,000/ T (A E RN AR
27,187,0007%) & 10,000,0005% 7T (48
BN A R%9,062,0007T) R /A IE K
B HRBWHEERD B A5.15% %
5.10% ' MIBER A ARFASEENK
URBFILEES ((ZEES]) %
ZESHREBZEARERTER
B% ZHE BE BITEAHLEEZR
Hib B LR T A - 2023512 A31
A ZEEZSNEAMBERIARF D
BABEHEKAFENEBERE
B o 202453 8 » AEEE BREZE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBHRRME
21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21 BERFASEEY
As at 31 December
M12831H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBF T
Cash at bank and other financial TR IEIT R E b £ mikiE
institutions Eofihe 159,342 190,957
Cash on hand FHEIR® 305 19
Cash and cash equivalents HeMRESEEYD 159,647 190,976

Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following

currencies:

ReRBECEBYUANTEETHE

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR F T
Denominated in RMB RAREETE 126,282 99,628
Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE 33,365 91,348
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEED 159,647 190,976

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the balances of cash and
cash equivalents are subject to rules and regulations of foreign
exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

MN2024% 202351283180 - HE &
BeEEYEBBLETHBEBTEMD

SN B Bl AR Bl BOR AR

ZRMEEZERERAE

—BCMEFER
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mE KRR
22 SHARE CAPITAL 22
Equivalent
Number of nominal value of
ordinary shares ordinary share
ZEBRHN
ZEREE HEEE
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 5,000,000 324
Subdivision of shares (note (i) B& 3 29 (B2 0)) 245,000,000 —
As at 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 #2023 12A318 -
and 31 December 2024 2024F1A18 &
202412 A31H 250,000,000 324
Issued: BT
At 1 January 2024 202451 H1H 125,200,400 165
Cancellation of shares repurchased ST S BR[O AR 1 (AT 2 3i)
(note (ii) (3,498,600) (5)
Cancellation of restricted share unit BYH PR 6 B (0 B8 i 51 2
scheme (note 24(a)) (H15#24(a)) (1,000,000) (1
As at 31 December 2024 2024F12 H31H 120,701,800 159
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 2,004,008 130
Subdivision of shares (Note (i) B&1n o 3% (B () 98,196,392 —
Issue of shares pursuant to A Em 7RG
the Listing (note (1) ((HTaE0))) 25,000,000 35
As at 31 December 2023 R 2023F12 A31H 125,200,400 165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(0]

(i

On 4 April 2023, each issued and unissued shares of par value
of US$0.01 of the Company was subdivided into 50 shares of par
value of US$0.0002 each and, following subdivision, the
authorised share capital of the Company became US$50,000
divided into 250,000,000 shares at a par value of US$0.0002
each and the issued share capital shall be US$20,040 divided
into 100,200,400 shares of par value of US$0.0002 each.

During the period from July to December in 2023, the Company
repurchased 9,706,600 of its own ordinary shares through the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with an aggregate
consideration of HK$71,332,000 (equivalent to RMB65,061,000)
paid. During the year ended 31 December 2024, 3,498,600
repurchased shares of an aggregate amount of HK$21,630,000
(equivalent to RMB19,839,000) were cancelled upon repurchase
and were deducted from capital reserve.

During the period from September to October in 2024, the
Company repurchased 4,891,600 of its own ordinary shares
through the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with an
aggregate consideration of HK$48,017,000 (equivalent to
RMB43,579,000) paid.

The remaining 11,099,600 repurchased shares were not
cancelled and remained as treasury shares at the end of the
reporting year.

e M |RME

22 BRA (&)

Wi

(0]

(in

EHMEEEZERARAT

R20235F4 A48 - AR B HFKRE(E
001ETHEBTRABEITROS K
#5008 & AR T {E0.00023 T I AR 15
DWE ARBNEERNE R
50,0002 7T * % £250,000,000% & f%
[ fE0.0002E LB I {7 » RA R AEIE
BITRARB20,040F T - 2 5B
100,200,400 % % A% T {E.0.0002% 7T &Y
B dn o

R2023F7A =128 8if - KA A&
BESBHAXSMAR QA AEMD
9,706,600 H B & L@k REA
71,332,000t (HE R AR
65,061,0007T) ° EZ=2024%12 8318
IEFE - 24 %8 521,630,0005 7T (48
B AR19,839,0007T) 93,498,600
RERRGERBERZEE  WEB
BAREFE MR -

R2024%9 A E10A M * KA AFE B/
EEBARSZARAAERD
4,891,600k HE & L@ BREA
48,017,000 T (A E R AR
43,579,0007T) °

# 11,099,600 % i B B% 3 R # 5
e RBREFERDBEFR -
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RE M |RME

23 OTHER RESERVES

156

23 Hibf#EE

Capital Statutory
reserve reserve Total
BB EERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTRT AR%®Tn AR%Tx
At 1 January 2024 720241810 47,865 46,418 94,283
Cancellation of share repurchased & $&5E& @ A% D
(note 22(ii)) (At #2201)) 19,839 — 19,839
Cancellation of restricted unit BB 2 BR Bl B 0 BE L
scheme (note 24(a)) T8 (H75E24(3)) 1 — 1
Share repurchase (note 22(ii)) B& 0 B B (Bt 2322(11) (43,579) — (43,579)
Transfer to statutory reserves BB E L TE G — 6,094 6,094
At 31 December 2024 72024128318 24,126 52,512 76,638
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 818 111,359 40,635 151,994
Contribution from shareholder fEERFE 1,567 = 1,567
Share repurchase (note 22(ii) It B8 1Bl (1 7222(31)) (65,061) = (65,061)
Transfer to statutory reserves R ATE R = 5,783 5,783
At 31 December 2023 7A2023F12H31H 47,865 46,418 94,283
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23 OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies Laws of the PRC and the
stipulated provisions of the articles of association of
subsidiaries with limited liabilities in the PRC, appropriation of
net profits (after offsetting accumulated losses from prior
years) should be made by these companies to their respective
Statutory Surplus Reserve Funds and the Discretionary Reserve
Funds before distributions are made to the owners. The
percentage of appropriation to Statutory Surplus Reserve Fund
is 10%. The amount to be transferred to the Discretionary
Reserve Fund is determined by the equity owners of these
companies. When the balance of the Statutory Surplus Reserve
Fund reaches 50% of the registered capital, such transfer
needs not to be made. Both the Statutory Surplus Reserve
Fund and Discretionary Reserve Fund can be capitalised as
capital of an enterprise, provided that the remaining Statutory
Surplus Reserve Fund shall not be less than 25% of the
registered paid in capital.

Also, in accordance with the Law of the PRC on Enterprises
with Foreign Investments and the stipulated provisions of the
articles of association of wholly owned foreign subsidiaries in
the PRC, appropriation from net profits (after offsetting
accumulated losses brought forward from prior years) should
be made by these companies to their Respective Reserve
Fund. The percentage of net profit to be appropriated to the
Reserve Fund is not less than 10% of the net profit. When the
balance of the Reserve Fund reaches 50% of the registered
capital, such transfer needs are not made. With approvals
obtained from respective boards of directors of these
companies, the Reserve Fund can be used to offset
accumulated deficit or to increase capital.

23

e M |RME

H b 5 (&)

EERE
REBFERABERPENHNBEAERE(E
NEABERARIFRIGRX - RARSB
EFERABEENMAN  AHZER
AEITERTEBNEAERBRATRE R
EEREE  HETASETHEBA -
PTRTEETEBRGAEEZNADILS
10% - MAEELTBENERBEZETR
RIMEDAA ANRE - BEERBAE
T A5 B8 Z B RE & AN50%65 Bl 1 78 B
R EZEBBABENERATES A&
FERMER  HBREAERBRAESR
TROREHGEMEAE25% -

SN - RBEF BB RINGIRE B RADE
5] Ko R B S T E B I 2 R S A2 A A 15
MXHRTE - MRBEFELAENRER
BEOVER - BAZFAREITERTE
RIEE - PETRAEENEN B LT
PR10% - ERTBEERETZEMER
50% 1% B B AR - FRBRZRFAAE
BEFSNIER QBT AFERH
RETERIIEE -
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24 RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME AND
SHARE AWARD SCHEME

158

(@)

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

RSU scheme

The Company adopted a Restricted Share Unit Scheme
on 13 January 2022 (the “RSU Scheme”). On 18 January
2022, Mr. Sun, through a series of transactions, indirectly
transferred the entire issued share capital of Robert Sun
Holdings, which held 200 shares of the Company (the
“Underlying Shares”), to Kastle Limited (as the trustee),
for the execution of the RSU Scheme without
consideration. The Underlying Shares were subsequently
subdivided into 1,000,000 shares of par value of
USD0.0002 each after a series of subdivision,
representing approximately 1% of total issued shares of
the Company as at 31 December 2022.

According to the RSU Scheme, each restricted share unit
(“RSU") represents one Underlying Share, and represent a
conditional right granted to any selected person under
this scheme to obtain shares of the Company (i.e.
equity-settled scheme), less any tax, stamp duty and
other charges applicable, as determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion.

Pursuant to the RSU Scheme, the Underlying Shares were
within the Company’s control until the shares are vested
unconditionally to the participants and hence were
considered as treasury shares of the Company in
substance. On 31 March 2023, the Company had granted
all RSUs to Mr. Yang Hong, one of the directors of the
Company. The fair value of each RSU of HK$10.6 was
estimated by taking reference to the market price of the
Company’s shares on grant date under market approach.
The market price is less than the present value of
expected dividends as the grantee has no right to them.
The RSU Scheme are subject to a vesting scale in
tranches of 10% of the Underlying Shares respectively on
each anniversary dates of the grant date (i.e. 31 March
of each year from 2023 to 2033) provided that the
grantee has completed his services up to each of the
vesting schedule.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total of
1,000,000 shares are cancelled.

Annual Report 2024
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(@)

32 PR &l B 10 BB v 51 &
RAER2022F1B13ERAZ
B 1 i 10 B8 Az =t &Y ([ 52 PR il AR 10
BAFTEI]) o R2022%1 718
H BELEBB RIS M
# ¥ ZERobert Sun Holdings (35
AN R12008% A& 13 ([FB R R% 15 1))
2 B 17 RN E=Kastle Limited
(EAZFEAN)  UWBEEHTR
B 1l A% 0 B8 iz 51 &1 o 4B B AR 10 B
R —ZRINFHAEDFAR
1,000,000 % & % ™ 180.00023 7T
m A% 1D - #8 & 1K 2022F12 5318
RAREBEITRMOBEEA1% o

REBEZR S Iy BELFE S0
X PRl B fn BBz ([ 32 BRI B {0 B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME
24 RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME AND 24 ZMREIR MBS EIR G
SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) Bt &l (48
RSU scheme (Continued) (@ FREIRMEMTE (F)
The Details of the RSUs granted to Mr. Yang Hong are set R #5 4 o A 35 0 2 BR &l A% £ BE iz
forth in the following table. FER TR -
Number of share options
BREHA
exercise Granted Cancelled As at
Name or category price per As at during Options during 31
of participant Date of grant Vesting period share 1 January  the year  exercised  the year December
SHEENSR 2R ® BT £RE ®
5 5l R BEH BEY  TEESK 1818 FREH BRE 8% 12A31H
For the year ended 31 December 2024
B E2024F 12531 HIEF)E
Director
3
Mr. Yang Hong 31 March 2023 31 March 2023 to — 1,000,000 i — (1,000,000) =
31 March 2033
o) Sk 2023F3A31H 2023F3A31HE
2033%43H31H
For the year ended 31 December 2023
B2 2023F 12531 A IFFE
Mr. Yang Hong 31 March 2023 31 March 2023 to — — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
31 March 2033
oy ke 2023%3A31H 2023F3A31HZE
2033%3H31H
LHMEFERERAT —T-WFFHR 159
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24 RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT SCHEME AND 24 ZREIRMEMTEIRKRGE
SHARE AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED) Bt &l (&)

(b) Share award scheme (b) KBS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 26 June 2023, a
share award scheme was adopted (the “2023 Scheme”).

The Company operates the 2023 Scheme for the
purposes of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. The 2023 Scheme became effective on
26 June 2023 and, unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date. Under the 2023 Scheme, the Board are authorised,
at their absolute discretion, to invite any employees of
the Group and any persons who have contributed to the
Group in the past and/or are in the interests of the
long-term growth of the Group to participate at the
scheme. Pursuant to the 2023 Scheme, each award gives
the holder the right to subscribe for ordinary share in the
Company, which constitutes as a equity-settle scheme.

On 26 June 2023, the Company appointed a trustee to
assist with the administration for the scheme. As at
31 December 2024 and 2023, the vesting condition has
not yet declared by the Board and no share awards were

RIE R 202356 A26 BH 3@ B H) IR
A DR AR REE 2
([20235 5t 811) -

NN FEE20235E 18 Ty AK
TREEESBERREE - 2023F
=+ 2| R 2023FE6 A26 8 £ 3 B
EBTEUHEKIERT c TRIEHE
ZHHBE+FEZERRE
2023F 5138 EE T ERERE
BEHW ISR EAE BT AR
B -UERBEHAEEEF T
YRR AEERRERES
FEER AL EEFE - RIE
2023F 58 B RELTHEE
ARBARARERABMEF - H
BN A E -

M2023F6 8268 AR A B &
FE—BZTABBEBEAGE -
A20244F 202312 A31H » &
EEHASHREBERMGE  BIE

MR 1% 2023 4F 51 2 1% H £ AT fx 1p 28
B o 120234 202412 A 31

granted under the 2023 Scheme. 6,208,000 of treasury
shares are held by the trustee as at 31 December 2023

and 2024. H - %5 A H6,208,0000% = 17
H& o
25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 25 BESRHMEMNRE
As at 31 December
®W12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARFIT
Trade payables B 5 RN KIE 51,513 35,145
Other payables: H b I R8¢
— Accrued staff costs — EErE IR 84,223 65,652
— Accrual expenses — ERrAX 9,278 1,974
— Refund on pension return to customers — AEFREL SRR
(Note) (HtaE) — 9,466
— Reimbursement and refund payables — — J&{s R $5 308 M iR 5K 3,335 924
— Other tax payables — H M FIE 27,780 12,685
— Others — Hfth — 688
124,616 91,389
176,129 126,534
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25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 25 B R EHME[HIE (&)

The trade and other payables are denominated in RMB and the B RHEMmEMRENARKEE B
carrying amounts approximate their fair values. REEEEATERE

B S REMNZIEREZHHERNERE D
HEAR :

The ageing analysis of the trade payables by invoice date is as
follows:

As at 31 December

MA12H31H
\yZ 2023
024 £ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AR¥T T
Up to 90 days w=x90H 51,513 35,145

Note: Due to the impact of COVID-19, the Group was entitled to reduce

social security payments by the government for certain periods
during the year of 2020. The total payment, received from
customers related to marketers assignment service for settling
the social insurance obligation but subsequently reduced by the
government, was approximately RMB70,788,000. The Group had
refunded RMB22,773,000 to customers since the year of 2020
(the “Refund”), and, reversed the refundable amount of
RMB38,549,000 and RMB9,466,000 as other gain for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively because
management considered the limitation of action and legal
obligation on certain pension refund to customers was expired
(the “Reversal”). After the Refund and Reversal, the refundable
balance as at 31 December 2024 was nil (2023: RMB9,466,000).

Hfat - ZCOVID-192 & - AN&E B H #12020

FHETEHBEANEBRTRD X FHER
MR- BHEBEF NI EREEHEAS
KE R AEELREISERERER
FRENTRBEHAEARE
70,788,000t ° 7~ & B E B 20204 #8
mE PR E ARM22773,0007T ([E
BRIE]) - WEABEER AR AR
FRAREPRELETHERBRANERE
FESE®R Bt RE E2023F &
2024512 A31B IEFE B H Al AR E
HIE A R #38,549,0007T & A R #&
9,466,0007T # 1 H b U 75 ([ 5 = 3%
B  RIEBRBRERZEE  ©
20244128318 - Al RBEH AT
(20234 : AFR#9,466,0007T) °
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26 BORROWINGS

27

162

26 B

As at 31 December

B~ BE A

— RITER

Current, secured
— Bank borrowings

M12H31H
024 2023
024 £ 20234
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
64,148 55,000

Notes:

(@  The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings, which are all due
within one year, approximate their fair values. The bank
borrowings are denominated in RMB and the weighted average
interest rate was 3.37% (2023: 3.95%) per annum as at
31 December 2024.

(b) (i) The borrowings of RMB5,000,000 were guaranteed by

Corporate guarantee provided by a subsidiary of the

Company and a governmental guarantor specially set for

small and medium-sized enterprises as at 31 December

2024 and 2023.

(ii) The borrowings of approximately RMB59,148,000 (2023:
RMB50,000,000) were solely guaranteed by Corporate
guarantee provided by a subsidiary (2023: certain
subsidiaries) of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

(c) The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its
borrowings for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, a loan from Wuhan Youcheng
Information Technology Co., Ltd* (“Wuhan Youcheng”), a non-
controlling shareholder of a subsidiary, with principal amount
of RMB26,000,000 (2023: nil), is non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest bearing at 3.45% (2023: N/A) and repayable on
demand.

The remaining amount due to a non-controlling shareholder is
non-trade nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

* For identification purpose only
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mE KRR
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 MKREKRERE
Financial instruments by categories RERNBSHEMTA

As at 31 December
MW12A31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBFIT

Assets as per consolidated statement of #FEMBRRARFAREE
financial position

Financial assets at amortised cost REHKATENCREE
— Trade receivables — B S EWFEIE 202,335 177,714
— Deposits and other receivables — e kA M EUGRIE

(excluding prepayments) (T BREENRIE) 53,002 11,199
— Other financial assets at amortised — RESE AT E M EAM

cost TREE — 36,249
— Cash and cash equivalents — REeERREEED 159,647 190,976
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRAFEFAEMEERE

Mo EE

— Trade receivables — B S EWFEIE 127,108 98,632
Total E 542,092 514,770

Liabilities as per consolidated statement #R& BB R KM REE
of financial position

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHK AT EN SR BE
— Trade payables — B BN FIE 51,513 35,145
— Other payables excluding non-financial — £ b f& (< 318

liabilities (TEEFEemEan) 12,613 13,052
— Borrowings — fER 64,148 55,000
— Amounts due to non-controlling — BN EIEIR IR R R IE

shareholders 33,953 —
— Lease liabilities — HEBaRE 3,570 236
Total et 165,797 103,433
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CEPE S ELE:
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 BIBRERER (&)
(CONTINUED)
28.1 Financial risk factors 28.1 R EE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial AEENEBSHAGRZBSR

risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk and [B B2 - s E R (B INE E b K

cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. HeREMERR)  EERR X

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses mEE SRR AKEREER

on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to BERAESMEISRTISN

minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's AR FERI M - WROE B E AL R

financial performance. BHERENEETNEZERER

& o

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the EEETHEEASE MR

Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure % o AN ANEEMIBRENRE

and the current operations of the Group, no hedging A EME  EEENEETE

activity is undertaken by management. A S R EE) o

(@ Market risk (@ ™WHEE

(i) Foreign exchange risk () SMEE SR
The Group’s businesses are principally AEEMEBEEZU
conducted in RMB. As at 31 December 2024 AR 1T - 182024
and 2023, there was no significant non-RMB F K% 2023%12 A 31
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the Group H WEERFEAR
does not have any material foreign exchange BMEERBE -
risk exposure. I - AN £ B 3 4 T R
] ERIMNER R ©
(i) Cash flow interest rate risk (i) B mEFFERE

The Group's interest rate risk arises from N E /Y F) = & b R
cash at banks and bank borrowings. Bank BiIR1THEE RRITE
borrowings issued at variable rates expose Ko BFBFEE B
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk K ERITE R E AN EE
which is partially offset by the bank deposits. HERREREFER
As the repayment schedule of bank %+ ME A SR 1T 17 SKFT
borrowings are all within one vyear, the B o AR ERTT
potential risk result from interest rate A2
amendment is immaterial. The bank deposits B—FA - FEREET
generate interest at the prevailing market EENBERRIL T
interest rates. EANCRITHERIEES

ATIBFIEE A -
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
trade and other receivables, contract assets, cash
and cash equivalents and other financial assets at
amortised cost. The carrying amounts of above
items represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to financial assets.

(1) Cash and cash equivalents

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with cash deposits at
banks since they are substantially deposited
at state-owned banks and large-sized
listed banks whose credit rating are AAA
or AA+. Management does not expect
that there will be any significant losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group expects that there is no significant
credit risk associated with other financial
assets at amortised cost as the Group invests
in wealth management products with liquidity
and stable return. Management does not
expect that there will be any significant
losses from non-performance by these
counterparties.

e M |RME

28 BIERER (&)

28.1 Rk AR ()
b EERER
AEEREE 5 R AR
W ANEE ReRB
SEENRIEBHRA B
B E At B A E R S L
% - LA B MREEAR
SEERNECREERH
MEAEERRMKA -

() HEeRELFEY
7N &5 [ 78 HA 7 4% 64 9R
TRETFREBONE
AEERK  AAZ
BRORGEAEZERE
AAASEAA+H) KB
miR1T - & 1 JE 78 8

~EREEEF AN
EE NI A A==
B o

() BB ARG EAE
& & ZE
R ANEERERR
BEog  @EHIBE
BHMER NEEE
HA I 73 7E B 4% 4 5 X
A ENEMERE
ERBNEREEMR
- BEEEEHNTE
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

166

(b)

(1fi)

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies simplified approach
prescribed by HKFRS 9 to measuring ECL
which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and
contract assets are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and ageing period.
The contract assets relate to unbilled work in
progress and have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has
therefore concluded that the expected loss
rates for trade receivables are a reasonable
approximation of the loss rates for the
contract assets.

The Group divided trade receivables and
contract assets into two categories to
measure the ECL rates. Category 1 is for
customers who have a relatively low credit
risk and no default history. Category 2 is for
customers who have a relatively higher credit
risk. With different types of customers, the
Group calculated the ECL rates respectively.

For category 1, the Group considers that
these customers have a good credit profile
and no default history. Also, these customers
are financially capable of settling the
outstanding amount. The ECL for these
customers are assessed individually.

Annual Report 2024
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(1)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continuead)

For category 2, the ECL rates for the trade
receivables and contract assets are
determined according to a provision matrix
where balances that are mainly less than 12
months overdue are provided for at expected
credit loss rates per below.

The historical loss rates are also adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors (i.e.,
Gross Domestic Product and Consumer Price
Index) affecting the ability of the customers
to settle the receivables.

Based on the management assessment, the
provision for impairment of trade receivables
and contract assets is approximately
RMB4,123,000 and RMB3,174,000 as at
31 December 2024 and 2023, respectively.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at end of
each reporting period for trade receivables
and contract assets was determined as
follows.

e M |RME

28 BIERER (&)

28.1 AR EE (&)
b) EEEMRE)

(1)

ZRMEEZERERAE

ESERAERER
BE (&)
FLF2EME - BHE
BHREREHEEN
BEHREEBREIR
BREEEETE A
hEERHIONI12E
H A& 8RR T P 3
R TR RS B B 1R R
o

BERBE R ITETTH
B - URREBAZE
EP &R RKRERN
ENNZBRERE
(MBEALERERH
BEERER)NER
K BIREIEEFL o

EREREFMGE R
2024 F 2 2023F 12 A
1B/ E 5 e W FKIA
REeEHNEEREBEREE
DR K B AREK
4,123,0007C & A R &
3,174,0007C °

B Ut - 1R 4 R A
B 5 RN R R A 4
BERBRBIET
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REMBHRRME
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 BMIBERERE (E)
(CONTINUED)
28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 28.1 IR EE ()
(b) Credit risk (Continued) b)) FERRE)
(ii)  Trade receivables and contract assets (i) B ZEWRFIERE L
(continuea) B (&)
Category 1: Customers have a relatively low F—8  REBINEME
credit risk and no default history based on EFH BEFEEER
the external credit rating % ME B B M2
HI R0 BE
The provision for impairment of Category 1 20244 } 2023412
trade receivables and contract assets as at A318 @ k@ H &l
31 December 2024 and 2023 by past due date DHE—BEHER
was determined as follows: REREHNEERE
BEBEENT :
As at 31 December 2024 Total
#2024%F12831H8 Aaa Aa A Baa Ba @ct
Gross carrying amount FRBE
(RMB'000) (ARETFT) 2,117 166,336 224,699 38,382 14,758 446,292
ECL rates BHEEEEE 0.02% 0.03% 0.05% 0.17% 0.60%
Loss allowance (RMB'000)  &#E# /&
(ARBFT) —* (44) (104) (65) (87) (300)
Net carrying amount REFE
(RMB'000) (ARETFT) | 2117 166292 224,595 38,317 14,671 445,992
As at 31 December 2023 Total
R2023F128318 Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B
Gross carrying amount A&
(RMB'000) (ARETT) 1,128 139,556 206,295 59,384 133 406,496
ECL rates BHEEBRX 0.02% 0.03% 0.04% 0.07% 0.75%
Loss allowance (RMB'000) i8R (&
(ARETF ) —* (41) (76) (44) (1) (162)
Net carrying amount REFE
(RMB'000) (AREBFT) 1128 139,515 206,219 59,340 132 406,334
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Less than RMB1,000.
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et L
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 BIKERERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 28.1 TR EZE (E)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) b)) EERK(E)
(i) Trade receivables and contract assets (i) B ZEHFEREL
(Continuea) B (&)
Category 2: Customers have a relatively FHE: EBEFPEFER
higher credit risk BAEERS
The provision for impairment of Category 2 R 20244F K 2023412
trade receivables and contract assets as at A318 - #&@ A H &
31 December 2024 and 2023 by past due date PHE_BESER
was determined as follows: REREHNEERE
BEBEEWT :
Up to 31 to 61 to 91 to 121 to 151 to Over
As at 31 December 2024 Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 150 days 180 days 180 days
91Z  121Z  151%  180R
M2024512A31H BE 30ALA 31ZF60H 61ZF90H 120H 150 A 180 H HE

Gross carrying amount BRI 488

(RMB'000) (AREF L) 81,251 1,735 848 301 91 12 — 189 84,427
ECL rates BHEEBEE 4.09% 7.55%  11.07%  17.82%  24.58%  66.11% 100.00% 100.00%

Loss allowance EERE

(RMB'000) (AR®ET ) (3,325) (131) (94) (54) (22) ®) — (189)  (3,823)

Net carrying amount  BREF(E

(RMB'000) (AREFT) 77,926 1,604 754 247 69 4 — — 80,604
Up to 31to 6110 91 to 121 t0 157 to Over

As at 31 December 2023 Current 30 days 60 days 90 days 120 days 150 days 180 days 180 days Total
91z 1212 1512 180H

R2023%12A31A BN 30BLAA  31E60H 61ZE90H 1208 150 A 180H JAE @t

Gross carrying amount BRI 488

(RMB'000) (ARETFTT) 19,030 10,108 5,556 2,429 " 13 38 281 37,466
ECL rates EHREEEHEX 6.33% 6.34% 9.58% 12.43% 27.27% 76.92%  100.00%  100.00%
Loss allowance BERE

(RMB'000) (ANREF L) (1,205) (641) (532) (302) @3) (10) (38) (281) (3,012

Net carrying amount  BREF(E
(RMB'000) (AREFT) 17,825 9,467 5,024 2,127 8 3 = = 34,454
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

170

(iv)

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Other receivables at amortised cost

Other receivables at amortised cost mainly
represents other receivables and deposits in
well-known companies. The Group uses the
ECL model to determine the ECL provision for
other receivables. Management considers that
its credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and
current financial position. All other
receivables are performing and credit risk is
in line with original expectations. Thus, the
Group used the 12m ECL model to assess
credit loss of other receivables.
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

(lv)  Other receivables at amortised cost
(Continuead)
The loss allowance provision for trade
receivables, contract assets and other
receivables as at 31 December 2024 and

28

e M |RME

MBREREE (&)

28.1 Bt % E B2 B & ()

(b)

FER K (8)

() B A = E
b JE YL 5 R (48 )
PR 20244 % 20234F 12

A318 - B 5 E KK
H ANBEEREM

2023 reconciles to the opening loss e GRIA R B IE B
allowance for that provision as follows: 7 B R YR 18
BEEROT
Trade Contract Other
receivables assets  receivables Total
EZEW H fih FE it
;B EHEE MIE Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TrR AR®TR AR%Tx
As at 1 January 2024 ®2024%F181A 1,911 1,263 92 3,266
Impairment losses (reversal of & @& Rl EE 12
impairment losses) on CREEERR)
financial assets (125) 1,074 1,327 2,276
As at 31 December 2024 R2024%12H31H 1,786 2,337 1,419 5,542
As at 1 January 2023 72023F1818 1,186 1,567 141 2,894
Impairment losses (reversal of & @& EREEIE
impairment losses) on (REEERR)
financial assets 725 (304) (49) 372
As at 31 December 2023 ®2023F12A31H 1,911 1,263 92 3,266
(0 wBELER

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to
meet its obligations when they fall due, resulting
from amount and maturity mismatches of assets
and liabilities.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents
and the availability of funding. Due to the nature of
the underlying businesses, the Group's
management responsible for treasury function aims
to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping
sufficient cash and committed banking facilities
available.

ZRMEEZERERAE

MENE SRR S SEEREE
ENIREENRR  BE
ENlAENSREF AR
PTE

EENRBECRAREER
KEEFAENRS MRS
FEYMURATRES - AR
HEEXRBHEEER A&
EEa RV BBENERE D
SGRBRFRE N AHRS
RAFEBRITHRERRTES
R BEE -
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REMBHRRME
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 MBRERERE (&)
(CONTINUED)
28.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 28.1 IR EE ()
(¢) Liquidity risk (Continued) (0 RBEZRM (H)
The table below analyses the financial liabilities of TRAGRE AR K B B

the Group into relevant maturity groupings based EEAEAMFISREEA
on the remaining period at the date of the At BAEENcREE
consolidated statement of financial position to the g5 BIEEEEE R - KA
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in BENEBERELKRIERR

the table are the contractual undiscounted cash ERE °

172

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

flows.
Within
1 year or
repayable 1to 2 to Over
on demand 2 year 3 year 3 year Total
1R
REREE 122F 223F 3EN L Bt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE AR¥TR AR¥TRE AR®TR AR%¥TrR
Financial liabilities cREE
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F128318
Trade and other payables 2 5 R E AR R IE
(excluding non-financial (TBREFEHEARE)

liabilities) 64,126 — — — 64,126
Bank borrowings and interest  SR1TEF R A & 3K
payments 64,869 — — — 64,869
Lease liabilities (including HEEE(REFE
interest payments) OE:9) 2,268 806 837 — 3,911
Amounts due to non-controlling & 2 Sz i i R 2008
shareholders 33,953 — — — 33,953
165,216 806 837 — 166,859
As at 31 December 2023 R2023%12A831H
Trade and other payables 2 5 Rk E A& HIE
(excluding non-financial (TREEEREE)
ligbilities) 48,197 — — — 48,197
Bank borrowings and interest  $RITE R RFI B R
payments 55,504 — - — 55,504
Lease liabilities (including HEARE (BREFE
interest payments) 30 236 5 = = 241
103,937 5 — — 103,942
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BRRER (&)
282 EREERE

28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28
(CONTINUED)

28.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group uses
equity to finance its operations. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group
monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital.
Net debt is calculated as total borrowings, lease liabilities
and amounts due to non-controlling shareholders less
cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at
amortised cost. Total capital is calculated as “total
equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group's strategy is to maintain a gearing ratio at a
minimal level. The gearing ratio at 31 December 2024
and 2023 were as follows:

AEBENEAERBBEIRER
FEEENR N ARRREH
(0] 7 Ko 4% E 4 ) 25 46 BE & 5 SR A
i WHERHHEEARRBIARD
BE A - AN EF A R
HEBLEMBES - RiEFL
HAEEARE  AKEAARIK
NFRRERNREEE REEDN
THRR BONRODIHEERE
PR &5

HENEMRA K NEEF
REERBLREREAN I
R IAE TS F B A B AN BB AT
H-EBFENER HEAE
Ko FEAS > Bz i s 3R R TR AR R
EFRE MRS FEY A RILEH
RAFENEREENE - BEX
AR AR B B ISR LR R TIR By
[ AR AtE -

AEBNRKBABEEABLLE
#EFFIE KK TE - R2024F &
20235 12 AN B BERBH R
N

As at 31 December

MW12A31H

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

[z AR®T T ARBF T

Borrowings B 26 64,148 55,000

Lease liabilities HEAE 15 3,570 236
Amounts due to non-controlling &< 4> 242 B A% 5 z0 18

shareholders 27 33,953 —

Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : IR& MBS EEY 21 (159,647) (190,976)
Less: Other financial assets at W R AETE R

amortised cost Hih SR EE 20 — (36,249)

Net debt ER e (57,976) (171,989)

Total equity ey e 479,665 508,182

Gearing ratio EESMELX N/ATIE H N/AZiE A
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GAMBERNEE
28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 28 BMIBERERE (E)
(CONTINUED)
28.3 Fair value estimation 28.3 A FEMEET
(@ Fair value hierarchy @ 2DFEEH

The Group analyses its financial instruments’ fair REBERARTERTED

value by level of the inputs to valuation techniques HEFEMARASENE

used to measure fair value. Such inputs are & MESBMTANAT
categorised into three levels within a fair value B ZZBABEEAUT
hierarchy as follows: ATFEEEAN=EREAR

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets . HEREEXABEE
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). BRT5 ERRE (R

AR (E—H) -

. Inputs other than quoted prices included . A7 FE 4 A ZE — B 3R
within level 1 that are observable for the & W EHE (AEAR
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as B kFHE BUREB
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from B BN EENE
prices) (level 2). BEREASE(E =

;) o

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not . W IE KR A LR T 5
based on observable market data (that is, HEMEENBED
unobservable inputs) (level 3). 8 A B (B H AT #R R

BABIE)(E=/4) -

The financial department of the Group performs the NEEM KIS B EHRE
valuation of level 3 financial instruments for MEE =R T EETH
financial reporting purposes and manages the BXARREEERSRT
valuation exercise of the financial instruments on a BEWHELIE - BBHpEL
case by case basis. At least once a year, the BE-—RERGEREETE
financial department uses valuation techniques to AEBEE=REMTANR
determine the fair value of level 3 financial F{E - RERARRH SR
instruments and reports to senior management and EEENESER-

the directors of the Company.

The following table presents the Group's assets that TREHNAEEZ A FE
are measured at fair value. EMEE o
Level 3
E=H
RMB’000
ARET T
As at 31 December 2024 12024%12H831H
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BAFEFAEMEmKEA
trade receivables TREE  BE5ERWIE 127,108
As at 31 December 2023 7202312831 H
Financial assets at FVTOCI: BAFEFAEMERKEL
trade receivables CHEE : B5EWKIE 98,632
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28 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(b)

28 MBZERER(F|)

28.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 28.3 A F{EMGE (&)
Fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (b) EATATEERABBEST
WAEETE
Quantitative information about fair value EIE T A B SR ) A B 15
measurements using unobservable inputs THIA-FlEFIEF R EE
BH
(i)  FvTOCI () BLOFEFAEME
T Yz
As at 31 December
W12A31H
Relationship of
unobservable
Valuation Unobservable inputs to fair
Description 2024 2023 technique input value
TABE TABEZRAZE
A 20245 2023F fHEAL BWAHE BAFENERE
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARET T
Fair value 127,108 98,632
AFE
Range of unobservable 3.1%-3.45% | 3.24%3.69% Discounted Discount rate  The higher the
input cash flow discount
rate, the
lower the fair
value.
AU BRGYAHEEHE BERERE WEE BREES A
TEBE -
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, a change 20244 2023512

in discount rate per annum by 100 basis
points will result in a change in fair value by
approximately RMB1,271,000 and RMB986,000

respectively.

ZRMEEZERERAE

HA318 ' B4R K
FH100AES KT E
AT EEE D FL
A AR #1,271,0007C
N A R #986,0007T °
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS
(@)

activities

29

Cash (used in) generated from operating

FEBRTRERME

(@)

ReEH(FRA)ABRE

Year ended 31 December

BZE128318LLEE

2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETTT
Cash flows from operating RETHFBRERE
activities
Profit before income tax B BT 15 %4 Al & A1 21,752 19,008
Adjustments for: AT SEEDFE -
Interest income FEWA (3,505) (4,920)
Finance costs B 75 K 2R 3,811 3,360
Gain on redemption of other BB [ S AT 2 R H A
financial assets at amortised cost % @& & B Uk 25 (302) —
Loss on disposal of assets HEEEREE 1 4
Amortisation and depreciation BT E 2,856 3,135
Shares of results from associates — FE{h 5 ‘& A B ¥ 45 (119) (72)
Reversal of payables on pension mMEFREMLSRERMNER
return to customers IR (9,466) (38,549)
Net foreign exchange gain SN UK 55 F R (3,266) (7,069)
Impairment losses on trade B RWHIA aHEER
receivables, contract assets and H A & W SR IR R (E B 1R
other receivables, net AR 2,276 372
14,038 (24,731)
Changes in working capital: EEESH#E:
(Increase) decrease in trade B 5 ME YRR (35 00) 5
receivables (54,019) 66,539
(Increase) decrease in deposits, e HiEWREIE R
other receivables and T FRIE (38 00) 8
prepayments (86,101) 923
(Increase) decrease in contract BHREE M) R
assets (33,785) 26,486
Decrease (increase) in contract A R AR A (32 0)
costs 959 (501)
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 I H Ath & (< R I8 18 0
other payables OB 59,061 (40,418)
Increase in contract liabilities AR B EIE N 31,381 401
Net cash (used in) generated from &% (FTH) FiER&
operations HEE (68,466) 28,699
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial liabilities reconciliation

29

Liabilities from financing activities

FERTREBRME (E)
(b) TEEEHEK

BRETHELNER
Amounts due to
non-controlling
Borrowings Lease liabilities shareholders Total
A DBz
B HESE B RMIE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
As at 1 January 2024 R202451 818 (55,000) (236) - (55,236)
Cash flows ReEME
— Proceeds from bank — RITERFBRE
borrowings (123,198) - - (123,198)
— Repayment to bank — BERTER
borrowings 114,050 — — 114,050
— Advance from non-controlling — 2 SRR 2 3%
shareholders — — (76,453) (76,453)
— Repayment to non-controlling — A &AM R
shareholders B — — 42,500 42,500
— Interest paid — EFFE 1,678 — 496 2,174
— Other cash flows — HEMRERE — 2,510 — 2,510
Non-cash movement : R 2 :
— Additions of right-of-use — MEEAERE
assets — (5,254) - (5,254)
— Interest expenses — MERX (1,678) (590) (496) (2,764)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024512A8318 (64,148) (3,570) (33,953) (101,671)
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NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 29
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial liabilities reconciliation (Continued)

Liabilities from financing activities

RERERERME (F)
(b) TEEEHR(E)

REEDEENER
Amounts due
to related Dividend
Borrowings  Lease liabilities parties payables Total
JET
a3 HEBE  HHAINE RS B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETn ARETT ARETR
As at 1 January 2023 20231818 (61,273) (2,374) (1,447) = (65,094)
Cash flows Reme
— Proceeds from bank — RITEHAETE
borrowings (85,000) = = = (85,000)
— Repayment of bank — BRRITER
borrowings 91,273 = = = 91,273
— Dividend distribution — REDIK = = = 4,589 4,589
— Advance from a shareholder — AR RIREEH
of the Company — — 1,447 — 1,447
— Interest paid — BEfFIE 2,003 = = = 2,003
— Other cash flows — HReRE = 2,648 = = 2,648
Non-cash movement : FRe %
— Additions of right-of-use — EGRAEEAE
assets — (445) — — (445)
— Declaration of dividend — EERE — — — (4.589) (4,589)
— Interest expenses — FHERE (2,003) (65) = = (2,068)
As at 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31R (55,000) (236) — = (55,236)
(c) Non-cash transactions c ¥EBEEXRS

The cost of leased properties of approximately
RMB5,254,000 and RMB445,000 (Note 15) were
capitalised as the right-of-use assets during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively.
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30 PARTICULAR OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

30 FENBAEIFHE
RN E) = BHE R AR 2024 F K 20234
12A3TBREFRBWOT :

Equity interest held (%)

Fris R (%)
Place, date of incorporation/
establishment and nature of Principal activities and place of Registered/ As at
Name of subsidiary legal entity operations issued capital 31 December
EMAL/RIGE - B i/
WEARER NRERERKE TEXBREERY BRTRA M12A318
2024 2023
2024% EEIVRES
Plus (HK) Digital Technologies Limited The PRC (Hong Kong), Investment holding in Hong Kong ~ HKD10,000 100% 100%
05 November 2021, limited
liability company
LED (BB U TRRERAT hE (F%) REBETREER 10,0007
202111 A58 AR
RfEDH
Shanghai Channel Plus Technologies Co., Ltd.**  The PRC, 30 November 2021, Investment holding in Shanghai USD1,000,000 100% 100%
limited liability company
LEmEENRBRAR: R 201ENANE AR R EEETRAER 1,000,000% 7
EfEAR
Plus (Shanghai) Digital Technologies Co., Ltd.*  The PRC, 06 August 2004, Providing digitalised commerce RMB62,178,000 100% 100%
limited liability company integrated solution services in
mainland China
LM (L8 BFRBARAR HE 200458768 BR ReBERRERF ARG RA  ARE62,178,0007T
AERA HERB
Shanghai Winning Idea Marketing Solution The PRC, 25 June 2004, limited  Providing digitalised commerce RMB20,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* liability company integrated solution services in
mainland China
tEmETSEEREERAF HE 2004568250 AR RPEAMREATABGAER  ARS20,000,0007T
REAR HERB
Shanghai Harvest Marketing Solution Services ~ The PRC, 10 June 2009, Providing digitalised commerce RMBB,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company integrated solution services in
mainland China
LEBRTSEHRABRAA E 00956410 AR RPEAMREATCEBGBR  ARES000,0007T
LN LESU
Shanghai Mecool Marketing Services The PRC, 18 July 2012, Providing digitalised commerce RMB12,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company integrated solution services in
mainland China
FEREEEREERAR BE 2012478188 AR RPEAMREATCABEBER  ARK12000,0007T
AERA HERB
Shanghai Retail Winner* The PRC, 01 April 2017, System developments in mainland ~ RMB2,000,000 100% 100%
limited liability company China
REBRAN B 201754818 - BR R B R (T R R & AK#2,000,0007
EfEAR
Shanghai Mecool Business Consulting The PRC, 29 June 2015, Providing digitalised commerce RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company integrated solution services in
mainland China
FEREEREAERAR HE 01556890 AR RPEAMREATICABEAER  ARH10,000,0007T
AERA HERB
Shanghai Chengzhi Information Technology The PRC, 06 August 2020, Providing digitalised commerce RMBS,000,000 100% 100%
Co, Ltd.* limited liability company integrated solution services in
mainland China
LEEZEERMRERAT HE - 202058768 BR ROBERRERFEREAEA  ARREKS50000007T
REAR HER%
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PARTICULAR OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows: (Continued)

30 EEHMBE R BFE (&)

12A31EHMFHBOT : (&)

AN E E Z K A AP 2024 5 K 20234

Equity interest held (%)

Fris IR (%)
Place, date of incorporation/
establishment and nature of Principal activities and place of Registered/ As at
Name of subsidiary legal entity operations issued capital 31 December
EMAYL/RIGE B T/
WEAEER NREEERME TEERREE LY BRTRE R12A318
2024 2023
20245 PIVAE
Shanghai Suditong Information Technology The PRC, 23 November 2023, Providing digitalised commerce RMB10,000,000 60% 60%
Co., Ltd.* limited liability company integrated solution service in
mainland China
EERaBESREARAR R 203F1MABA AR RPERBRESTERGARA  ARE10,000,0007T
BEAR LELIT
Shanghai Speedeer Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC, 23 November 2023, Providing digitalised commerce RMB10,000,000 60% 60%
limited liability company. integrated solution service in
mainland China
PERLERREBRAR R 203F1MABAER RPERBRESTERGARA  ARE10,000,0007T
REAR LESU
Pilot (Shangrao) Digital Technologies Co., Ltd. The PRC, 29 November 2024,  Providing digitalised commerce RMB10,000,000 60% =
limited liability company. integrated solution service in
mainland China
LR (LB HTRRBRAR R 2024E1MAVE BR RPERSRESTERGARA  ARE10000,0007T
REAR LEY
Pilot (Shanghai) Digital Technologies Co., Ltd.*  The PRC, 16 October 2024, Providing digitalised commerce RMB10,000,000 60% —
limited liability company. integrated solution service in
mainland China
L (LB HFRREBRAR B 2024107168 - AR RPERSRESTERGARA  ARE10,000,0007T
REAR LES T
Pilot (Henan) Digital Technologies Co., Ltd.* The PRC, 23 October 2024, Providing digitalised commerce RMB10,000,000 60% —
limited liability company. integrated solution service in
mainland China
LR (nE) BFRBRARAT ME204F10ABE AR  RPERMREAFCABEER  ARS10,000,0007T
REAR LES T
& For identification purpose only L EXEE Al
# Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises under PRC law. # BRIBEFEERFMAIIEBERZE -

PLUS GROUP HOLDINGS INC.

Annual Report 2024



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M |RME

31 THE COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND EQUITY MOVEMENT

The Company’s statement of financial position

(@)

is as follows:

31 iﬁ B AR R R S E

(@)

7l
7% 2 B BHS R SR % 20 T B
N~ .

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARET T ARBFIT
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R B AR MIEE 298,782 298,782
Current asset RBEE
Prepayments DB 307 1,598
Amounts due from subsidiaries & ULt B A B HY TKIB 83,228 34,856
Other Financial assets at RS AN FT 2R A
amortised cost SREE — 36,249
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 28,857 87,655
112,392 160,358
Total assets EEHAE 411,174 459,140
EQUITY =
Share capital A&7 22 159 165
Share premium f& 1D & B 193,755 213,645
Other reserves H b 211,549 235,288
Accumulated loss 2EtEE (30,083) (25,884)
Total equity BB 375,380 423,214
LIABILITIES a8f&
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary JE 5B B A B B9 FRIE
(note) (H7E) 35,734 35,734
Other payables b fE S 30IE 60 192
Total liabilities BEHAE 35,794 35,926
Total equity and liabilities ke EEEE 411,174 459,140

Note: As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, amount due to a
subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

Sun Guangjun
BREE
Director
EZE

ZRMEEZERERAE

HiaE - 120244 % 2023128318 -
FETH B A R RUE A E KR

%8 BAmERER -

Yang Hong

Director
EF

—BCMEFER
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RE M |RME

31 THE COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31 ZAQRMBRRAEREREE

POSITION AND EQUITY MOVEMENT = (&)
(b) EATRESS :

(CONTINUED)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company:

182
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Other Accumulated
reserves loss Total
Hib# s Z:HEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR® Tt AR T
Balance at 1 January 2024 20241818
o 235,288 (25,884) 209,404

Loss for the year FAEE — (4,199) (4,199)
Cancellation of shares T 5 B [0 A% (D

repurchased (note 22(if)) (H1:£22(1) 19,839 — 19,839
Cancellation of restricted BUH 52 Rl i (0 8 AL

share unit scheme FTE| (it i24(a)

(note 24(a)) 1 — 1
Share repurchase f& 15 B& = (B 22201))

(note 22(ii)) (43,579) — (43,579)
Balance at 31 December 2024F12831BHW

2024 £=3-2 211,549 (30,083) 181,466
Balance at 1 January 2023 R2023F1H1HH

o 298,782 (22,306) 276,476

Loss for the year FAEE — (3,578) (3,578)
Contribution from BEEE

shareholder 1,567 — 1,567
Share repurchase B& 1 BB (B E22(11)

(note 22(ii)) (65,061) — (65,061)
Balance at 31 December R2023F12H31H W

2023 EER 235,288 (25,884) 209,404
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FEMBHRRME
32 RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 32 BHMEBERIRS
TRANSACTIONS
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRarE S mR At ERTHEEE S
statements, the Group has the following transactions and AEBHMEATEHBHRBEETNRZ S
balances with related and connected parties. N #ER o
(@) Transactions with related and connected @ HEBEBEINXRS
parties
Year ended 31 December
HZ12831HILEE
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARBF T
Interest income received from KA THIALTHFE KA
— Mr. Sun — REE — 107

Interest expenses to non-controlling a1 Ff B A &) &) > # 2 A A% R
shareholder of a subsidiary SR E A
— Wuhan Youcheng — HREBH 496 =

Revenue from a non-controlling RE W B R R A D EEERR

shareholder of a subsidiary R B A
— Shanghai Esmartwave — EBREREERER D
Information Technology Co., BRAR ([ EEREZ])
Ltd (“Shanghai Esmartwave”) 2,315 =

SZHMEEZERERAT —T-WFEFHR 183
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RE M |RME

32 RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Balances with connected parties

Particulars of balances with connected parties are as
follows:

32 BMEEELIRS (&)
(b)

Amounts due to non-controlling BN BEZERRRAIEA
shareholders

EERRE T W KR ER
HEE T M EHRFBIT

As at 31 December
®12A31H
2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREEFTT

— Shanghai Esmartwave — EBRE 7,953 —
— Wuhan Youcheng — REFH 26,000 —
33,953 —

* For identification purpose only

(c) Key management compensation
The directors consider the key management personnel to
be the members of the Board of Directors of the
Company who have responsibilities for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group. Their
compensations are disclosed in Note 9(a).
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